
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Steve Culliford
Tel: 01235 422522
E-mail: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 7 June 2017
Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE
Cabinet

WILL BE HELD ON THURSDAY 15 JUNE 2017 AT 6.00 PM
MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, 
OX14 4SB

Members of the Cabinet
Member Portfolio
John Cotton (Chairman) Leader of the Council and Cabinet member for corporate 

strategy, communications and strategic policy (including 
the local plan)

Felix Bloomfield Cabinet member for development management and 
building control

Elizabeth Gillespie Cabinet member for community safety, legal, democratic 
services, electoral services, licensing and grants

Tony Harbour Cabinet member for technical services (including 
environmental health, grounds maintenance, waste, car 
parking, facilities and engineering services)

Lynn Lloyd Cabinet member for leisure services, arts and housing
Jane Murphy Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet member for 

finance
David Nimmo-Smith Cabinet member for the Five Councils' Partnership and 

corporate services contracts, IT and HR
Robert Simister Cabinet member for development and regeneration 

including property, economic development, Didcot 
Garden Town and Berinsfield

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read.  For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC PRESENT

Reports considered with the public present are available on the council’s website.

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence.  

2 Minutes  (Pages 5 - 12)

To adopt and sign as correct records the minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 
10 March and 6 April 2017.  

3 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.  

4 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

5 Public participation  

To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.  

CABINET DECISIONS

6 Waste collection policy  (Pages 13 - 46)

To consider the head of corporate strategy’s report.  

7 Flexible homelessness support grant  (Pages 47 - 50)

To consider the report of the interim head of development, regeneration and 
housing.  

8 Sewage treatment works in Moulsford  (Pages 51 - 58)

To consider the report of the head of HR, IT and technical services.  

9 Article 4 direction, East Hagbourne  (Pages 59 - 74)

To consider the head of planning’s report.  



3

10 Statement of community involvement  (Pages 75 - 164)

To consider the head of planning’s report.  

11 Science Vale and Enterprise Zone marketing plan  (Pages 165 - 
190)

To consider the report of the interim head of development, regeneration and 
housing.  

12 Exclusion of the Public  

To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting 
for the following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 

1 to 7 Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and 
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.  

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC EXCLUDED

The council hereby gives notice that it intends to hold part of this Cabinet meeting in 
private to consider the following items for the reasons set out in the ‘exclusion of the 
public’ item above.  These reports are not available on the council’s website.

13 Engineering services  (Pages 191 - 194)

To consider the report of the head of HR, IT and technical services.  

14 Corporate services  (Page 195) 

To consider the report of the head of HR, IT and technical services.  

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Cabinet

HELD ON FRIDAY 10 MARCH 2017 AT 5.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:
John Cotton (Chairman), Anna Badcock, Elizabeth Gillespie, Tony Harbour, Lynn 
Lloyd, Jane Murphy and Robert Simister

Officers:
Pat Connell, Steven Corrigan, Steve Culliford, David Hill, Alice Lynch, and Mark 
Stone

Also present: 
Robin Rogers (Oxfordshire County Council) 

86 Apologies for absence 

Councillor Will Hall had sent his apologies for absence.  

87 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None

88 Chairman's announcements 

None

89 Public participation 

Two members of the public had registered to speak at the meeting.  

(1) Mr Phil Davies addressed Cabinet on the Didcot Garden Town proposals.  Over 
700 negative comments and a petition containing over 2000 signatures 
opposed the proposed location of a technology campus on green space at 
Ladygrove in Didcot.  Mr Davies asked Cabinet to instruct the council’s officers 
to stop the proposal to build on this park and to find another location.  He 
believed that there were some good elements in the Garden Town proposals 
but the proposal to build on open space at Ladygrove was not one of them.  
There were other more suitable vacant locations nearby, some already owned 
by the council.  He urged Cabinet to remove the technology campus from the 
Ladygrove open space before commencing the public consultation on 22 

Page 5



March.  Rather than being the sacrifice, Ladygrove Park could become the 
centrepiece of the Garden Town proposals.  

(2) Mr Simon Hewerdine withdrew his request to address Cabinet.  

The chairman thanked Mr Davies and Mr Hewerdine.  Cabinet noted the comments 
made.   

90 Unitary authority proposals for Oxfordshire 

Cabinet considered the report of the chief executive on proposals for the future 
organisation of local government in Oxfordshire.  The report updated Cabinet on the 
joint statement by the leaders of Vale of White Horse and South Oxfordshire district 
councils and Oxfordshire County Council relating to the One Oxfordshire 
engagement proposals and on the current position on negotiations regarding the One 
Oxfordshire discussion document.  

Cabinet noted that since the publication of the One Oxfordshire proposal, the leaders 
and chief executive of the Vale and South Oxfordshire had entered into dialogue with 
the leader of Oxfordshire County Council to improve the One Oxfordshire proposal 
and to promote the ‘A New Council for a Better Oxfordshire’ proposal.  The Better 
Oxfordshire proposal, based on feedback from the public engagement, included 
executive area boards for decision making at a more local level and bespoke 
arrangements for Oxford city area.  The proposal for executive area boards included: 

 Localised decision making and budgets 
 A membership of unitary councillors with voting powers, together with non-

voting parish/town council representatives  
 The number of executive area boards would be determined by the further work 

of a new joint committee 
 The executive area boards would be formal committees of the unitary council 

with significant devolved powers, decision making and resources, the detail to 
be developed by the joint committee 

 Local engagement on unitary-wide matters such as consultees on the budget 
and formulation of policy 

 Creation of dedicated ‘area’ plans to target resources and direct activity 
The Better Oxfordshire proposal also included five local planning committees and a 
strategic planning committee.  

The Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meetings on 2 and 9 March 2017 
and made the following recommendations to:  

1. ask Cabinet and Council to note a number of concerns raised on matters of 
detail; and

2. support the proposal for the future organisation of local government in 
Oxfordshire as set out in the chief executive's report to Cabinet and the “New 
Council for a Better Oxfordshire” proposal.

Cabinet welcomed Scrutiny Committee’s input.  

Three documents were tabled at the meeting to provide clarification on the proposal:
1. A vision of a governance structure for the new unitary authority;   
2. An indicative model showing projected council tax levels in Oxfordshire; and 
3. A comparison of the Better Oxfordshire proposals with those of the original 

One Oxfordshire proposals and the governance of Wiltshire and Cornwall.  

Page 6



Cabinet noted that the council tax modelling was based on figures published in the 
Oxfordshire districts’ and county council’s medium term financial plans, and assumed 
council tax increases across these councils in the lead up to the new unitary council 
being established.  The figures also assumed that there would be a new council for 
the city of Oxford, setting a precept of £150 in a new town council role.  The model 
showed that it would be possible to achieve levels of council tax no higher than would 
be expected under the current two-tier principal council system in Oxfordshire.  

The report set out the options open to the council.  In 2016 the council had 
considered a three or four unitary council option.  However, this was no longer 
considered to be the preferred option as:

 There was an indication that this would not be financially viable and was likely 
to be rejected by the government 

 There were indications from government departments that they would not 
endorse strategic safeguarding services being provided on a smaller scale 

 There was no longer consensus from Oxfordshire districts over the scope of 
such unitary authorities, a combined authority, and the potential of a directly 
elected mayor 

 There were strong indications from the Local Government Association that 
devolution in its previous funded form was not a realistic prospect

 The Secretary of State had indicated a unitary council population size of 
between 300,000 and 800,000 would be acceptable; Oxfordshire fell within 
this range.  

Cabinet noted that the Better Oxfordshire proposal involved some decision-making at 
a more local level with area planning boards and area executive boards.  Some 
concern was expressed at the short time it had taken to develop the Better 
Oxfordshire proposal and that more time should be given to work out the detailed 
proposals.  However, the details of how this would work would be developed by a 
joint committee; all principal councils in Oxfordshire would be invited to take part in 
the joint committee.  

Cabinet was convinced that the council should work with the County Council and 
other district councils to form a single unitary council, a better council for Oxfordshire.  
This would provide a more efficient form of local government for Oxfordshire's future.  
The Better Oxfordshire bid had improved significantly on the county council's One 
Oxfordshire proposal.  The Vale of White Horse District Council had already 
supported the proposal.  If the proposal was also supported by this council and 
Oxfordshire County Council, it would form the unitary council bid to the Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government.  

Cabinet supported the recommendations set out in the chief executive’s report, with 
the amendment of recommendation 7 to read (additional words shown in bold type): 

“authorise the head of legal and democratic services, in consultation with 
the leader and the chief executive, to agree the terms of reference of the 
joint committee, which will include making recommendations regarding the 
initial functions of the implementation executive, and to make this council’s 
appointments to the joint committee”.  

Cabinet expressed its gratitude to the leader, John Cotton, and the officers for their 
work in preparing the Better Oxfordshire bid.  

Page 7



RECOMMENDATIONS: to Council on 10 March 2017 to:

1. note and commend the approach taken by the Leaders of Vale, South 
Oxfordshire, and the County Council in putting the interests of residents, 
business and communities first in bringing forward these proposals; 

2. consider the proposals, in particular taking note that 70 per cent of those 
responding to the County Council’s representative household survey supported 
the proposal for a new unitary council for Oxfordshire; 

3. respond to the recent letter from the Secretary of State and submit proposals to 
Government subject to any amendments required provided that they are 
materially in accordance with the attached proposal; 

4. delegate the power to make such amendments to the chief executive in 
consultation with the leader and with South Oxfordshire District Council and 
Oxfordshire County Council; 

5. ask officers to seek local support from key stakeholders and the wider public to 
promote the proposals to government and respond to any subsequent 
consultation undertaken by the Secretary of State; 

6. support the further development of the Area Executive Board model, a joint 
committee, open to all Districts and City Councils across Oxfordshire and the 
County Council, should be formed as early as possible. This joint committee 
should work with the existing County Council advisory group, local 
communities, Town and Parish Councils, and key delivery partners to develop 
detailed proposals that articulate the role, powers, format, scale and 
responsibilities of the Area Executive Boards which will be submitted to the 
Implementation Executive for inclusion with the proposed constitution of the 
new council; 

7. authorise the head of legal and democratic services, in consultation with the 
leader and the chief executive, to agree the terms of reference of the joint 
committee, which will include making recommendations regarding the initial 
functions of the implementation executive, and to make this council’s 
appointments to the joint committee; 

8. ask officers to take steps to establish the City Convention to work with residents 
and local stakeholders to design the new model of governance in Oxford; and 

9. in light of the above decisions, and the absence of unanimity among the current 
local authorities, confirm that Council does not support the proposals for a 
Mayor and Combined Authority as being the best structure for Oxfordshire.  

The meeting closed at 5.47 pm

Chairman Date

Page 8



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Cabinet

HELD ON THURSDAY 6 APRIL 2017 AT 6.00 PM

MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, OX14 4SB

Present:

John Cotton (Chairman), Anna Badcock, Elizabeth Gillespie, Tony Harbour, Lynn Lloyd, 
Jane Murphy and Robert Simister

Officers:

Jayne Bolton, Gerry Brough, Steve Culliford, David Hill, William Jacobs, Clare Kingston, 
Alice Lynch, Helen Novelle, Ian Price, Mark Stone and David Turner

Also present: 

David Turner 

91 Apologies for absence 

Councillor Will Hall had sent his apologies for absence.  

92 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 February 2017 as 
a correct record and agree that the Chairman signs them as such.  

93 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None

94 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None

95 Public participation 

Councillor David Turner requested to speak on the item relating to the proposed individual 
grants scheme.  This is recorded under minute Ca.97.  

Page 9



96 Referrals from Scrutiny Committee 

Joint Scrutiny Committee had raised two questions to put to Cabinet for consideration 
regarding the Five Councils’ Partnership:

1. How are we monitoring the impact on retained staff of the Five Councils’ 
Partnership?

2. What is the plan if one of the contractors was to fail as a company?  

Cabinet noted that Councillor Lynn Lloyd, the Cabinet member with responsibility for the 
Five Councils’ Partnership, would provide a written response to the questions above.  

97 Proposed new individual councillor grant scheme 

Cabinet considered the head of corporate strategy’s report on a new scheme to allow 
individual councillors to award grants.  This followed the Council decision in February 2017 
to approve a budget for this grant scheme.  The report set out a policy for Cabinet’s 
approval.  

Scrutiny Committee had considered the draft policy at its meeting on 4 April 2017 and 
welcomed the proposed scheme but recommended that the policy was amended to:
1. delete ‘community festivals and events’ from the list of projects/services which could 

not be funded, and 
2. include a deadline or a number of deadlines for submitting applications, rather than 

limiting applications to a set period during the year.  

Councillor David Turner addressed Cabinet, welcomed the new grant scheme but asked 
Cabinet to consider introducing deadlines to avoid the situation where councillors allocated 
funds early in the year and had insufficient funds for applications received at a later date.  

The Cabinet member with responsibility for grants, Councillor Elizabeth Gillespie, reported 
that Council had allocated a budget for these grants for one year, the intention being to 
pilot the scheme in 2017/18 before evaluating its outcomes.  Councillor Gillespie had 
weighed up the advantages and disadvantages of Scrutiny Committee’s suggestions and 
recommended that community festivals and events should be included in the list of 
projects that councillors should be able to fund.  However, Councillor Gillespie 
recommended that setting a deadline for councillors would be too restrictive and the 
scheme should leave it open to councillors to decide which applications were most 
deserving of a grant.  This could be reviewed at the end of the pilot year.  

Cabinet concurred with this recommendation.  The policy would allow the council to pilot 
the scheme for each councillor to award up to £5,000 to fund community projects 
benefitting their ward.  However, it was considered important that each councillor must 
attend training on the scheme before allocating any grants.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) approve the individual councillor grant policy, attached at appendix one to the head 
of corporate strategy’s report to Cabinet on 6 April 2017, subject to amending the 
policy to allow community festivals and events to be funded; and 

(b) authorise the head of service with responsibility for grants to release payments of up 
to £5,000 in accordance with the ward councillor’s decision.  

Page 10



98 Commuted sums and affordable housing 

Cabinet considered the report of the interim head of development, regeneration and 
housing.  The report suggested an approach to using commuted sums from developers to 
provide affordable housing.  On rare occasions, it was not possible for developers to 
provide affordable housing on their site.  If the council believed that this was for good 
reasons, and that viability was not the issue, it could require the developer to pay the 
council a commuted sum that could be used to provide affordable housing on any other 
appropriate site in the vicinity of the original development site.  

Cabinet considered the options to use commuted sums:
1. To meet a shortfall in the delivery of rented accommodation or to increase the range 

of affordable tenures.  
2. To provide new affordable housing that met specialist needs.  
3. To provide new affordable housing for people with a strong local connection.  

The use of commuted sum payments to assist in the delivery of new affordable housing 
could be in the form of a direct grant to a registered provider.  However in some cases, 
depending on viability, it might be appropriate to provide commuted sums as a 
reimbursable investment, so the council received a return on the invested commuted 
sums.  

The Joint Scrutiny Committee had supported the proposed approach but recommended 
that an annual report was produced on the status of commuted sums payments received 
and to detail expenditure.  Cabinet concurred with this suggestion.  

Cabinet considered that there was a need to approve an approach for the spending of 
commuted sums, which allowed for the use of these payments to provide affordable 
housing.  Cabinet supported the approach and the use of the three options with the 
intention of primarily increasing the overall housing stock in the district.  However, 
commuted sums should not be restricted to use for new-build properties only.  If an 
opportunity arose to bring an empty home back into use then Cabinet considered that 
commuted sums should be used to assist such projects.  

RESOLVED: to use commuted sums primarily for the purpose of encouraging the delivery 
of new-build affordable housing to: 
(i) meet a shortfall in the delivery of rented accommodation, or increase the range of 

affordable tenures; or 
(ii) provide new affordable housing that meets specialist needs; or 
(iii) provide new affordable housing for people with a strong local connection.  

99 Market Place Mews, Henley 

Cabinet deferred consideration of a report on land at Market Place Mews, Henley to allow 
for further discussions.  

The meeting closed at 6.25 pm

Chairman Date

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Report                            

Report of Chief Executive
Author: Ian Matten
Telephone: 01235 422113
Textphone: 
E-mail: ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: All
Cabinet member responsible: Councillor Tony Harbour
Tel: 01235 810255
E-mail: tony.harbour@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: CABINET 
Date: 15 June 2017

Revised joint waste collection policy

Recommendation

To approve the new waste collection policy attached at appendix one to this report.  

Purpose of Report

1. To seek approval for a new waste collection policy attached at appendix one.

Corporate Objectives 

2. The service contributes to the council’s strategic objective of building thriving 
communities, making communities clean and safe by increasing the recycling rate to 70 
per cent and maintaining our position as one of the top ten authorities for recycling. 

Background

3. The council adopted a wheeled bin policy to support the roll out of the current refuse 
and recycling collection service when it was introduced in 2009 in South Oxfordshire 
and 2010 in Vale of White Horse. 

4. We have now reviewed the policy and updated it to reflect changes to the service since 
it was last updated in 2012.  The new waste collection policy provides more information 
for service users in a more logical format.  It reflects the full range of collection services 
the councils provide, expands on the areas covered by the current policy and 
incorporates some changes in legislation.  

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 13

mailto:ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tony.harbour@southoxon.gov.uk


5. In addition to reformatting and updating the existing wheeled bin policy, five substantive 
policy changes or additions have been included and Cabinet are asked to approve 
these changes.  The changes are summarised below;

a. To amend the existing policy to reduce the size of a household that 
automatically qualifies for an additional free recycling bin from six to five.  An 
additional bin will only be provided if the resident requests one.  At the moment 
we do not charge for the delivery of additional wheelie bins.  However, there is a 
cost to us to supply and deliver each additional bin which is currently £25.  

Requests for additional recycling capacity for households of under five residents 
will be considered on a case by case basis as currently happens.  Where an 
additional bin is approved, included in the new policy is the provision for the 
council to make a charge to cover delivery and administration costs (see Policy 
Statement 1). 

The councils already allow residents to put out any additional recycling 
alongside their recycling bin in clear sacks or cardboard boxes.  Although this 
ensures all extra recycling can be collected, it may be a barrier for some 
households who do not want to put out side waste.  In addition, collecting 
additional recycling in sacks may sometimes result in littering if the bags split 
open. 

b. To include a new policy for households with five or more residents to 
automatically qualify for an additional free food waste caddy (23lt) as an 
incentive to encourage more food waste recycling.  This will increase our 
recycling rate and reduce the amount of waste sent for incineration.  An 
additional caddy will only be provided if the resident requests one. 

At the moment we do not have a policy to provide additional food waste caddies.    
There would be a cost to us to supply and deliver each additional bin which is 
currently £12.  

Requests for additional food waste capacity for households of fewer than five 
residents will be considered on a case by case basis.  Where an additional bin is 
approved, included in the new policy is the provision for the council to make a 
charge to cover delivery and administration costs (see Policy Statement 1). 

The councils currently collect food waste weekly and this is a major contributor 
to the very high recycling rates achieved by both councils.  Although residents 
can already put out additional food waste for collection on top of their food waste 
caddies, this is not desirable as the waste is easily accessible to scavenging 
vermin. 

A study completed in 2015 showed that, despite the councils’ very successful 
food waste collection scheme, more than 20 per cent of the refuse bin is food 
waste.  Allowing households with five or more residents to automatically qualify 
for an additional food waste caddy will assist to further increase the councils’ 
recycling rates. 

c. To add a new policy enabling the councils to request residents who require an 
assisted collection to make an application in writing and to include a regular 
review of the assisted collection list.  This will enable us to contact all residents 

Page 14



who have previously been approved for an assisted collection to confirm that the 
service is still required (see Policy Statement 1). 

The councils currently provide an assisted refuse and recycling collection 
service to elderly and infirm residents.  There are 1,300 households in South 
and 1,600 in Vale who are currently registered for the service.  Requests are 
administered over the phone and whilst this is acceptable, allowing web-based 
applications will increase the number of channels that residents can use to 
contact us and will give us a written record of the request. 

There is no formal mechanism for residents to inform us that an assisted 
collection is no longer required and so the removal of properties from the 
assisted collection list is ad-hoc.  Providing for the waste team to periodically 
write to all properties on the assisted collection lists will ensure they are kept up 
to date.  As the costs of providing an assisted collection are greater than the 
standard collection costs, removing properties where assistance is no longer 
required will reduce the councils contracted collection costs.

d. To add a new policy that requires the housing association/managing 
agent/landlord of properties with communal recycling collections to take more 
responsibility for removing contamination from their recycling bins.

Where they are unable to remove the contamination and it becomes a regular 
occurrence, the policy will give the councils the option to invoice the managing 
agent for the costs incurred in emptying and disposing of the contaminated bins 
(see Policy Statement 2). 
 
Work recently undertaken to address contamination in recycling bins focussed 
predominantly on individual households.  Where a resident is directly 
responsible for their own bins and they have not been collected because of 
contamination or because the wrong sacks have been used, it is clear which 
resident is responsible for rectifying the situation. 

For communal collections, the situation is more complex.  It is impracticable, 
costly and often impossible to identify which individuals within a block of flats are 
putting the wrong items in the recycling bin.  The proposed policy therefore 
passes more responsibility for dealing with contamination to the managing 
agent.  There are 550 known bulk bin stores of various sizes across the two 
districts.

Currently, if communal recycling bins are contaminated, the collection crew 
empty the bin the following week for residual waste disposal.  This does not 
address the root cause of the problem and leads to some good recycling also 
being disposed of.  Implementing a policy to make the managing agent 
responsible for removing items or to be responsible for any costs incurred by the 
council, will motivate them to work with their tenants to improve performance.  
There is however a risk that the managing agent will simply pass on any cost 
incurred to their tenants.

In advance of introducing any charge for removal of contamination, which will 
only be implemented as a last resort, officers will ensure that the managing 

Page 15



agents and residents have received all necessary information relating to the 
recycling service they receive.

e. To add a new policy, consistent with the Controlled Waste Regulations 2012, to 
categorise waste produced by non-domestic premises as either household or 
commercial waste.  

The Controlled Waste Regulations 2012 changed how waste produced by some 
non-domestic premises should be categorised by local authorities.  It also 
amended and clarified where charges could be made by district councils either 
for collection only or for collection and disposal. 

The councils will cease any collections they currently make and refuse any 
future requests where the waste is now classified as commercial waste.  A list of 
the types of property that will be affected are shown in annex 1 Table 4 in the 
policy.  This is not optional as we should not collect commercial waste as part of 
our household waste collection service.

Annex 1 Table 2 in the policy, lists types of properties where the district council 
could if it chose to, make a charge for a collection.  This would be based on the 
cost incurred by the council as set out in the table below. 

Refuse Recycling Food Waste
Bin Size 
litres

Annual 
collection 
cost

Bin Size 
litres

Annual 
collection 
cost

Bin Size 
litres

Annual 
collection 
cost

180 £31.80 240 £28.81 23 £14.90
660 £61.77 660 £61.77 140 £23.18
1100 £66.24 1100 £66.24

The main type of properties affected in our districts are parish and village halls 
used mainly for public meetings.  The majority currently receive a standard set 
of bins which are collected free of charge.  If a charge is introduced for 
collections this will cost approximately £75.51 per annum for a standard set of 
bins. 

Annex 1 Table 3 in the policy lists types of properties where the district council 
could if it chose to, make a charge for collection or collection and disposal. This 
would be based on the costs incurred by the district council.  Oxfordshire County 
Council (OCC), who are the disposal authority already charge us for disposal, in 
the region of £10,000 per council per annum so as a minimum we should be 
recouping these disposal cost.  The costs for collection and disposal are set out 
in the table below, please note that there are no disposal costs associated with 
recycling.

Refuse Recycling Food Waste
Bin 
Size 
litres

Annual 
collection 
cost

Disposal 
Cost

Bin Size 
litres

Annual 
collection 
cost

Bin 
Size 
litres

Annual 
collection 
cost

Disposal
cost 

180 £31.80 £63.34 240 £28.81 23 £16.55 £4.04
660 £61.77 £177.62 660 £61.77 140 £25.65 £26.91
1100 £66.24 £296.04 1100 £66.24

Page 16



There are two main types of property affected in our districts; schools and 
residential homes. In Vale, there are 16 residential homes and 15 in South. 
These residential homes are not currently charged.

The councils do already charge, and have done for many years, for collections 
from approximately 30 other non-domestic premises and 13 schools in South.
Schools are still classed as producing household waste for which we can now 
charge for collection and disposal, although this cannot be applied 
retrospectively.  At the moment, we only charge for collection.

Under the latest regulations 21 of the 30 non-domestic properties are now 
classified as producing commercial waste and so we can no longer collect their 
waste.  The waste team will contact the 21 properties concerned and inform 
them that collections must cease.  The other properties will then be charged 
based on the rates shown in the table immediately above. 

There are likely to be several other premises where collections are currently 
provided as part of the household collections which fall within the new 
regulations.  The waste team will contact each of these as they become aware 
of them, to advise whether the collections can continue and what if any charges 
are applicable.

Options

6. Options considered were:

 retain the existing wheeled bin policy with no changes, other than the required 
legislative change to stop collecting from non-domestic properties producing 
commercial waste 

 to include within the policy, the requirements of the Controlled Waste 
Regulations but not to make any charges for collection or collection and 
disposal. 

 
Financial Implications

7. Reducing the size of households who automatically qualify for an additional free 
recycling bin from six to five is likely to generate requests from residents.  The cost 
associated with providing an additional bin is currently £25.  It is difficult to calculate the 
full financial implication of reducing the threshold as we do not know how many 
residents may request an extra bin.  We do know that based on national census data 
the number of households that would automatically qualify for a second recycling bin is 
approximately 2,500 in each district.  Many of these already have more than one bin 
and others will not wish to have a second bin.  Some of the cost associated with this 
may be offset by an increase in recycling credits which we receive for every tonne of 
recycling collected. 

8. Introducing a policy which allows residents to automatically qualify for an additional 
food caddy if there are five or more residents in a household is likely to generate 
requests.  The cost associated with providing an additional bin is currently £12.  It is 
difficult to calculate the financial implications of introducing such a policy as we do not 

Page 17



know how many residents may request an extra bin.  We do know that based on 
national census data the number of households that would automatically qualify for a 
second food bin is approximately 4,000 in each district.  This figure is higher than the 
2,500 eligible for a recycling bin because we have not previously provided a second 
food caddy even if a property had six or more residents.

9. Depending on the level of demand, funding for additional bins for those residents who 
automatically qualify for an additional recycling bin or food caddy will be met from 
existing resources.  If demand is higher than anticipated and existing resources are not 
sufficient, officers will request a virement from the Capital contingency fund for 2017/18 
and submit a growth bid for subsequent years.  To offset some of the potential costs 
the council could introduce a delivery and administration fee for residents requesting an 
extra bin.

10.The revised policy provides for the councils to charge for collection from non-domestic 
properties where the controlled regulations allow it.  It also provides for the councils to 
charge for collection and disposal from certain types of premises.  The costs will be 
based on actual costs incurred by the councils plus a 15 per cent administration fee. 

Legal Implications

11.The changes set out in the report paragraph 5(e) will ensure the councils’ policy is 
compliant with current legislation.

Risks

12.There is a risk that the managing agents will put up costs to their tenants if they incur 
costs for disposing of contaminated bins.  To reduce this risk, officers will work closely 
with the managing agents to ensure they have all the information they need to give to 
their tenants, as well as ensuring the bin stores get new posters and stickers indicating 
what goes in each bin.  We will only consider imposing any charges as a last resort.

13.There is a risk that some of these changes could result in some negative publicity for 
the council, although the number of properties affected is very small.  We will have a 
communications plan in place to address this

14.There is a risk that everyone who is entitled to an additional recycling or food caddy 
requests one. We do not think this is likely, as we know that a lot of properties with five 
residents already have an additional recycling bin and others do not want to store a 
second bin.  If a lot of requests for additional bins are received this could be managed 
through the introduction of delivery charges and administration costs.  This is not 
something we have done in the past but could be considered.

Other implications

15.There are no other implications associated with this report.

Conclusion

16.The new joint waste collection policy reflects changes that have been made to the 
service since the previous policy was last updated.  It identifies the full range of 
collection services the councils provide while incorporating some changes to legislation 
with the aim of:

Page 18



a) improving recycling and food waste collections for larger households and 
increasing the quantity of recycling collected 

b) reducing the amount of contaminated bulk recycling bins and offsetting the 
financial impact on the councils of disposing of contaminated bulk recycling bins 
 

c) ensuring the councils only collect refuse and recycling from non-domestic 
premises where the legislation classifies it as household waste and to recover 
all costs where possible.

Background Papers

None

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix one

Joint waste & recycling collection policy

INTRODUCTION
1. The council provide refuse, recycling, food waste, garden waste, clinical waste and 

bulky waste collections to more than 115,000 households, and several non-
household premises. 

2. A wheeled bin policy was produced to support the roll out of the current collection 
service when it was introduced in 2009 in South Oxfordshire and 2010 in Vale of 
White Horse.  The policy has been updated to match the full range of collection 
services we now provide.  Changes have also been made based on operational 
experience and feedback from residents as the service has developed.

3. We are committed to maximising recycling and reducing the impact of waste on the 
environment and importantly, the amount of waste sent to Energy Recovery Facilities 
or landfill.  

AIM 
4. The aim of this policy is to:

a. provide clear information about the scope of waste collection services the 
council provide

b. set out the service standards and performance we aim to achieve.

LEGAL REQUIREMENT
5. The Environmental Protection Act (1990) is the principal legislation that defines the 

roles and responsibilities of district councils as waste collection authorities.

SERVICES COVERED BY THIS POLICY 
6. Policy Statement 1 – regular collections from individual households. 
 
7. Policy Statement 2 – regular collections from households with communal bin areas.

8. Policy Statement 3 – other collections from households – bulky waste and clinical 
waste.

9. Policy Statement 4 – refuse and recycling collections from non-domestic properties.

Page 21



Policy Statement 1 – regular collections 
from individual households

SERVICE OVERVIEW
10. There are two main service types the council provide for households. 

 a wheeled bin service for individual households

 a sack collection service for individual households; where specific exemption 
criteria are met.

11. All wheeled bins, food waste caddies, sacks and any other containers provided by 
the council for waste collection remain the property of the council.  They should 
remain with the property if occupancy changes except for garden waste bins and any 
additional bins or caddies approved for your household which should be taken to 
your new property if you are moving to an address within South Oxfordshire or Vale 
of White Horse District Councils.  Only containers that we supply will be emptied 
(unless otherwise agreed).

12. You can opt out of our full waste and recycling service, you will then become 
responsible for disposing of your own waste.  Because of the cost and practicalities 
involved we cannot allow people to opt out of individual parts of the service, however, 
if there are extenuating circumstances requests will be considered on a case by case 
basis.  Opting out of the service does not entitle you to any refund or reduction of 
council tax.

THE STANDARD SERVICE
13. The standard service for individual households comprises:

 a weekly collection of food waste in a green 23-litre caddy

 a fortnightly mixed recycling collection in a green 240-litre wheeled bin

 a fortnightly collection of non-recyclable waste in a grey 180-litre wheeled bin

 a fortnightly collection of textiles in tied carrier bags put out alongside the green 
recycling bin

 a fortnightly collection of small electrical items in tied carrier bags put out 
alongside the grey refuse bin

 a fortnightly collection of batteries in clear plastic bags put on top of the lid of the 
green recycling bin

 a fortnightly opt-in, charged collection of garden waste in a brown 240-litre 
wheeled bin.

Page 22



EXEMPTIONS TO THE STANDARD SERVICE
14. Some properties are not suitable for wheeled bins.  To qualify for an exemption from 

using wheeled bins, you must meet one or more of the following criteria

a) your property is in an article 4(2) direction area* and your wheeled bins would 
have to be kept at the front of the property at all times

b) you do not have enough space between the front door and the pavement or rear 
edge of the road, meaning that wheeled bins would cause an obstruction and 
there is no alternative collection point

c) you do not have reasonable rear or side access, and the useable front area is 
too small to accommodate the bins

d) it would be impractical for you to pull wheeled bins out for collection, for 
example, through the property or a considerable distance

e) your wheeled bins have to be kept in a location that may present an 
unacceptable security risk to the property

f) your property has multiple occupants, e.g. flats with communal refuse storage 
arrangements

g) your property is accessed via steep inclines or steps, making it impractical for 
using wheeled bins

h) your bins would have to be kept immediately in front of front facing windows at 
all times

i) If you qualify for an exemption from the standard service, but would like to 
request wheeled bins, you are able to do so. If you are covered by criteria a) 
above then we will ask you to give assurance that you will keep the bins at the 
rear of the property.

* An article 4(2) direction helps to protect the special characteristics of a Conservation 
Area. Visit the councils’ websites for more information.

15. For individual households that are not suitable for wheeled bins, the service 
comprises:
 a weekly collection of food waste in a green 23-litre caddy

 a fortnightly mixed recycling collection in clear 60-litre sacks. Sacks are 
delivered annually in the autumn and are sufficient for each household to put out 
up to four sacks per collection. Please note that if you still have a supply of 
council supplied green sacks these can still be used for recycling until the supply 
is finished.

 a fortnightly rubbish collection of non-recyclable waste in pink 60-litre sacks. 
Sacks are delivered annually in the autumn and each household may put out up 
to three sacks per collection 

 a fortnightly collection of textiles in tied carrier bags put out alongside your clear 
sacks

 a fortnightly collection of small electrical items in tied carrier bags put out 
alongside your pink sacks 

 a fortnightly collection of batteries in clear plastic bags put out next to your clear 
sacks

 a fortnightly opt-in, charged collection of garden waste in compostable sacks.

Page 23



PUTTING YOUR BINS, SACKS AND CADDIES OUT FOR COLLECTION
16. Except for properties who have communal collections or those receiving an assisted 

collection, residents must put bins, sacks and caddies out for collection.  They should 
be presented at the point nearest to the road or pavement and no more than one 
metre away from the edge of your property (unless otherwise agreed).  They should 
be clearly visible to the collection crews.  

17. Bins, sacks and caddies must not be placed in such a way that they will cause an 
obstruction to pedestrians and road users. 

18. Your bins, sacks and caddies must not be put out earlier than 6pm on the day before 
collection, or later than 7am on the day of collection.  Wheeled bin handles should be 
facing outward towards the road.

19. Our contractor will return your containers to within one metre of the original collection 
point following collection.  Containers should be removed from the pavement as soon 
as possible after collections they must be stored within your property boundary 
between collections. 

ASSISTED COLLECTIONS
20. If due to age, illness or disability, you are not able to move your containers to the 

edge of your property on collection day, and there is no-one else living permanently 
at the address who can do this, you may request an assisted collection.  The council 
may require this request to be made in writing.  If you are unable to put your request 
in writing due to a disability or limited English, the council will make reasonable 
adjustments to ensure you can still make a request for the service.  In these 
circumstances, you may telephone the council to make the request. 

21. Where a property has been approved for an assisted collection, the collection crew 
will come onto the property, move the bins, sacks and caddies from an agreed 
storage point to the vehicle for emptying and return any empty containers to the 
storage point.

22. All requests are checked by the councils’ waste technical officers who may contact 
you for further information regarding the layout of the property to ensure the storage 
point and access route are appropriate.

23. The council reserve the right to amend the collection method in some circumstances 
to provide an assisted collection.  For example, if the storage point is an 
unacceptable distance away from the property boundary then the property may be 
moved on to the sack collection service.

24. The council may from time to time contact any household that has previously been 
approved for an assisted collection to confirm that the service is still required. 

Page 24



 MISSING OR DAMAGED BINS
25. All bins remain the property of the council however, you are responsible for keeping 

bins in a safe, clean and tidy condition.  You must not deface them or use them for 
any purpose other than that described in this policy.  If you wish to put house 
numbers on your bin, please use self-adhesive numbers rather than paint. 

26. If your bin goes missing or is damaged, you are responsible for reporting it to the call 
centre.  The council will repair or replace bins that become damaged through normal 
wear and tear or bins that have been damaged during collections free of charge.  We 
reserve the right to make a charge to cover administration and delivery costs for any 
replacements where they have gone missing or have been damaged because of 
misuse.

27. Bins that are reported as missing or damaged will be replaced within 10 working 
days.  Delivery times may exceed this at certain peak times.  Customers will be 
advised of delivery timescales when an order is placed.

28. We will not replace the small inside kitchen food waste caddy if this is damaged or 
goes missing.  It is initially provided for residents’ convenience within the home and 
should not be put out for collection.

MISSED COLLECTIONS
29. If you put your bins in the right place at the right time and they are missed, please 

report this to the call centre.  Our contractor will review the reported missed collection 
against information recorded by the crew and, if there is no valid reason why the bin 
was not collected, they will return to empty it.

30. Missed collections can be reported by telephone up until 5pm or by email/webform up 
until midnight of the next working day1 following the scheduled collection.  Our 
contractor will return within two working days of receiving a missed bin report for any 
validated missed collections.

31. Our contractor will not return to collect your bin if you report a missed collection after 
the end of the next working day, following the scheduled collection day.

CALL CENTRE OPENING HOURS
32. Any service issues relating to refuse or recycling collections are handled by our 

contractor’s dedicated call centre.  The opening hours of the call centre are Monday-
Friday, 8.30am-5pm.  No emails or calls will be responded to outside of these hours.  
Please refer to the council’s website for contact details.

RECYCLABLE WASTE – GREEN WHEELED BIN/CLEAR SACK 
USE OF SACKS IN GREEN WHEELED BINS

33. The council’s preference is for residents to put their recycling loose into the green 
bin.  If sacks are used, they must be clear so the crew can confirm that the correct 

1 Working days for bin collections are defined as Monday to Friday

Page 25



items have been put in the bin.  If the green bin contains recycling in anything other 
than clear sacks or loose it will not be emptied.  Our contractor will leave a note 
explaining the reason for non-collection. 

ADDITIONAL RECYCLABLE WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

34. Your standard wheeled bins are considered large enough to hold all recycling 
produced between collections.  However, recycling side waste will be collected where 
you put it out next to your green wheeled bin/clear sack, in clear sacks or a 
cardboard box which has been left open so the contents are visible. 

35. If additional recyclable waste is put out for collection in other types of sacks where 
the crew cannot see the contents, it will not be collected.  A note will be added to 
explain why the recycling was not collected. 

ADDITIONAL CAPACITY FOR RECYCLABLE WASTE

36. If you are a large family (five or more) you can request an additional recycling bin.  If 
requested, and at the council’s discretion it may provide additional recycling capacity 
by replacing a residents existing bin with a larger one rather than providing an 
additional bin. Other requests for additional recycling capacity will be considered on a 
case by case basis, the council may make a charge to cover administration and 
delivery costs.  Residents will be advised of the current charges at the time of 
application.

CONTAMINATION

37. If your green recycling bin or clear sack is contaminated with materials that should 
not be in it, it will not be collected.  Our contractor will leave a note explaining the 
reason for non-collection.  You will need to remove all contamination from the 
bin/sack before the next scheduled collection. You can find a full list of the materials 
we do collect on our websites. 

FOOD WASTE – GREEN CADDY
ADDITIONAL FOOD WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

38. Your standard food waste caddy is considered large enough to hold all food waste 
produced between collections.  However, food side waste will be collected if it is in 
the correct liner and left next to or on top of the food waste caddy.  Please contact 
the council or refer to its website for information on what liners are acceptable.

ADDITIONAL CAPACITY FOR FOOD WASTE

39. If you are a large family (five or more) you can request an additional food waste 
caddy.  Other requests for additional food waste capacity will be considered on a 
case by case basis, the council may make a charge to cover administration and 
delivery costs.  Residents will be advised of the current charges at the time of 
application.

Page 26



CONTAMINATION 

40. If your food waste caddy contains anything other than food waste and an approved 
liner it will not be collected.  You can find a full list of the materials we do collect on 
our websites. 

41. If your food waste caddy has not been emptied because it is contaminated, our 
contractor will leave a note explaining the reason for non-collection.  You will need to 
remove all contamination from the caddy before the next scheduled collection.

NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE – GREY WHEELED BIN/PINK SACK
ADDITIONAL NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

42. The councils will only collect non-recyclable waste that fits in the wheeled 
bin(s)/sacks provided.  Additional capacity for non-recyclable waste may be provided 
in certain circumstances - please see paragraphs 47- 48 for details.

43. If any additional non-recyclable waste is put out for collection alongside or on top of 
your grey wheeled bin, it will not be collected.  A note will be added to the uncollected 
side waste to explain this.

44. If there is so much waste in the wheeled bin that the lid cannot be closed, the waste 
preventing the lid from being closed will be considered to be side waste.  If practical, 
the crew will remove the side waste from the bin and empty the rest of the bin’s 
contents.  The side waste will not be collected and a note will be added to the 
uncollected waste to explain this. 

OVERWEIGHT OR OVERCOMPACTED GREY BINS

45. You should take care not to overfill your bin and make it so heavy that the contractor 
is unable to safely move it to the vehicle to be emptied.  If a bin has not been emptied 
because it is too heavy, our contractor will leave a note attached to the bin explaining 
the reason for non-collection. 

46. If waste in your bin is over compacted, it may jam in the bin and the crew may be 
unable to fully empty it.  You must ensure any over compacted waste that is not 
released from your bin during the collection is loosened so that it can be emptied at 
the next collection.

ADDITIONAL CAPACITY FOR NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE

47. Because most household waste can be recycled, we only provide additional capacity 
in the following circumstances. 

a. If an occupant of your property has a medical condition which generates 
significant quantities of non-recyclable waste (such as incontinence pads), if 
requested, an additional wheeled bin or pink sacks may be provided

b. If you have two or more children in nappies in your household, if requested, the 
council will provide up to two rolls of pink sacks per annum in addition to the 

Page 27



standard refuse bin.  Households qualifying for additional capacity can put out 
up to three pink sacks alongside their wheeled bin at each collection. 

48. If you do not meet these criteria but are still having problems fitting your non-
recyclable waste into the bin or sacks provided, please contact the council.  A council 
officer will discuss your circumstances and may visit to ensure recycling services are 
being fully utilised when considering any additional capacity requests.

CONTAMINATION

49. There are a range of wastes that cannot be disposed of in the grey bin/pink sack – 
for example rubble, gas canisters, liquid waste, garden waste and hazardous waste – 
a full list of excluded waste is published on the councils’ websites.  If the collection 
crew spot any excluded waste items, the bin/sack will not be emptied.  A note will be 
added to explain why it was not emptied.  The resident must remove these items, 
before the next scheduled collection otherwise the bin will not be emptied.

GARDEN WASTE COLLECTIONS FROM HOUSEHOLDS
SERVICE OVERVIEW

50. There are a range of wastes that cannot be disposed of in the grey bin/pink sack 
which includes garden waste.  The council provides a chargeable “opt-in” fortnightly 
collection of garden waste in brown 240-litre wheeled bin. 

51. If you are exempt from using wheeled bins collections are made using white 
compostable 60-litre sacks.  Compostable sacks are delivered at the commencement 
of the service and at each subscription anniversary.  Each household is provided with 
an equivalent of four sacks per collection

52. The scheme is governed by the terms and conditions applicable to the scheme and 
are published on the councils’ website.  Current subscription rates are also published 
on the website.

Page 28



Policy Statement 2 – Regular collections 
from households with communal bin 
areas 

SERVICE OVERVIEW

53. For domestic properties with a communal bin area, the council, in consultation with 
the owners/managing agents, will agree the specific type and number of bins based 
on the size and shape of the bin store area and the number of properties it serves.  
The service provided is as follows:

 a weekly collection of food waste either in blue 140-litre wheeled bins or green 
23-litre – caddies

 a fortnightly mixed recycling collection in 240, 660 or 1100-litre wheeled bins

 a fortnightly rubbish collection of non-recyclable waste in 180, 660 or 1100-litre 
wheeled bins

 a fortnightly collection of textiles in tied carrier bags put out alongside the 
green recycling bin

 a fortnightly collection of small electrical items in tied carrier bags put out 
alongside the grey refuse bin

54. Where the bin store area does not provide sufficient space for a fortnightly collection, 
some properties may receive weekly collections of refuse and recycling at the sole 
discretion of the council.

55. The councils have published guidance to ensure developers design and position new 
communal bin stores so they house the correct number of bins and can be safely 
accessed by collection crews. 

56. Where the storage and access arrangements are agreed with the council, communal 
bins will be moved by collection crews from the bin store to the vehicle for emptying 
and then returned to the bin store.

RECYCLABLE WASTE – COMMUNAL GREEN WHEELED BIN 
USE OF SACKS IN THE GREEN COMMUNAL WHEELED BIN

57. The council’s preference is for residents to put their recycling loose into the green 
communal wheeled bin.  If sacks are used, they must be clear so the crew can 
confirm that the correct items have been put in the bin.  If the communal green bin 
contains recycling in anything other than clear sacks it will not be emptied and the 
process set out in sections 61-63 will be followed. 

Page 29



ADDITIONAL RECYCLABLE WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

58. The communal bins we provide should be large enough to hold all recycling waste 
produced between collections.  However, recycling side waste will be collected if it is 
put in clear sacks or an open cardboard box so the contents are visible.  Large 
cardboard boxes should be flattened and stacked alongside the bin if there is no 
space inside.

59. If additional recyclable waste is put out for collection in other types of sacks or where 
there are materials that should not be in it, it will not be collected.  The resident must 
ensure any additional recycling is put out for collection as set out in paragraph 58 
and it will be emptied at the next scheduled collection.  You can find a full list of the 
materials we collect on our websites. 

CONTAMINATION

60. If the communal green recycling bin contains materials that should not be in it, it will 
not be collected and a note will be added to the bin explaining why it has not been 
collected.

61. Where a communal green recycling bin has been contaminated, a letter or email will 
be sent to the managing agent, housing association or freehold owner responsible for 
the property to advise them that we were unable to empty it.

62. On receipt of the letter, the managing agent, housing association or freehold owner 
must remove the contaminants and once they have confirmed this has happened we 
will empty the bin at the next recycling collection. 

63. If the managing agent, housing association or freehold owner is unable to remove the 
contamination, they must contact the council to advise.  Where this occurs, we will 
empty the contaminated recycling bin for disposal but reserve the right to invoice the 
managing agent, housing association or freehold owner to cover our costs.

FOOD WASTE – COMMUNAL BLUE BIN 
 FOOD WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

64. Your standard communal food bin is considered large enough to hold all food waste 
produced between collections.  Please contact the council or refer to its website for 
information on what liners are acceptable.

CONTAMINATION 

65. If the communal blue food waste bin contains anything other than food waste and 
approved liners, it will not be collected and a note will be added to the bin explaining 
why it has not been collected.

66. Where a communal blue food waste bin has been contaminated, a letter or email will 
be sent to the managing agent, housing association or freehold owner responsible for 
the property to advise them that we were unable to empty the food bin.

Page 30



67. On receipt of the letter or email, the managing agent, housing association or freehold 
owner must remove the contaminants and once they have confirmed this has 
happened we will empty the bin at the next food waste collection. 

68. If the managing agent, housing association or freehold owner is unable to remove the 
contamination, they must contact the council to advise.  Where this occurs, we will 
empty the contaminated food bin for disposal but reserve the right to invoice the 
managing agent, housing association or freehold owner to cover our costs.

NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE – GREY COMMUNAL WHEELED BIN 
NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

69. The council will only collect non-recyclable waste that fits in the grey communal 
wheeled bin(s) provided. 

70. If any additional non-recyclable waste is put out for collection alongside or on top of a 
grey communal wheeled bin it will not be collected.  A note will be added to the 
uncollected waste to explain this.

71. If side waste has been placed on or around the communal bin to the extent that it 
prevents our crews safely moving the bins from the storage area to empty them, they 
will not be emptied.  A letter or email will be sent to the managing agent, housing 
association or freehold owner responsible for the property to advise them that we are 
unable to empty the bin until the bin store area has been cleared.

OVERFILLED OR OVERWEIGHT GREY BINS

72. If there is so much waste in the communal bin that it is unsafe to lift, it will not be 
emptied.  A letter or email will be sent to the managing agent, housing association or 
freehold owner responsible for the property to advise them that we are unable to 
empty the bin as it is overloaded and unsafe to lift.  The managing agent will be 
required empty the bin before recommence collections. 

ADDITIONAL CAPACITY FOR NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE

73. The number and type of bins provided for a communal bin area is calculated based 
on the number of individual properties it serves.  The actual capacity provided may 
be amended based on demand and available space up to the equivalent storage 
capacity that would have been provided if each property had its own set of individual 
bins.

CONTAMINATION

74. There are a range of wastes that cannot be disposed of in the grey bin – for example 
rubble, gas canisters, liquid waste, garden waste, bulky waste, electrical waste and 
hazardous waste – a full list of excluded waste is published on the councils’ websites.  
If the collection crew spot any of these items in a communal grey bin, it will not be 
emptied.  A note will be added to the bin to explain why it has not been emptied.

Page 31



75. Where a communal grey bin has been contaminated, a letter or email will be sent to 
the managing agent, housing association or freehold owner responsible for the 
property to advise them that we are unable to empty the bin until the items are 
removed.

Page 32



Policy Statement 3 – other collections 
from households – bulky waste and 
clinical waste

BULKY WASTE COLLECTIONS 
76. This is a charged for collection service for unwanted bulky waste items for example 

furniture, televisions, mattresses and white goods.  Please visit the councils’ websites 
for a full list of the items collected, and the charges made.

77. We do not collect fixtures and fittings or any items that may have been used for 
commercial purposes, even if they are currently being used as a household item.

78. This service is only available to householders living in the districts, it is not available 
to landlords, letting agents or commercial premises.

79. The items must be visible and accessible on your property from 7am on the agreed 
collection day(s).  The items must be left at the edge of your property next to the 
public highway.  If you live in a flat or other property and we normally collect your 
rubbish from communal bins, the items must be put out next to where we collect the 
communal bins from.  If they are not in the correct location when the crew come to 
make the collection, they will not be collected and no refund will be due.

80. Bookings can be made through the councils’ websites or by calling the waste team 
directly, please check the councils’ website for contact information. The booking will 
only be processed once payment has been received.  If payment is made by credit 
card a fee will be applied.

81. Bookings cannot be amended once made and notice of cancellations must be made 
two working days in advance of the booked collection day.  A refund will be made for 
cancellations less a 15 per cent administration charge

CLINICAL WASTE COLLECTIONS 
82. Separate collections are required for certain types of clinical waste.  The council 

provide one-off and ongoing clinical waste collections for patients who are receiving 
care in their own homes.  Your local surgery or hospital must contact us on your 
behalf to set up a clinical waste collection. 

83. If you have (for example) quantities of incontinence pads, these are classified as 
offensive waste rather than clinical waste and do not require separate collection.  
Offensive waste can be disposed of in your grey bin or pink refuse sack. 

84. For clarification of what is clinical waste please contact the council.  Additional 
capacity may be provided to account for this additional waste.  

Page 33



Policy Statement 4 – refuse and recycling 
collections from non-domestic properties

GENERAL PRINCIPLES
85. Where requested, the council will provide refuse and recycling collections to non-

domestic premises provided the waste produced is classified as household waste.  
The scope of the service offered will be equivalent to the service provided to 
domestic households.

86. The council does not directly provide a commercial waste collection service.  Where 
a non-domestic premise requests a refuse and recycling collection and the waste is 
classified as commercial or industrial waste, they will be directed to Biffa’s 
commercial services division to arrange a collection directly with them.  Organisations 
requiring commercial waste collections are recommended to obtain several quotes to 
ensure they are getting best value.

87. Where a commercial organisation insists that the council arrange the commercial 
collection on their behalf, a quote will be obtained by the council from Biffa’s 
commercial division and a 15 per cent administration charge will be added to cover 
the councils’ costs.

88. When a collection is requested by a non-domestic premise, the waste produced is 
classified as either household, commercial or industrial in accordance with Schedule 
1 of The Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012 – (CWR 2012).

89. The CWR 2012 defines waste according to the type of organisation that produced it 
and in some cases by the type of waste.  It also sets out the types of household 
waste for which charges for collection or for both collection and disposal can be 
made. The details of this can be found in Annex1 of this policy.

90. Oxfordshire County Council (the Waste Disposal Authority) recover all disposal costs 
due to them for waste collected by the council from premises where disposal charges 
can be levied.  Accordingly, the general approach the council will take is to apply 
collection and disposal costs in all instances where the CWR 2012 allows it.

91. Any non-domestic premise requesting a refuse and recycling collection will be 
required to provide information about the organisation and the type of waste 
produced.  The council will assess each application in accordance with the CWR 
2012 to determine whether the waste produced is household, commercial or 
industrial.  Where the waste is classified as household, a further assessment will be 
made to determine whether charges for collection or for both collection and disposal 
should be made. 

92. Some organisations may fit into more than one classification.  For example, many 
private schools are registered charities, which would classify the waste as 
commercial but as they are also an educational establishment the waste could be 
classified as household for which a charge for collection and disposal can be made. 

Page 34



93. Where an organisation has multiple classifications such as in paragraph 92, the 
council will evaluate the waste type on a hierarchical basis and the final classification 
will be that deemed most beneficial to the organisation concerned.  The following 
hierarchy will be used with a) deemed to be most beneficial and e) least:

a. Household waste – no charges for collection or disposal
b. Household waste – charges for collection only
c. Household waste – charges for collection and disposal
d. Commercial
e. Industrial

CHARGES
94. Charges will be calculated per bin size type for refuse and recycling services based 

on:

 direct collection costs charged by the council’s contractor 
 disposal costs payable to Oxfordshire County Council
 a 15 per cent administration charge to cover the costs of administering the 

services.

95. The overall charge payable by an organisation will relate to the number and type of 
bins they have and whether they are liable just for collection costs or collection and 
disposal.  If organisations require a service that differs from the household collection 
service – for example a weekly refuse collection – the organisation will need to 
contact a commercial waste collection company to set this up.

96. Whenever a service is either set up or ended, a charge will be made for delivery or 
removal of any containers provided.

97. All charges will be invoiced quarterly in advance; charges will be published on the 
councils’ websites and customers will be advised of any charges at the time of 
requesting the service.

MISSING OR DAMAGED BINS
98. All bins remain the property of the council however, the customer is responsible for 

keeping bins in a safe, clean and tidy condition.  The customer must not deface them 
or use them for any purpose other than that described in this policy.  If the customer 
wishes to put numbers or any name on the bin, please use self-adhesive 
numbers/letters rather than paint. 

99. If any bin goes missing or is damaged, you are responsible for reporting it to the call 
centre.  The council will repair or replace bins that become damaged through normal 
wear and tear or bins that have been damaged during collections free of charge.  We 
reserve the right to make a charge to cover administration and delivery costs for any 
replacements where they have gone missing or have been damaged because of 
misuse.

Page 35



100. Bins that are reported as missing or damaged will be replaced within 10 working 
days.  Delivery times may exceed this at certain peak times. Customers will be 
advised of delivery timescales when an order is placed.

RECYCLABLE WASTE – GREEN WHEELED BIN 
USE OF SACKS IN THE GREEN WHEELED BIN

101. The council’s preference is for customers to put their recycling loose into the green 
bin.  If sacks are used, they must be clear so the crew can confirm that the correct 
items have been put in the bin.  If the green bin contains recycling in anything other 
than clear sacks it will not be emptied and the process outlined in paragraphs 103 – 
106 will be followed. 

CONTAMINATION

102. If the green recycling bin contains materials that should not be in it, it will not be 
collected.  You can find a full list of the materials we collect on our websites. 

103. Where a green recycling bin has been contaminated a note will be added to the bin 
explaining why it has not been collected.

104. A letter will be sent to the customer to advise them that we were unable to empty a 
recycling bin.

105. On receipt of the letter, the customer must remove the contaminants and once they 
have confirmed this has happened we will empty the bin at the next recycling 
collection. 

106. If the customer is unable to remove the contamination, they must contact the council 
to advise. Where this occurs, we will empty the contaminated recycling bin for 
disposal but reserve the right to invoice the customer to cover our costs.

FOOD WASTE – GREEN CADDY/BLUE BIN
FOOD WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

107. If any additional food waste is put out for collection alongside or on top of a green 
caddy/blue food waste bin it will not be collected.  A note will be added to the 
uncollected waste to explain this. 

CONTAMINATION 

108. If the food waste caddy or blue bin contains anything other than food waste and an 
approved liner it will not be collected.  Customers can find a full list of the materials 
we do collect and information on what liners are acceptable on our websites. 

109. If the food waste caddy or blue bin has not been emptied because it is contaminated, 
our contractor will leave a note explaining the reason for non-collection.  The 
customer will need to remove all contamination from the caddy or bin before the next 
scheduled collection.

Page 36



NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE – GREY WHEELED BIN
NON-RECYCLABLE WASTE (SIDE WASTE)

110. The council will only collect non-recyclable waste that fits in the wheeled bin(s)/sacks 
provided. 

111. If any additional non-recyclable waste is put out for collection alongside or on top of 
the grey wheeled bin, it will not be collected.  A note will be added to the uncollected 
side waste to explain this.

112. If there is so much waste in the wheeled bin that the lid cannot be closed, any waste 
preventing the lid from being closed will be considered to be side waste.  The crew 
will remove the side waste from the bin and empty the rest of the bin’s contents.  The 
side waste will not be collected and a note will be added to the uncollected waste to 
explain this. 

CONTAMINATION

113. There are a range of wastes that cannot be disposed of in the grey bin – for example 
rubble, gas canisters, liquid waste, garden waste and hazardous waste – a full list of 
excluded waste is published on the councils’ websites.  If the collection crew spot any 
of these items, the bin/sack will not be emptied.  A note will be added to explain why 
the bin was not emptied.  The customer must remove these items and the bin will be 
emptied at the next scheduled collection.

Page 37



Annex 1 – classification of waste from non-domestic 
premises, collection/charging regime
TABLE 1 – NON DOMESTIC PREMISES DEFINED AS HOUSEHOLD WASTE – NO CHARGES

Description Classification of waste Examples Exceptions Provision Charges applicable?

A place of worship Household waste Churches, 

Mosques, 

Synagogues, 

Temples

Church halls that are 
hired out

Cemetery waste

Waste from crematoria

A standard set of 
household wheeled 
bins

No

TABLE 2 – NON DOMESTIC PREMISES DEFINED AS HOUSEHOLD WASTE – COLLECTION CHARGES APPLY
Description Classification of waste Examples Exceptions Provision Charges applicable?

A residential hostel 
which provides 
accommodation only 
to persons with no 
other permanent 
address or who are 
unable to live at their 

Household waste Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council 
and the organisation

Collection only

P
age 38



permanent address

Premises used wholly 
or mainly for public 
meetings

Household waste Parish, village and 
town halls. 

As it is likely that very 
little waste is produced 
from public meetings, 
if more waste is 
produced than will fit 
in the standard set of 
wheeled bins, it is 
deemed to be 
commercial waste

A standard set of 
household wheeled 
bins 

Collection only

A charity shop selling 
donated goods 
originating from 
domestic property

Household waste Oxfam and British 
Heart Foundation 
charity shops

The charity’s head 
office or other 
functions

Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council 
and the organisation

Collection only – 
disposal charges can 
also be made for any 
waste that originated 
from non-domestic 
property

Waste from premises 
occupied by—

(a) a community 
interest company 
(being a company 
which is registered as 
such with the registrar 
of companies), or

(b) a charity or other 

Household waste Emmaus, Bicester 
Green, Orinoco

Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council 
and the organisation

Collection only – 
disposal charges can 
also be made for any 
waste that originated 
from non-domestic 
property

P
age 39



not for profit body,

which collects goods 
for re-use or waste to 
prepare for re-use 
from domestic 
property

TABLE 3 – NON DOMESTIC PREMISES DEFINED AS HOUSEHOLD WASTE – COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL 
CHARGES APPLY

Description Classification of waste Examples Exceptions Provision Charges applicable?

A penal institution Household waste Prisons Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council 
and the organisation

Collection and disposal

Waste from a 
residential home or 
land belonging to or 
wholly or mainly used 
in connection with a 
residential home

Household waste Residential care homes Supported living 
accommodation where 
residents inhabit self-
contained apartments 
with their own kitchen 
facilities.

Where supported 
living accommodation 

Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council 
and the organisation 
but not to exceed a 
capacity equivalent to 
each residential unit 

Collection and disposal

P
age 40



includes (for example) 
a canteen or a 
hairdressers, the waste 
produced by these 
functions is deemed to 
be commercial waste

having a standard set 
of individual bins

Waste from premises 
forming part of a 
university, school or 
other educational 
establishment

Household waste Primary schools, 
secondary schools, 
tertiary colleges, 
universities, pre-
schools directly 
associated with a state 
primary school

State schools who 
were already receiving 
a collection from the 
council in April 2012 
are exempt from 
disposal costs.

Private nurseries not 
connected to a primary 
school and 
childminders are not 
deemed to be 
educational 
establishments and 
any waste produced 
would be commercial 

Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council.

Collection and disposal 

P
age 41



Waste from premises 
forming part of a 
hospital or nursing 
home 

Household waste Waste from a 
residential hostel 
forming such part 
which provides 
accommodation only 
to persons with no 
other permanent 
address

Enough bins to ensure 
sufficient capacity is 
provided in agreement 
between the council 
and the organisation.

Collection and disposal

TABLE 4 – NON DOMESTIC PREMISES DEFINED AS COMMERCIAL WASTE – NO COLLECTION PROVIDED
Description Classification of waste Examples Exceptions Provision Charges applicable?

A domestic property, 
vehicle or vessel used 
in the course of a 
business for the 
provision of self-
catering 
accommodation

Commercial waste Holiday cottages, 
narrow boats etc.

No collection provided

A caravan—

(a)used in the course 
of a business for the 
provision of self-
catering 

Commercial waste Caravans on holiday 
sites

No collection provided

P
age 42



accommodation, or

(b)which is not allowed 
to be used for human 
habitation throughout 
the year by virtue of a 
licence or planning 
permission

Premises occupied by a 
charity and wholly or 
mainly used for 
charitable purposes

Commercial waste Where the waste is 
from a place of 
worship or from 
premises used wholly 
or mainly for public 
meetings, it is to be 
treated as household 
waste

No collection provided

A camp site or a tent 
pitched on land other 
than a camp site

Commercial waste Where the waste is 
from domestic 
premises at a camp 
site, it is to be treated 
as household waste

No collection provided

A royal palace Commercial waste No collection provided

Premises occupied by a 
club, society or any 
association of persons 
in which activities are 

Commercial waste Scout/guide groups, 
women’s institute, 
boxing club

No collection provided

P
age 43



conducted for the 
benefit of the 
members

Premises occupied 
by—

(a)a court;

(b)a government 
department;

(c)a local authority;

(d)a person appointed 
by or under any 
enactment to 
discharge public 
functions;

(e)a body incorporated 
by Royal Charter

Commercial waste Parish council offices

Magistrate, county or 
crown courts

Government 
departments and 
agencies – e.g. the 
Environment Agency

No collection provided

A hotel Commercial waste No collection provided

Any part of a 
composite 
hereditament used for 
the purposes of a trade 
or business

Commercial waste Small B&Bs, 
childminders, any 
business run directly 
from a domestic 
premises 

A standard set of 
household wheeled 
bins will be provided 
for the domestic part 
of the hereditament. 

P
age 44



A market or fair Commercial waste No collection provided

The practice of a 
general medical 
practitioner

Commercial waste No collection provided

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Report

Report of Head of Development and Housing
Author: Phil Ealey
Telephone: 01235 422456
Textphone: 18001 01235 422456
E-mail: phil.ealey@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: ALL
Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Lynn Lloyd
Tel: 01844 354313
E-mail: lynn.lloyd@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: 15 June 2017

Use of Flexible Homelessness Support 
Grant

Recommendation

To approve the proposed expenditure of the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant. 

Purpose of Report

1. To seek approval from cabinet for the proposed expenditure by officers of the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant (FHSG) to prevent and relieve homelessness in South 
Oxfordshire.

Corporate Objectives 

2. Developing homes and jobs for everyone, in particular reducing homelessness in the 
district.

Background

3. On 16 March 2017 the Government announced FHSG for councils with housing 
responsibilities.  The grant replaces the Temporary Accommodation Management Fee 
(TAMF) from 1 April 2017.  The grant is ring-fenced for two years for the defined 
purpose of preventing or dealing with homelessness.

 

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 47

mailto:phil.ealey@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:lynn.lloyd@southoxon.gov.uk


4. The TAMF partly reimbursed councils for their expenditure on temporary 
accommodation.  The success of SODC in preventing homelessness resulted in low 
numbers of households in temporary accommodation.  The FHSG received in previous 
years by SODC was therefore a relatively small sum that was returned to the council as 
part of temporary accommodation subsidy. 

5. The Government has however now changed the funding formula and increased the 
grant allocations from 2017/18.  The formula now recognises both the extent to which 
councils are preventing homelessness and the increasing homelessness pressures 
faced by councils across the country.

6. South Oxfordshire Horse District Council has an impressive track record in the 
prevention of homelessness.  The housing needs team prevented 535 households from 
becoming homeless in 2016/17.  This is an increase of 14% compared to the previous 
year.  In the last three years the housing needs team has reduced the number of 
households in temporary accommodation by 38% and expenditure on temporary 
accommodation by 12%.  This is in stark contrast with the national picture where 
homelessness has been increasing since 2010.  

7. The FHSG allocation for South Oxfordshire District Council is £144,134.71 in 2017/18 
and £165,840.99 in 2018/19.  If profiled evenly across two years, the funding is 
£154,987.85 per annum.  Under the old formula, the grant allocation for 2017/18 would 
have been £14,676.48.

8.  Vale Cabinet has requested that the housing team liaise with Communications to 
publicise the achievement of securing a significantly increased grant.  The Housing 
Needs Manager will discuss with South Cabinet whether they would also like to 
publicise the grant award.

9.  The budget to spend the grant will be spread across three years:

2017/18 £  90,000
2018/19 £155,000
2019/20 £  65,000  

10.Officers have considered how the grant can achieve the maximum benefit for reducing   
homelessness in the district.  The assessment criteria used was the effectiveness of  
the expenditure in preventing or relieving homelessness; value for money and 
improved outcomes for residents.

11. The grant-funded positions will be two-year fixed term contracts.

12. The proposed expenditure is detailed in the following table:

Page 48



Description Key benefit SODC grant 
expenditure

VWHDC 
grant 
expenditure

Total

Full-time Housing Needs 
Officer*

 Increased capacity to 
casework homelessness 
prevention or relief cases

£20,813 £20,813 £41,626

Full-time Lettings Officer 
– Allocations*

 Increase capacity to focus 
upon Health & Social 
Assessments and banding 
reviews

£17,616 £17,616 £35,232

Procurement of a Full-
time Floating Support 
Worker

 Early intervention to 
prevent households from 
becoming homeless

£20,000 £20,000 £40,000

Part-time Lettings 
Assistant – Temporary 
Accommodation 
(17.5hrs per week)*

 To support households in 
temporary 
accommodation, including 
rent recovery.

£7,527 £7,527 £15,054

Deposits and rent-in-
advance loans for 
persons moving on from 
supported 
accommodation

 To assist former homeless 
households into more 
permanent 
accommodation

£9,793.70 £9,793.70 £19,587.40

Full-time Research and 
Performance 
Development Officer*

 To improve customer 
knowledge and inform 
further performance 
development

£20,813 £20,813 £41,626

Incentive payments to 
private landlords to 
provide Houses in 
Multiple Occupation 
licensees

 To increase access to 
housing for single persons 
at risk of homelessness

£2,500 £2,500 £5,000

Procurement of a 
Mediation Service

 To help prevent 
relationship and family 
breakdowns that may 
cause homelessness

£3,000 £3,000 £6,000

Increased funding of 
deposits and tenants 
through White Horse 
Lettings

 To increase access to 
housing for households at 
risk of homelessness

£53,057 £0 £53,057

Total grant 
expenditure per annum

£155,119.70 £102,063 £257,183

*on-costs, redundancy costs and office/IT costs included.

Page 49



Options

13. Option 1: To spend FHSG in accordance with the conditions defined by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government, namely; “The Grant is ring-fenced for 
an initial period of two years and during that time may be used only to prevent or deal with 
homelessness.”

14. Option 2: To not spend FHSG. The funding would be returned to the Department of 
Communities and Local Government.

Financial Implications

15. A revenue budget will be created in financial year 2017/18 of £90,000 in accordance 
with paragraph 91a of the Financial Procedure Rules.   A budget will be created in     
2018/19 when the budget is set in February 2018.  The budget will be allocated between 
staffing costs, third party services and tenancy support payments.   The allocation of funds 
between these areas may change, however the total budget will not change.

Legal Implications

16.  There are no legal implications resulting from the proposed expenditure of the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant. 

Risks

17. There is a low risk that the grant will not be effectively managed. This risk will be 
mitigated by Finance ensuring the appropriate financial controls are in place and that the 
budget will be the responsibility of the Housing Needs Manager.

Other implications

18.There is an implication on human resource that has been considered.  Namely, that 
desk space and office equipment has been identified for the new temporary positions.

Conclusion

19. The proposed expenditure of Flexible Homelessness Support Grant will bring 
significant benefits to tackling homelessness across the district.

20. The alternative option would be to return the ring-fenced grant to Department of 
Communities and Local Government and therefore receive no benefit from the grant.

Background Papers

None

Page 50



Cabinet Report

Report of Head of HR, IT and Technical Services
Author: Ben Coleman
Telephone: 01235 422158
Textphone: 1800 01235 422158
E-mail: ben.coleman@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: Cholsey
Cabinet member responsible: Tony Harbour
Tel: 07771 594368
E-mail: tony.harbour@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: Thursday 15 June 2017

Replacement of Moulsford sewage 
treatment works

Recommendations

(a) To begin a procurement process to identify a suitable supplier for a new 
replacement sewage treatment works (STW) at Moulsford.

(b) Subject to the winning tender being within capital allocation, to delegate the award 
of the contract to supply and install a new STW to the head of service in 
consultation with the cabinet member.  Decision to award to be recorded and fully 
documented using ‘record of officer decision’ documentation.

(c) To note that the transfer of budget from the provisional to the approved capital 
programme for the project will be undertaken using an individual cabinet member 
decision once actual costs are known.

Purpose of Report

1. To set out the case for procuring a new STW for Moulsford and to obtain authorisation 
to begin a procurement process to supply and install a new works and to delegate 
authority (subject to financial limits) to award the contract to the Head of Service in 
consultation with the cabinet member.

Corporate objectives 

2. This project falls under a number of corporate objectives including investing in the 
district’s future and services that meet residents’ needs.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 51

mailto:ben.coleman@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tony.harbour@southoxon.gov.uk


Background

3. Moulsford is not on mains waste water drainage and a small council owned STW 
serves 57 properties in the village.  Properties not connected to the works have other 
separate arrangements for dealing with their waste water such as septic tanks.  The 
location of the works is shown in appendix one.

4. The current STW is composed of two connected sections, as shown on the plan in 
appendix one.  Waste water flows from the houses through a private sewer into a three 
stage solids collection tank located to the rear of 42 Underhill.  The waste water is then 
pumped up hill to two filter beds located behind 25 Underhill where the water is treated 
and discharged to the ground via land drains and ditches.  There is no roadway to the 
filter bed site so vehicle access to maintain the filter beds is difficult. 

5. The District Council owns and is responsible for the running and maintenance of the 
existing system.  

6. To try to reduce future council liabilities a significant amount of officer time has been 
invested in negotiating with Thames Water to try to persuade them to adopt a new 
STW once we have upgraded the works.  Unfortunately, because the site access is too 
narrow to accommodate Thames Water’s standard sized vacuum tankers they are not 
willing to do this.  The council plans to empty the new system using a smaller tanker 
(as we do now), but Thames Water only want to use large tankers which can access 
any of their works. 

7. The possibility of discharging the sewage to public sewers on the east side of the river 
Thames in South Stoke was also explored with Thames Water in 2013/14. This option 
would mean that a STW in Moulsford was not necessary.  Unfortunately this was 
discounted due to the very high construction costs.

8. Officers have serious concerns about the environmental performance of the current 
STW which does not have a discharge consent from the Environment Agency.  The 
works urgently need to be replaced.

9. The council has allocated £300,000 in the provisional capital programme to pay for a 
replacement STW at Moulsford.  This amount is considered sufficient to replace the 
works with the proposed system.

10.The council obtained planning permission for a new package works on 10 March 2016, 
reference P15/S4368/FUL.  The proposed location and layout of the new system is 
shown in appendix two. The design is similar to that shown in appendix three.  

11. It is intended to install the new works adjacent to the current solids tanks and pumping 
station, and to discharge treated waste water across land owned by SOHA into the 
highways road drainage system. The Environment Agency, SOHA and the Highways 
Authority have indicated that they would be content with the proposed waste water 
discharge arrangements and we are in the process of formalising these consents.

12.To facilitate access to the new works, because they will be located slightly further from 
the road and around a tight right angle bend, one garage on the site needs to be 
removed.  

Page 52



13.Following the installation of the new STW the current works will need to be made safe 
for the long term. It is planned to consider this aspect in more detail once the new 
works are operational. 

14.The proposed procurement process will be managed by Capita procurement through 
an open tender process advertised via the Capita portal.  Monson Engineering will act 
as technical consultants for the procurement and project managers for the construction.

15.The evaluation of tenders will be undertaken against a published criteria by a panel 
including Capita, Monson and council technical and legal staff.  A document detailing 
the evaluation of each tender will be prepared along with a recommendation to the 
head of service for technical services and the portfolio holder, if appropriate, regarding 
which tender is considered best value.

16.On consideration of the evaluation report the decision to award of the contract will be 
delegated to the Head of Service for technical services in consultation with the cabinet 
member.

Options

17.Do nothing: This is considered a less favourable option because the STW has gone 
beyond its design life and needs to be replaced.

18.Upgrade rather than replace the current works:  The design for the new works will 
be three times larger than the current works and therefore refurbishment is not a 
realistic option. 

19.Connect to the Thames Water sewer:  Connecting the private drainage system at 
Moulsford to Thames Waters’ sewer on the opposite side of the river at South Stoke, 
making a treatment plant in Moulsford unnecessary, was costed in June 2014. The 
costs for constructing a sewer and upgrading the current Thames Water sewer and 
sewage works to receive the waste were estimated at £2,364,500.  To proceed with 
this proposal Thames Water would require the council to meet these costs for the 
proposal to be viable.  This option was discounted on cost grounds at the time and is 
still considered unacceptably high.

20.Replace STW in line with report recommendations.

Financial implications

21.The council has allocated £300,000 in the provisional capital programme to pay for a 
replacement STW at Moulsford.  This amount is considered to be sufficient, but costs 
have not yet been confirmed in the market.  The transfer of budget from the provisional 
to the approved capital programme for the project will be undertaken using an 
individual cabinet member decision once actual costs are known.

22.Ongoing maintenance and running costs of the new plant will be met by residents in 
the same way as for the current plant. This is calculated by adding up the costs for 
running all the council’s STW then dividing the total by the number of properties served 
by all the works.  The council’s current policy on calculating charges for residents using 
council owned STWs only allow for recovery of ongoing maintenance and running 
costs not capital spent on upgrading works. 

Page 53



Legal implications

23.Planning permission has been granted for the proposed new STW, reference 
P15/S4368/FUL.

24.Building regulations approval for the works and also permission to discharge the 
treated effluent from the STW into the highways surface water drain across SOHA land 
will also need to be obtained from SOHA, the Environment Agency and Oxfordshire 
County Council Highways authority who own the drain.

25.Following the tender process a form of works contract a suitable standard form of 
works contract will be entered into with the  selected provider to address risk and 
liability of the parties

Risks

26.As above officers are in the process of formalising consents with SOHA, the 
Environment Agency and the Highways Authority, but until they are formalised there is 
a risk that they will not be forthcoming.  This risk is considered to be low.

27.Building regulations permission will be needed for the STW.  The design is very similar 
to other package STWs the council has recently installed in other locations and 
obtaining building regulations approval is considered to be relatively straightforward.  

Other implications

28.None

Conclusion

29.Officers have considered a range of options to resolve the capacity, design problems 
and age of the current STW.  Having considered the options the preferred proposal is 
to undertake an open tender to replace the current STW with a new system designed 
to accommodate the volume of sewage produced by the 57 houses connected.

30.Having undertaken a tender evaluation process it is proposed that the decision to 
award of the contract will be delegated to the head of service for technical services in 
consultation with the portfolio holder, provided that the total project costs (including 
build and project management costs) are less than the current budget of £300,000.  In 
the event that costs are above the current budget a further report recommending a 
course of action will be presented for consideration by portfolio holder/cabinet.

Background Papers

None

Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Samantha Allen 

Telephone: 07717 274692 

E-mail: samantha.allen@southandvale.gov.uk 

Wards affected: Cholsey 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Felix Bloomfield 

E-mail: felix.bloomfield@southandvale.gov.uk 

To: CABINET 

Date: 16 June 2017 

 

 

Article 4(1) Direction served at 

Kingsholme Close, East Hagbourne 

Recommendation 

(a) That Cabinet confirms the Article 4(1) Direction served at Kingsholme Close in East 
Hagbourne making it permanently binding. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report provides background to the serving of an Article 4(1) Direction in East 
Hagbourne and takes into account the representations received during the 
consultation period following the serving of the direction in order to recommend the 
direction is confirmed and made permanently binding. 

Corporate Objectives  

2. Under Schedule 3 of the GPDO 2015, the council has the powers to serve a 
direction removing certain specified classes of permitted development where it 
considers that an area is of sufficient character and interest to warrant additional 
management of works that would otherwise be allowed.  

3. In the case of Kingsholme Close, the residents first made the direct request to the 
Council to consider serving a notice to provide these additional controls specifically 
for this group of houses. The serving of this direction therefore not only meets the 
obligation of Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 to take steps to preserve and enhance conservation areas but also fulfils 
our duty to reflect our resident’s needs.  

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 59



 

Background 

4. Kingsholme Close is a cul-de-sac on the south side of Main Road in East 
Hagbourne.  There are four houses to either side, arranged symmetrically, with a 
ninth house beyond on the west side.  The houses were built in the late 1960s in an 
Arts & Crafts manner designed by Eric Throssell, a distinguished Buckinghamshire 
architect.  Throssell worked in the Government’s Department of Ancient Monuments 
and Historic Buildings after WWII.  He then formed his own practice and, in 2000, he 
was awarded the MBE for his contribution to conservation and the built environment. 

5. The houses are plain rendered with steep tiled roofs and they have historical 
references in their planked doors, leaded windows and distinctive chimney stacks.  
They are remarkable for having survived for 50 years without any significant 
changes to their uniform appearance.  The layout is also important:  the first houses 
are stepped, attracting attention into the Close.  Apart from short walls forming an 
entrance to the Close, the front gardens are open as if fronting onto a village green. 

6. A request was made by the residents of Kingsholme Close to remove certain 
specific classes of permitted development by serving an Article 4(1) Direction. 
Following careful consideration and assessment of the suitability of Kingsholme 
Close to receive this added layer of protection, an Article 4(1) Direction was served 
with immediate effect on 15 February 2017. A copy of the direction can be found at 
Appendix 1 to this report. 

7. In line with the Council’s statement of community engagement, the serving of the 
Article 4(1) Direction was accompanied by a 6 week period of public consultation. 
This was held between 15 February and 29 March 2017. 

8. The full record of the responses received can be found at Appendix 2 to this report.  

9. Representations were received from all but one of the nine houses within the close. 
The Conservation and Design Team understand that one of the dwellings is 
currently vacant. Additional responses received included those from other residents 
of East Hagbourne and from the Parish Council.  

10. All the responses received from residents were in favour of the serving of the 
Direction and in agreement with the classes of development that were removed by 
the notice or wished to provide no comment.  

11. Additional comments were also received from the residents of the close that 
supported and encouraged the Council to confirm of the direction.   

Options 

12. There are two options for Cabinet: 

a) To confirm the Article 4(1) Direction appended to this report and make it 
permanently binding 

b) To decide not to confirm the Article 4(1) Direction appended to this report and 
allow it to expire at the end of the 6 month period (15 August 2017) 

Page 60



 

Financial Implications 

13. There is no charge applicable for planning applications arising from an Article 4(1) 
Direction; this cost would be met through existing resources.  

Legal Implications 

14. An Article 4(1) Direction is recorded as a local land charge. 

15. An Article 4(1) Direction does not prevent development, but it does require planning 
permission to be obtained.  In making decisions, the Council can then take account 
of local character as well as the interests of the applicant. 

Risks 

16. There is a risk that the council could be liable to pay compensation to those whose 
permitted development rights have been withdrawn, but only if it then subsequently:  

 refuses planning permission for development which would otherwise have 
been permitted development; or  

 grants planning permission subject to more limiting conditions than the 
General Permitted Development Order.  

17. The grounds on which compensation can be claimed are limited to abortive 
expenditure or other loss or damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of 
permitted development rights [Paragraph 042 of the NPPG]. Previous Article 4 
Directions in the district have not generated claims for compensation or had any 
significant impact on workload, fee income or claims for compensation. 

Other implications 

18. None 

Conclusion 

19. Having regard to the favourable responses received during the consultation period, it 
is recommended that the Article 4(1) Direction served on 15 February 2017 is 
confirmed and made permanently binding. 

20. This report provides the background and justification to request that Cabinet confirms 
the attached direction.  

 

Background Papers 

Appendix 1. Article 4(1) Direction served 15 February 2017 
Appendix 2. Record of Consultation Responses received 

Page 61



 

 
Appendix 1 
Article 4(1) Direction Served 15 February 2017

Page 62



 Page 63



 Page 64



 Page 65



 

 

Page 66



 

 
Appendix 2 
Consultation Responses Received 15 February to 29 March 2017.

Page 67



 

Kingsholme Close Article 4(1) Direction responses received during public consultation 15 February to 29 March 2017 
          

Method  UserID Type Organisation Job title Title First name 
Last 
name 

Address line 
1 

Address 
line 2 

Add
ress 
line 
3 

Postal 
town Postcode 

Telephone 
number Email address 

Do you 
agree with 
the serving  
of the 
Article 4(1) 
Direction at  
Kingsholme 
Close, East 
Hagbourne? 

Comments: 
(on serving  
of Article 4) 

Do you 
agree with 
the classes  
of 
development 
that are  
removed by 
this notice, 
as  
listed on the 
Article 4 (1) 
Direction? 

Comments: 
(classes  
of 
development 
that are  
removed by 
this notice, 
as  
listed on the 
Article 4 (1) 
Direction) 

Please write any 
other comments  
on the Article 4(1) 
Direction below: 

Smart 
Survey  52805513 Organisation 

South 
Oxfordshire 
District 
Council 
(Policy 
Department) 

Enquirie
s Officer xx xxxxxx xxxxxx 

135 Eastern 
Avenue 

Milton 
Park 

 
Abingdon 

OX14 
4SB x 

xxxxxx xxxxxx 
xxxxxx Yes 

Planing policy 
department is 
in agreement 
of support Yes 

Planing policy 
department is 
in agreement 
of support - 

Smart 
Survey  53173148 Organisation 

East 
Hagbourne 
Parish 
Council 

Parish 
Clerk xx xxxxxx xxxxxx 

26 Eaton 
Village - - Eaton 

OX13 
5PR x 

xxxxxx xxxxxx 
xxxxxx Yes - Yes - - 

Smart 
Survey  52510038 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxx xxxxxx 12 Main Road 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LJ xxxxxx 

xxxxxx xxxxxx 
xxxxxx xxxxxx Yes 

Kingsholme 
Close is an 
exemplar 
quality 
modern 
development 
of the type 
that I would 
like to see 
more of. It 
works so well 
due to the 
quality of the 
design, the 
materials 
used, and 
layout but also 
because its 
uniform 
appearance 
has survived 
which makes 
it very special. 
The article 4 
direction will 
help ensure 
this continues. Yes - 

I very much hope 
that you receive the 
support that this 
important proposition 
deserves.Kingsholme 
is an important part 
of East Hagbourne's 
Conservation Area 
.At present it makes 
a very positive 
contribution and I 
want to keep it that 
way. 

Smart 
Survey  52990339 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxx xxxxxx 

Farthings, 
Blewbury 
Road 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot 

OX11 
9LF xxxxxx 

xxxxxx xxxxxx 
xxxxxx Yes 

I am delighted 
that this 
beautiful close 
of small 
houses is to 
be protected. I 
have always 
appreciated 
it's special 
atmosphere, 
and now 
know, 
following our 
village 
character 
assessment, Yes - - 

P
age 68



 

that it is even 
considered of 
National 
significance. I 
applaud the 
residents of 
Kingsholm 
Close and 
SODC in 
carrying this 
forward. 

Smart 
Survey  52517203 Individual 

  
xxx xxxxxxx xxxxx 

4 Kingsholme 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx Yes 

The unique 
character and 
fitting 
architectural 
nature of 
Kingsholme 
Close have 
been 
summarised 
in the Public 
Notice from 
Adrian 
Duffield dated 
15/02/2017. 
The collective 
appearance of 
the homes 
that make up 
the Close, as 
designed by 
celebrated 
architect Eric 
Throssell, has 
survived more 
than 50 years 
and, located 
in the heart of 
the village of 
East 
Hagbourne, 
compliments 
the villages 
heritage. 
Without 
protection 
from 
otherwise 
permitted 
minor 
development, 
the uniform 
nature of the 
homes within 
this Close 
could be 
compromised 
permanently 
should such 
development 
not be 
sympathetic to 
existing 
architecture. 
Given the 
arguably 
transient 
nature of 
home 
ownership 
generally, 
including 
Kingshome 
Close, it's not 
unreasonable 
to anticipate 
that this is 
likely to occur Yes 

This notice 
and the 
classes of 
development 
it removes is 
both 
reasonable 
and 
proportionate. 
It provides 
control 
through 
existing 
planning 
processes of 
the frontages 
of homes 
within 
Kingsholme 
Close, and in 
doing so 
seeks to 
maintain the 
existing 
aesthetics of 
this small 
group of 
homes. The 
impact of this 
Article 4 
Direction is 
not intrusive, 
as it simply 
governs 
certain minor 
developments 
through 
existing 
planning 
controls 
rather than 
barring any 
such 
development, 
with no 
additional 
financial 
burden to 
those seeking 
to so develop.  

I support this Article 
4 Direction without 
reserve.  

P
age 69



 

at some point. 
The protection 
afforded by 
this Article 4 
Direction 
provides 
welcome 
control 
measures 
against 
otherwise 
potentially 
unsympathetic 
and otherwise 
uncontrolled 
development 
of existing 
properties. 

Smart 
Survey  53219508 Individual 

  
xxxx xxxx xxxxxxxx 

Farthings, 
Blewbury 
Road 

East 
Hagbourne - DIDCOT 

OX11 
9LF xxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxx Yes - Yes - 

This is a beautifully 
planned close, in 
keeping with the 
village architecture, 
and of outstanding 
quality. It needs 
preserving. 

Smart 
Survey  53243699 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxxxx xxxxxx Manor Farm 

East 
Hagbourne - OX119ND - xxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxx Yes - Yes - - 

Postal 
Form 
(uploaded)  53388455 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxxxx xxxxxxxxx 

7 Kingsholm 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx x Yes 

We agree with 
the Article 
4(1) as we 
would like the 
appearance of 
our close to 
remain the 
same. Yes - - 

Smart 
Survey  53962323 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxxxx xxxxxx 

5 Kingsholm 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
x 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx Yes 

As one of the 
residents who 
has 
expressed 
concern in the 
recent past 
about the 
need to 
protect the 
established 
character of 
Kingsholme 
Close, I fully 
support the 
serving of this 
Direction  Yes 

The Direction 
appropriately 
restricts the 
scope of 
permitted 
development 
rights within 
the Close. 

I trust the Council will 
confirm the Direction 
in order that the 
unique architectural 
character of the 
Close, located as it is 
within the centre of a 
conservation area, 
may be protected in 
the long term  

Smart 
Survey  53964474 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxxx xxxxx 

5 Kingsholme 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxx Yes - Yes - 

I sincerely hope this 
direction is made 
permanent by the 
Council. 

P
age 70



 

Smart 
Survey  54516959 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxxxxx xxxxxx 

4 Kingsholm 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne 

Didc
ot Oxon OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxx Yes 

I feel the 
Article 4 (1) 
Direction is 
really 
important to 
keep this 
unique Close 
which is 
surrounded by 
listed 
buildings 
looking so 
pretty and 
uniform.  It is 
in the centre 
of the village 
and falls 
within the 
Conservation 
area.   
Without this 
protection 
afforded by an 
Article 4 the 
houses 
unique 
appearance 
are put at risk 
when 
ownership is 
changed.   I 
personally 
have been 
asking for this 
for 3 years 
and have 
gained the 
support of the 
Parish Council 
and other 
residents 
within the 
Close.   
Myself and my 
husband Dan 
Harris are fully 
supportive of 
the serving of 
an Article 4 
Direction. Yes - 

I would like to thank 
Samantha for all her 
hard work on this and 
sincerely hope that 
the Article 4 Direction 
is confirmed. 

Smart 
Survey  54610011 Individual 

  
xx xxxx xxxx 

1 Kingsholm 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxx Yes 

This is a 
beautiful little 
close with 
some 
interesting 
and important 
architectural 
features that 
are well worth 
preserving in 
their original 
design and 
landscape. 
We are so 
pleased that 
the council 
agrees. Yes - 

Thank you for 
approving this 
petition for all the 
residents in 
Kingsholm Close. 

Smart 
Survey  54616248 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxxxxx xxxxxxxx 24 The Croft 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot 

OX11 
9LS xxxxxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxx Yes 

I think it is 
important to 
maintain the 
character of 
the close as it 
has been kept 
so far since 
the 60s. This 
is also 
important to 
the character Yes - - 

P
age 71



 

of the whole 
village as the 
close, 
although a 
60s 
development 
blends in well 
with this 
beautiful 
village with it's 
conservation 
areas and 
listed 
buildings. 

Smart 
Survey  54616467 Individual 

  
xxxx xxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxx
x 

8 Kingsholm 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL xxxxxxxxx xxxxxxxxxxx Yes 

It is important 
that the front 
exterior of the 
houses in the 
close remain 
in the original 
design of the 
architect. Yes - 

We are happy that 
the article is put in 
place 

Smart 
Survey  54618826 Individual 

  
Ms Alison Chadwick  

2 Kingsholm 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - OXON OX11 9LL xxxxxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxx Yes - Yes - - 

Smart 
Survey  54623776 Individual 

  
xx xxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxx
x 

1 Kingsholme 
Close - - 

East 
Hagbourne OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxx Yes 

This proposal 
will benefit the 
community. Yes - 

This is a worthwhile 
initiative to preserve 
a distinctive feature 
of the community. 

Postal 
Form 
(uploaded)  54830909 Individual 

  
xx xxxxx xxxxxxxxx 

9 Kingsholme 
Close 

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL xxxxxx x Yes - Yes - 

We fully support 
South Oxfordshire 
District Council in 
serving an Article 4 
(1) Direction for 
Kingsholme Close, 
East Hagbourne.  
Furthermore, it will 
protect the existing 
built development 
and control the type 
of development that 
may occur in the 
future.  The existing 
development is a 
homogeneous 
design and forms 
and integral part of 
the East Hagbourne 
Conservation area - 
Signed by John 
Charles Townsend 
and Yvonne 
Townsend. Note on 
front page -  My wife, 
Yvonne Townsend 
and myself have 
lived at 9 Kingsholme 
Close since June 
17th 1983 and are 
Proprietors of the 
Freehold land known 
as 9 Kingshome 
Close. 

Postal 
Form 
(uploaded)  54870346 Individual 

  
xx  xxxxx xxxxxxx 

6 Kingsholme 
Close  

East 
Hagbourne - Didcot OX11 9LL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxx x Yes - Yes - - 

Email  A4EP001 Organisation 

Scottish and  
Southern 
Electricity 
Networks  

Network
s 
Connect
ions  
Plannin
g 
Enginee
r xx  xxxxx xxxxxxxx  

1 Woodstock 
Road Yarnton 

 
Kidlington OX5 1NY 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxx No comment 

    

P
age 72



 

Email  A4EP002 Organisation 

Environment 
Agency  
(Thames 
Area) 

Sustain
able 
Places 
Plannin
g 
Speciali
st  xx xxxxxx xxxxxxxxx Not provided 

Not 
provided 

 

Not 
provided 

Not 
provided 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx  No comment 

    

Email  A4EP003 Organisation 

Oxfordshire 
County 
Council  

Environ
mental 
Strategy 
Officer xx  xxxxxxx xxxxxxxx Signal Court Old Station Way Eynsham 

OX29 
4TL 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxxxxxx No comment 

We would 
defer to the 
landscape 
and ecological 
expertise 
already 
available 
within the 
district 
council. 

   

Email  A4EP004 Organisation 
Natural 
England 

Consult
ations 
Team xx xxxxxxx xxxxxxx County Hall 

Spetchley 
Road 

 
Worcester WR5 2NP 

xxxxxxxxxxx
xxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxx  No comment 

Natural 
England does 
not consider 
that this 
Article (4) 
Direction 
poses any 
likely risk or 
opportunity in 
relation to our 
statutory 
purpose, and 
so does not 
wish to 
comment on 
this 
consultation. 

   

Email  A4EP004 Organisation 

Thames 
Valley 
Environmental 
Records 
Centre 

Biodiver
sity 
Data 
Assistan
t xx xxxxxxxx  xxxxxxxx  

c/o 
Countryside 
Service, 
Oxfordshire 
County 
Council 

Signal 
Court 

Old 
Stati
on 
Way Eynsham 

OX29 
4TL xxxxxxxxxx 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxx 

Not relevant 
for 
organisation  

We have been 
sent this in 
error. TVERC 
do not have 
any 
involvement 
with the 
historic built 
environment, 
we collate and 
manage 
wildlife 
environmental 
data and as 
an impartial 
body do not 
comment on 
planning 
applications 
which is the 
remit of your 
ecologist 
Dominic 
Lamb.  Can 
you update 
your 
consultee 
details please. 

   

P
age 73



 

 

Page 74



Cabinet Report

Report of Head of Planning
Author: Planning Policy South – Gary Palmer
Telephone: 07717 271 930
Textphone: 
E-mail: gary.palmer@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: All wards
Cabinet member responsible: Cllr John Cotton
E-mail: leader@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: 15 June 2017

South Oxfordshire District Council - 
Statement of Community Involvement: 
Planning Service – April 2017

Recommendations

1. To adopt the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), April 2017 as set out under 
Appendix 1 of this report. 

2. To authorise the Head of Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning to make any minor changes, typographical corrections or non-material 
amendments to the SCI prior to formal publication.

Purpose of Report

1. To report to Cabinet the key issues raised following the six-week public consultation 
and to recommend that Cabinet adopts the new ‘South Oxfordshire District Council - 
Statement of Community Involvement: Planning Service – April 2017’ as set out in 
Appendix 1.

Corporate Objectives 

2. Setting out how the council will engage our communities and businesses in the 
planning process will contribute to the council’s corporate priority, ‘To Build Thriving 
Communities’.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 75

mailto:gary.palmer@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:leader@southoxon.gov.uk


Background

3. The adoption of a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a requirement of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).

4. The SCI sets out how South Oxfordshire District Council will engage with our 
communities and businesses so they can comment on:
 planning applications
 the formation of new planning policy (such as the Local Plan)

5. Our current SCI was adopted on 6 July 2006. It is now out of date. The new 2017 SCI, 
if adopted, would replace the current 2006 SCI.

6. Process

7. On 13 September 2016 a draft version of the SCI received approval via an Individual 
Cabinet Member Decision for a six-week public consultation (along with an Equalities 
Impact Assessment (Appendix 2)).

8. At the same time as the SCI consultation, the opportunity was used to update the 
planning consultation mailing list to assist with future planning policy consultations. 
Online consultation software named ‘Smart Survey’ was also used for the first time (as 
opposed to existing software named ‘Objective’) to assess alternative consultation 
software.

9. Public consultation

10.A public consultation on the draft SCI and Equalities Impact Assessment was 
undertaken for six weeks from 11 January to 22 February 2017. There is a background 
report on the results of the consultation providing more detail in Appendix 3. The 
consultation asked for feedback on the format, layout and content of the draft SCI. 

11.Public consultation summary:

 168 responses were received
 85% of respondents completed the consultation online
 92% rated the format and layout of the draft SCI as reasonable or good 
 48% rated the consultation survey method as satisfied or very satisfied
 For methods of consultation:

o 79% rated online questionnaires as a good or average 
o 78% and 74% rated public meetings and public exhibitions as a good or 

average 
o social media received a lower rating with 36% rating it as poor
o 80% rated email communication as a good method

 Respondents from the working age population were under-represented whilst those 
of the 65+ age group were over-represented

 71 comments were made regarding changes to the SCI
 Several respondents used the consultation as an opportunity to raise general issues 

about other planning matters

12.Changes to the SCI following public consultation

Page 76



 Title of the SCI changed to refer to the planning service for clarity
 Improved introduction setting out the purpose of the SCI
 Text simplified or clarified in several sections
 Additional links to planning information webpages added
 Additional information on Developer Forums added
 Information provided on how we will work with those promoting development sites 

to make those affected aware of new planning proposals
 General corrections made

13.These small changes are captured and tracked in the attached ‘tracked changes’ 
version of the SCI; Appendix 4.  

Options

14.Option 1 – continue to use the current 2006 SCI. The 2006 SCI is out of date and 
therefore this is not recommended as an appropriate option.

15.Option 2 – request that the attached 2017 version of the SCI is subject to major 
changes and subject to the full consultation process again.

16.Option 3 – adopt this new 2017 SCI as attached, with delegation to the Head of 
Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning to make any minor 
changes, typographical corrections or non-material amendments to the SCI prior to 
formal publication. This is the recommended option.

Financial Implications

17.Publication costs of the SCI will be absorbed within existing budgets.

18.The SCI provides guidance on how the council will engage our communities and 
businesses in the planning process. Community and business engagement are on-
going costs of the planning service and would remain unchanged by the adoption of 
this new SCI.

Legal Implications

19.Any legal implications are addressed in the general body of the report.

Risks

20.A decision to not adopt the 2017 SCI would leave the council with the out of date 2006 
SCI which could result in confusion on how the council engages with our communities 
and businesses on planning matters and the possibility of not complying with current 
legislation. Having an up-to-date SCI helps to ensure clarity on how we consult on 
planning matters.

Conclusion

21. It is recommended that Cabinet adopts the new ‘South Oxfordshire District Council - 
Statement of Community Involvement: Planning Service – April 2017’ with delegation to 
the Head of Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning to make 
any minor changes, typographical corrections or non-material amendments to the SCI 
prior to formal publication.  

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council  
 
Statement of Community 
Involvement: Planning Service 
 
 
April 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 79



Page 2 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Contents 
 
1 Introduction ......................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement? ......................................... 3 

1.2 Our values and vision for community involvement in planning ...................... 4 

2 Our Principles for Community Engagement and Involvement in Planning .......... 4 

3 Possible Methods of Community Involvement .................................................... 5 

4 Duty to Co-operate .............................................................................................. 6 

5 Community Involvement in Planning Policy ........................................................ 7 

5.1 Policy documents we consult on ................................................................... 7 

5.2 Who we consult on planning policy ............................................................... 9 

5.3 Main stages of policy preparation ................................................................ 10 

5.4 How we will respond to you on planning policy ........................................... 16 

6 Community Involvement in Planning Applications ............................................. 16 

6.1 Before an application is submitted .............................................................. 17 

6.2 How we publicise and consult on planning applications .............................. 18 

6.3 When we re-consult .................................................................................... 20 

6.4 How decisions on planning applications are made ...................................... 21 

6.5 Planning appeals ......................................................................................... 21 

6.6 How we will respond to you on planning applications ................................. 22 

7 How to Comment .............................................................................................. 22 

8 Appendix 1 - Consultation Bodies ..................................................................... 24 

9 Appendix 2 - Public Consultation by Type of Planning Application or 
Development Proposal ............................................................................................. 26 

 
 

  

Page 80



Page 3 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

1 Introduction 
 
Most new buildings or major changes to existing buildings or to the local environment 
need consent, known as planning permission. Without a planning system anyone 
could construct buildings or use land in any way they wanted, no matter what effect 
this would have on other people who live and work in their area. The Council is 
usually responsible for deciding whether a development, anything from an extension 
on a house to a new shopping centre, should go ahead. There is a separate planning 
system for nationally significant infrastructure projects such as power stations and 
major transport schemes. The County Council also separately deals with some 
planning applications, for example regarding the extraction of minerals. 
 
Useful websites providing information on the planning system include: 
 

 www.planningportal.co.uk 
 

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/  
 

 www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-
system 

 
Some types of development may already be permitted nationally, and for these there 
is no need to apply for planning permission locally. These are known as Permitted 
Development Rights.  
 
In order to make decisions on planning applications the Council sets out policies in a 
Development Plan such as the Local Plan. If planning permission is required it will be 
decided in line with these policies, unless there is a very good reason not to do so. 
The Development Plan can comprise a Local Plan, a Neighbourhood Plan and other 
policy documents. Writing and approving a Development Plan normally takes a long 
time with many stages in the process. 
 

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement? 
 
South Oxfordshire District Council is committed to working in a clear and transparent 
way and is keen to assist anyone who may wish to be involved in the planning 
process. Our Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how we will 
engage with our communities and businesses so they can comment on planning 
applications and new Development Plans.  
 
The preparation of a SCI is a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (as amended).  
 
The legal requirement for public consultation on Development Plans is set out in The 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
The legal requirement for public consultation on planning applications is set out in 
Article 15 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

Page 81

http://www.planningportal.co.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-system
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-system
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made


Page 4 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

(England) Order 2015. There are separate arrangements for listed buildings which 
are set out in Regulation 5 and Regulation 5A of the Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas Regulations 1990 (as amended). 
 
 

1.2 Our values and vision for community involvement in planning  
 
This SCI complements our strategic objectives and priorities set out in our Corporate 
Plan, Public Engagement Charter and our Customer Service Standards. These 
documents are available on line: 
 

 www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/corporate-plan  
 

 www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/our-commitments-public-
engagement 

 

 www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards 
 

This SCI recognises the needs of different groups within our community, the value of 
equality and the diversity that our communities represent.  
 
We strongly encourage and will support local communities who wish to prepare 
Neighbourhood Plans. 
 
We wish to ensure that people are involved at the early stage of Local Plan 
preparation and in the consideration of planning applications. We want people to feel 
that they can make a real difference to the future of the areas in which they live and 
work. 
 
Our aspiration is that: 
 
The community of South Oxfordshire should be enabled to participate meaningfully 
in the development of planning policies and proposals contained in the Local Plan 

and in the consideration of planning applications in the district. 
 

2 Our Principles for Community Engagement and 
Involvement in Planning 

 
Communicate clearly 

 We will keep the process simple by writing our documents in plain English and 
explaining any planning terms that we need to use. 

 We will explain clearly what we are consulting on and the reasons why we 
want to involve you. 

 
Early involvement 

 We will ensure early involvement with our local community in the preparation 
of our planning policy documents, so that you are involved from the start. 

Page 82

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1519/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1519/contents/made
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/corporate-plan
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/our-commitments-public-engagement
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/our-commitments-public-engagement
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards


Page 5 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 
Recognising the needs of different groups in the community 

 We will communicate in ways that are relevant and accessible to all sections 
of our community. 

 We will aim to engage with groups in our community that may find us less 
accessible, these are sometimes referred to as hard to reach groups. 

 We will encourage involvement from groups that have traditionally not been 
involved in the planning process.  For example, we will engage young people 
through targeted events in schools and other settings.  

 
Providing clear opportunities for involvement 

 We will provide clear and up-to-date information on the consultation 
processes we use in preparing our policy documents. 

 We will ensure information is provided at the earliest opportunity and give you 
time to respond.  

 We will involve you in all stages of plan making. 
 

Ease of access to information 

 We will maximise the use of internet in our consultations. 

 We will also recognise that other forms of engagement are necessary for 
those who do not have access to the internet. 

 We will be inclusive by providing our information in an accessible format. 

 We will make our information publicly available (for example, information on 
the progress of proposals and how your comments have been taken into 
account). 

 
Providing feedback and sharing information 

 We will make our planning documents and background studies readily 
available to the public on our website and in hard copy at our local deposit 
points (including local libraries and council offices). 

 We will keep you informed of progress and outcomes. 
 
We keep an up-to-date database of individuals, groups and stakeholders who we 
regularly contact on planning matters. This database is updated continuously.  If you 
would like to be added to the database or need to amend your details, please email 
planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk or call our Customer Service Team on 01235 
422600.  
 

3 Possible Methods of Community Involvement 
 
We will seek to utilise the most appropriate ways in which to consult and engage the 
community. We will clearly identify a responsible officer or team for the policy or the 
planning application. 
 
Table 1 sets out a list of possible methods. The list is not exhaustive and there may 
be other ways we might engage. The type of methods used will be tailored to the 
needs of the community, the subject or nature of the information, and the resources 

Page 83

mailto:planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk


Page 6 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

available. We will aim to use methods that enable all sections of the community to be 
informed and to have the opportunity to contribute. These methods will vary 
according to the scope and nature of each individual consultation and to ensure the 
most effective consultation methods are used. 
 
In most instances, the information you will need in relation to plan-making and 
planning applications can be found on our website.  If you still have questions after 
looking at that information, you may wish to contact our Customer Services Team on 
01235 422600 (Text phone users add 18001 before you dial)*. 
 
You may also wish to contact your local councillor to discuss your views, or to seek 
their help with a planning proposal in your area.  Contact details of local ward 
councillors are available at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/local-
democracy/councillors-committees-meetings-and-agendas 
 
Further information on our constitution and the involvement of councillors can be 
accessed online at: 
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/documents/s11213/ConstitutionMarch2017.pdf  
 
 
Table 1: Methods we use to consult on our planning policy documents: 
 

 email alerts to consultees registered on our database (for planning related 
matters) 

 formal notices in newspapers circulating across the district*  

 leaflets, posters and bulletins (paper and/or email) 

 letters and emails to groups and individuals e.g. South Oxfordshire 
community, email bulletins 

 press releases to local media including local radio and television 

 public exhibitions, staffed and un-staffed 

 public meetings and discussion groups 

 questionnaires and response forms (online and paper copies) 

 social media 

 targeted events with access groups, minority groups and young people  

 targeted work with community groups and voluntary organisations (e.g. 
schools) 

 targeted work with residents’ panels  

 information on our website  

 workshops or focus groups (e.g. town and parish councils, stakeholders) 
 
* Statutory requirement 

 

4 Duty to Co-operate 
 
Section 110 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out a legal duty on local planning 
authorities, county councils and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and 
on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan preparation in the 

Page 84

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/local-democracy/councillors-committees-meetings-and-agendas
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/local-democracy/councillors-committees-meetings-and-agendas
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/documents/s11213/ConstitutionMarch2017.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/110/enacted


Page 7 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

context of strategic cross boundary matters. The duty to cooperate is not a duty to 
agree, but we will make every effort to secure necessary cooperation. The Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out the public 
bodies that we are required to co-operate with. 
 
In addition to these public bodies we will exercise our duty to cooperate with our 
neighbouring councils which are: 

 Aylesbury Vale District Council 

 Cherwell District Council 

 Oxford City Council 

 Oxfordshire County Council 

 Reading Borough Council 

 Vale of White Horse District Council 

 Wokingham Borough Council 

 Wycombe District Council 
 

5 Community Involvement in Planning Policy 
 
Planning policy is concerned with preparing and implementing plans that help us 
decide where and when development takes place. We have a range of planning 
policies that are used to inform decisions to approve or reject planning applications. 
Our planning policies are contained in a variety of policy documents which make up 
our Development Plan. 
 

5.1 Policy documents we consult on 
 
Local Plans or Development Plan Documents (DPDs) 
These are plans which set out a vision and a framework for the future development 
of the area, addressing needs and opportunities in relation to housing, the economy, 
community facilities and infrastructure as well as a basis for safeguarding the 
environment, adapting to climate change and securing good design. They are also 
critical tools in guiding decisions about individual development proposals. The plans 
generally look forward 15-20 years. 
 
The statutory stages in the preparation of these documents is set out in the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
These documents add further detail to the policies established in the Local Plan.  
They can be used to provide further guidance for development but cannot be used to 
set out new policy. As with Local Plans the statutory requirements for preparing 
SPDs are set out in the above regulations. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans and Development Orders 
Neighbourhood planning is a way for local groups to take a lead on planning the 
future of their area. Neighbourhood planning can be led by a parish council or by a 
neighbourhood forum, which are specially set up for neighbourhood planning. 

Page 85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


Page 8 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Neighbourhood forums need to be open to anyone who lives or works in the area 
they cover. Consultation during the preparation stage of these plans is undertaken 
by the town or parish council and does not therefore need to meet the requirements 
of this SCI but it would be a useful starting point to help guide consultations. 
 
Neighbourhood forums can choose to prepare neighbourhood development orders 
or a neighbourhood plan. Local communities can grant planning permission through 
neighbourhood development orders and community right to build orders for specific 
development.  They can set out planning policies in neighbourhood plans to guide 
the future development of an area, including identifying sites for new housing or 
safeguarding parks and playing fields. 
 
Once a neighbourhood plan or order is approved it will be used to guide 
development and to help decide the outcome of planning applications in the area. 
The neighbourhood plan or order sits alongside other planning policy and needs to 
generally conform to local and national planning policy. 
 
The statutory stages in the preparation of these documents are set out in The 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 
 
What support do we offer to prepare your neighbourhood plan or to groups 
reviewing their neighbourhood plan? 
We strongly support neighbourhood planning throughout the process including: 

 advice and an introductory meeting to discuss your aims and outline the 
process for you; 

 contact with a lead officer for your plan, who attends your group meetings 
when appropriate and brings their own and other colleagues' professional 
experience to you; 

 advice on engaging with your community and the need to record engagement; 

 advice on the types of evidence needed to write your plan and whom to 
consult; 

 review of your draft neighbourhood plan to ensure it meets the basic 
conditions; and 

 arranging and paying for the independent examination and the referendum. 
 
If you would like to find out more about getting started, please contact a 
neighbourhood planning officer by emailing planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk or 
calling our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600. 
 
Further details are available on our website: www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
The Sustainability Appraisal is an integral part of the plan preparation process and is 
required for each Local Plan document and for some SPDs. It looks at the 
environmental, social and economic effects of a plan to make sure that the plan 
promotes sustainable development and takes the most appropriate approach given 
reasonable alternatives. At each stage of the development plan preparation there is 

Page 86

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
mailto:planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans


Page 9 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

a corresponding stage of the Sustainability Appraisal and these documents are 
made available for comment during public consultation. The Sustainability Appraisal, 
where appropriate will incorporate the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), in 
accordance with European Directive EC/2001/42.  
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
The CIL is a charge that is levied on new development floor space which is intended 
to contribute towards the provision of infrastructure to support growth. The statutory 
process for preparing a CIL Charging Schedule is set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 

5.2 Who we consult on planning policy  
 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets 
out the legal requirements for consultation and public participation in respect of local 
planning documents. 
 
Local communities 
We will seek to engage with the local community through both our general 
consultation procedures and if appropriate, through targeted events, (e.g. public 
meetings, exhibitions and other forums). This is to ensure we capture representative 
views of the community. 
 
We will work with those promoting development sites through the planning process 
to ensure that any site assembly is undertaken on a comprehensive basis and that 
those affected are aware of new planning proposals. 
 
 
Specific and general consultation bodies 
Government regulations are clear how important it is that certain bodies are 
consulted at key stages when preparing local planning policy documents (these 
bodies are sometimes referred to as statutory consultees). They include, bodies 
such as the Environment Agency, Historic England, Natural England and Highways 
England and any other organisation with whom we have a duty to cooperate.  We 
will always consult on our planning policy documents with the relevant consultation 
bodies in accordance with the relevant and up to date regulations. Details are 
provided in Appendix 1. 
 

  

Page 87

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents


Page 10 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

5.3 Main stages of policy preparation 
 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) including the Local Plan 
 
 

 

 
 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
Figure 1: Key stages in the preparation of Development Plan Documents (e.g. Local Plan; Area 
Action Plan) 

 
 
  

Pre - production stage - evidence                         
gathering 

Public participation in DPD 
content, scope and preferred 

options (min six weeks)

Representations received

Preparation of DPD

Publication of DPD 
(six week consultation)

Respond to representations received 
on the Published DPD

Submission of DPD to 
Secretary of State 

Examination by Independent 
Planning Inspector (appointed by     

Secretary of State)

Adoption of final DPD by 

Full Council

Monitoring and Review 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 i

n
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

R
e

p
re

s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 

p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 

e
a

m
in

a
ti

o
n

  
Reg 

18* 

Reg 

19* 

Reg 

22* 

Reg 

24* 

Reg 

26* 

Page 88



Page 11 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Council prepares draft LDO 

Public consultation (copy of draft 
order and statement of reasons 

sent to consultees) 
(minimum 28 days)

Consider representations and 
make necessary changes to LDO

Adoption of LDO by Council and 
Statement of Reasons 

Send draft LDO and Statement of 
Reasons to Secretary of State 

within 28 days of adoption

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
 

      
 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
Figure 2: Key stages in the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

 
Local Development Order (LDO) 
Local development orders are made by local planning authorities. They are a tool 
simplify the planning process in a defined area by introducing new permitted 
development that does not need further planning permission. They give a grant of 
planning permission to specific types of development within a defined area. A LDO 
streamlines the planning process by removing the need for developers to make a 
planning application providing the development meets set parameters. They create 
certainty and save time and money for those involved in the planning process. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015  
Figure 5: Key stages required in the preparation of a Local Development Order (LDO)   

 
 

Pre - production stage - evidence                         
gathering and early engagement 

Prepare draft SPD

Consultation on draft SPD 
(minimum four weeks)

Respond to representations on 
Draft SPD and make any 

necessary changes

Adoption of final SPD by Cabinet or 
Cabinet member

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 i

n
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
Reg 

17* 

Reg 

14* 

Community 
Involvement 

Reg 
38(1); 

(3)* 

Reg 
38 

(10)* 

Reg 
38 

(11)* 

Page 89



Page 12 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Neighbourhood Plan or Neighbourhood Development Order 
 

 

Neighbourhood Area Application submitted to the council.  

If outside parish boundary minimum four weeks publicity period.

Draft Neighbourhood Plan/Order is produced

Pre-submission consultation (min six weeks)

Submission of draft Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
to Council

Publication of Neighbourhood Plan/Order (min 
six weeks)

Submission of Neighbourhood Plan/Order and 
responses to Examiner

Independent Examination

Referendum on Neighbourhood Plan/Order

Neighbourhood Plan/Order mde final by Full 
Council**

Monitoring and review

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

Reg 

16* 

Reg 

14* 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

In
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 

In
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
Reg 

6* 

* Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

** If more than 50 per cent of people who voted in the referendum supported the 

plan/order, the council must adopt it 

Figure 6: Key stages in the preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan and/or 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

 

Page 90



Page 13 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 

 

Community Right to Build Order 
A community right to build order is a type of neighbourhood development order and 
forms one of the neighbourhood planning tools introduced in the Localism Act 2011. 
It is useful if your community wants to construct or rebuild community buildings such 
as a community centre or community-led housing. It can be used to grant planning 
permission for specific development which complies with the order. It is put together 
by local people who can decide on the type, quantity and design of buildings they 
want, and in the locations they want them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 7: Key stages in the preparation of a Community Right to Build Order 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Form a community group (e.g. 
town, parish or a neighbourhood 

forum)

Define the neighbourhood Area

Prepare the Community Right to Build 
Order and consult on pre - submission 

(minimum six weeks)

Submission and publication on draft 
Community Right to Build Order to Council

(minimum six weeks)

Independent Examination

Referendum on 
Community Right to 

Build Order

Order used to 

grant outline or 
full consent 

Is the site or area 
already in a designated 

neighbourhood area? 

YES NO 

Apply for 
neighbourhood 
area 

designation  

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

Page 91



Page 14 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 

 
 
* Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
Figure 4: SA/SEA and plan–making 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEA Screening

Consult environmental assessment 
consultation bodies on scope of SEA 

(min five weeks)

Setting the context and objectives to 
develop the framework for SA/SEA

Consult on scope of SA/SEA 
(minimum of five weeks)

Develop and refine alternatives; 
appraise plan options

Prepare the SA environmental report

Publish and consult on SA report 
(minimum six weeks)

Appraise any significant changes to the 
plan following consultation

Community 
Involvement 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
 w

it
h

 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
b

o
d

ie
s
  

Reg 

13* 

Reg 

9* 

Reg 

12* 

Page 92



Page 15 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

 
                                                  
   
 
 
* The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
Figure 3: Key stages in the preparation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

  

Pre - production stage - evidence                         
gathering 

Consultation on Preliminary Draft 
Charging Schedule

(minimum four weeks) 

Respond to representations on 
Draft Charging Schedule and make 

any necessary changes

Publish final Draft Charging 
Schedule for consultation 

(minimum four weeks) 

Examination by Independent 
Planning Inspector  

(appointed by Secretary of State)

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 i

n
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

Reg 

15* 

Reg 

16* 

Reg 

25* 
Adoption of Final  

Charging Schedule by Full Council 

Page 93



Page 16 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

5.4 How we will respond to you on planning policy 
 
Our customer service standards set out how we will deal with correspondence by 
letter, email and telephone, as well as those that visit our office. 
 
Further information on our customer service standards can be accessed via our 
website at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-
standards 
 
We will acknowledge representations on planning policy submitted electronically and 
by e-mail. Representations submitted by post will only receive an acknowledgement 
if this has been requested and a reply email address has been supplied. 
 
We will not send acknowledgements to verbal comments or comments submitted on 
feedback forms at consultation events. Those hand delivering written comments will 
be issued with a receipt if requested. 
 
Comments submitted to us will generally be published on our website depending on 
the method of consultation. 
 
For consultations on matters related to plan-making, we receive a high volume of 
correspondence and it is difficult to respond individually to each comment. We 
therefore publish a summary of the responses we receive and we prepare reports 
after each consultation stage. These are called consultation statements. Each 
consultation statement sets out how the comments made during the consultation 
have been considered before moving to the next stage of plan-making. 
 
We make our consultation statements available at:  

 our offices  

 local libraries  

 our website at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/planning-policy 
 

6 Community Involvement in Planning Applications 
 
We receive different types of planning applications for formal determination.  These 
include applications for planning permission, listed building consent, prior approvals 
and notifications, telecommunications developments and lawful development 
certificates. 
 
We publicise planning applications in accordance with statutory requirements. 
Planning legislation and Government guidance can be updated. If the guidance is 
updated or superseded we will update our practices accordingly. 
 
 
 
 

Page 94

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/planning-policy


Page 17 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

6.1 Before an application is submitted 
 
Pre-application advice and consultation 
The pre-application stage encourages applicants to carry out early engagement with 
the local community and us before submitting a planning application.  We encourage 
early discussion of schemes in the form of a pre-application as it can:  

 verify the information required to be submitted with the application 

 reduce the likelihood of submitting invalid applications  

 help the applicant to understand how planning policies and other 
requirements may affect their proposals. 

 
Once a formal planning application is submitted, we will disclose any pre-application 
advice between us and the applicant.  This will be made available on our Planning 
Application Register, which can be accessed on our website.   
 
Further information on the pre-application process can be accessed on our website 
at: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-
building/application-advice/pre-application-advice 
 
Development forums 
Our development forums support agents, developers and applicants to engage with 
the local community in the pre-application process. 
 
We encourage applicants and developers to discuss their proposals with neighbours, 
and to consult with the wider community on their proposals that are likely to have an 
impact on their local area.  
 
We encourage developers to carry out public consultation for all major applications 
prior to submitting an application. 
 
The development forum ensures that key stakeholders are engaged at the earliest 
possible stage to help shape the development. It particularly refers to engagement 
with our ward councillors and the town and parishes during the pre-application and 
full application process for major development proposals. 
  
A development forum will: 

 provide an explanation of the proposed development by the developer 

 provide an explanation of national and local planning policies and guidance 

 identify procedures for the funding of infrastructure and facilities, including 
developer contributions (Section 106) and Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

 provide an opportunity for an open discussion by all parties to raise issues 
and to provide feedback  

 provide a mechanism for carrying out meaningful public engagement 

 record actions and update on progress with the application. 
 
The Development Forum, as a general rule, will involve the following: 
 

Page 95

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice


Page 18 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 the ward councillor   the planning committee 

 up to two parish councillors from 
each relevant parish  

 the planning officer and other 
council officers as appropriate  

 the town or parish clerk  Oxfordshire County Council and 
other statutory organisation 
representatives  

 up to three representatives from 
the developer (if appropriate 
specialist advisors) 

 up to two representatives of a 
recognised community 
organisation  

 
Development forums are encouraged at the pre-application stage and are likely to be 
triggered by large scale development of 2 hectares or 200 residential units. This will 
be on a case by case basis. Development forums will consist of a meeting with 
verbal advice and will be followed with written advice. Timescales for holding a 
developer forum will be agreed between South Oxfordshire District Council and the 
developer. The information would be publicly available once a planning application 
has been submitted. 
 
Wider forums, or a form of consultation, may be required at the planning application 
stage. 
  
It is important to note that this forum does not remove our requirement to carry out 
formal public consultation on applications. 
 

 

6.2 How we publicise and consult on planning applications 
 
Once registered, we publicise and seek comments on planning applications 
submitted to us. The period in which to make comments is normally 21 days. The 
method of publicity depends on the type of planning application, as required by 
government regulations. Further information on how we publicise types of planning 
application is listed in Appendix 2. 
 
We publicise planning applications by: 
 
Publishing details on our website 
As well as viewing the application details, these webpages allow the public to submit 
online comments. Consultees are entitled to view all details of a planning application 
in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004. 
 
Neighbour notification 
A notification (letter or email), as a minimum, will normally be sent to those 
properties adjacent to the boundary of the application site. If the neighbouring 
property cannot be identified we will display a site notice on or near the application 
property.  
 

Page 96



Page 19 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

In addition to the minimum neighbour notification, the case officer may also notify 
any properties they consider to be directly affected by the proposal, for example the 
dwelling opposite the application site if the officer believes it will be affected. 
 

 
Figure 8: Minimum neighbourhood notification for all applications  

 
 
 
Site notice 
In accordance with the relevant legislation, for all major applications and for prior 
approval we will display at least one site notice to which the applications relates for 
no less than 21 days. 
 
If we are informed that a site notice has been removed, we will usually replace this 
with another site notice.  We will not re-erect a site notice more than once. 
 
Press notice 
In accordance with the relevant and most up to date legislation, we will publish a 
notice in the newspaper where the application site is located. 
 
This is undertaken for all major planning applications, applications located within 
Conservation Areas or within the setting of a listed building that may affect its 
character or appearance. 
 
Weekly list 
We also compile a weekly list of registered planning applications which is published 
on our website and emailed to councillors and other interested individuals, groups 
and organisations. 
 

Page 97



Page 20 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Email alerts 
In addition to our statutory procedures for consulting on applications, we offer a 
service for those interested in planning applications to sign up for regular email 
alerts. This can be done via our website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/news-and-
events/keep-me-informed/email-alerts 
 
Once registered you will receive an automatic email notification informing you of any 
new planning application or planning decision made in your area (within 100m radius 
of your postcode area, larger area available on request).  
 
Councillors 
We notify our councillors on a planning application once it has been registered. 
 
Statutory body consultation 
We will consult with statutory bodies on planning applications for certain types of 
development in accordance with the relevant and up to date regulations. 
Consultation with these bodies will vary depending on the type of development 
proposal and/or location. 
 
Town and parish consultation 
Town and parishes are not classified as a statutory body, but we will always notify 
them of an application within or immediately adjacent to the town or parish boundary. 
We will also notify any relevant neighbourhood forum. 
 
Residents’ association consultation  
A body formally designated as a residents’ association and who has advised us of its 
area of interest will be notified of a planning application in their defined area. 

 

6.3 When we re-consult 
 
National policy asks councils to consider whether further publicity and consultation is 
necessary if an amendment is made to an application once it has been submitted to 
us. 
 
If an application is significantly amended we will send a further notification to 
adjacent properties and to people or organisations who have given comments and 
request any comments within 14 days. 
 
For major applications we will also issue a further site notice and advertise the 
consultation on the amended application. 
 
We will also send copies of the revised application by email to the relevant town or 
parish councils for further comment.  
 
In accordance with best practice and to manage expectations, the case officer will 
determine whether discretionary consultations may take place for applications with 
amended plans.   
 
 

Page 98

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/news-and-events/keep-me-informed/email-alerts
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/news-and-events/keep-me-informed/email-alerts


Page 21 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 
 

6.4 How decisions on planning applications are made 
 
Decisions on how planning applications will be determined is set out in our 
Constitution. Further information on our Constitution and the involvement of 
councillors in planning applications can be accessed online at: 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/Constitution 
 
The Planning Committee, which comprises elected councillors has a duty to decide 
planning and other development related applications. However currently around 90% 
of applications are determined under the scheme of delegation to the Head of 
Planning. The criteria for deciding which applications should be considered by 
Planning Committee are available on our website: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
committees. Printed copies can be made available on request. 
 
Planning Committee 
The agenda for the Planning Committee is published five working days before the 
meeting and is available to view at our offices or online at: 
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=123 
  
If the application on which you have commented on is to be heard by the planning 
committee, we will write to you and invite you to come and speak at the meeting. If 
you prefer you can contact your local councillor and ask if they can put forward your 
views at the Planning Committee. Details of your local councillor can be found at:  
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1  
 
You are welcome to attend any Planning Committee and view the agenda papers. If 
you wish to speak at the meeting please email democratic services at 
democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422407.    
 
Speaking at a planning committee 
Planning Committee provides an opportunity, for those registered, to speak about a 
planning application and put forward any relevant issues to the Committee on a 
proposal.  It is also an opportunity for councillors on the Planning Committee to 
clarify any questions and answers arising. Each speaker, or group of speakers, can 
speak for up to five minutes on each application site (even if there are several 
applications for the site). Further conditions of speaking at Planning Committee is set 
out in our Constitution. This can be accessed online at: 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/Constitution 
 

6.5 Planning appeals 
 
If a planning application is refused or not determined in time, the applicant can 
appeal against the decision. Appeals are made to the Planning Inspectorate.  
 

Page 99

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=123
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution


Page 22 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

Only the person who applied for planning permission, or was served with an 
enforcement notice, has a legal right to appeal (known as the appellant).  There is no 
right of appeal for interested people or organisations (known as third parties). 
If an appeal is made we will notify the interested parties of the appeal and provide 
information on how and when to respond to the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
Appeals can be viewed on our Planning Appeals Register available at: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
appeals/planning-appeals-register  
 
This register is live and includes current and recent appeals and sets out details of 
what stage the appeal is at and the decision, if it has been made. 
 
Alternatively, you can view current appeals on the Planning Inspectorate’s Appeals 
Casework Portal available online at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate  
 

6.6 How we will respond to you on planning applications 
 
Our customer service standards set out how we will deal with correspondence by 
letter, email and telephone, as well as those that visit our office. 
 
Further information on our customer service standards can be accessed via our 
website at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-
standards 
 
We will acknowledge representations received on planning applications by e-mail 
and post. If you have included an e-mail address with your letter we will respond by 
e-mail. We will not send acknowledgements to verbal comments or comments 
submitted to us on feedback forms at consultation events. 

7 How to Comment 
 
Details of how to comment and respond to our publicity and consultations vary 
depending on whether the publicity relates to planning policy or a planning 
application and the method of consultation. Details on how to respond will be 
provided as part of the publicity or consultation.  
 
We provide details of current policy consultations on our website 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building 
 
We provide guidance on how to comment on planning applications on our website. 
The following page provides details of what we can or cannot take into account: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-
application/comment-planning-application 
 
Comments made on a planning policy consultation or planning application are not 
transferred to a subsequent consultation or to a new planning application. If a new 
planning policy consultation takes place or a new planning application is submitted, 

Page 100

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/comment-planning-application
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/comment-planning-application


Page 23 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

for example on the same application site, you will need to resubmit your comments 
for consideration. 
 
For more advice on how to comment you can call the Customer Service Team on 
01235 422600 (Text phone users add 18001 before you dial)*. 
 
You can submit your comments in writing to us at: 

Planning Department 
South Oxfordshire District Council 
135 Eastern Avenue 
Milton Park 
Abingdon 
OX14 4SB 

 
If you would like to comment on a planning application or policy document but are 
unable to do so in writing please contact us to discuss how we might help.  You can 
call our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600.   
 
Information on our translation and interpretation services is available on our website: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/community-advice-and-
support/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-and-diversity 

    

Page 101

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/community-advice-and-support/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-and-diversity
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/community-advice-and-support/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-and-diversity


Page 24 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

8 Appendix 1 - Consultation Bodies 
 
Specific consultation bodies* 
 
(a) the Coal Authority 
(b) the Environment Agency 
(c) the Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as 
Historic England) 
(d) the Marine Management Organisation 
(e) Natural England  
(f) Network Rail Infrastructure Limited (company number 2904587), 
(g) Highways England (formerly the Highways Agency) 
(h) a relevant authority any part of whose area is in or adjoins the local planning 
authority’s area 
(i) any person— 

(i) to whom the electronic communications code applies by virtue of a 
direction given under section 106(3)(a) of the Communications Act 2003 and 
(ii) who owns or controls electronic communications apparatus situated in any 
part of the local planning authority’s area 

(j) if it exercises functions in any part of the local planning authority’s area— 
(i) The NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (formerly the Primary 
Care Trust established under section 18 of the National Health Service Act 
2006(g) or continued in existence by virtue of that section) 
(ii) a person to whom a licence has been granted under section 6(1)(b) or (c) 
of the Electricity Act 1989 
(iii) a person to whom a licence has been granted under section 7(2) of the 
Gas Act 1986( 
(iv) a sewerage undertaker; and 
(v) a water undertaker 

(k) the Homes and Communities Agency 
(a) 1996 c.16. 
(b) See section 1 of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (c.21). 
(c) See section 1 of the Environment Act 1995 (c.25). 
(d) See section 32 of the National Heritage Act 1983 (c.47). 
(e) See section 1 of the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 (c.23). 
(f) See section 1 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
(c.16). 
(g) 2006 c.41. 
(h) 1989 c.29. There are amendments to these provisions which are not 
relevant to these Regulations. 
(i) 1986 c.44. There are amendments to these provisions which are not 
relevant to these Regulations. 
(j) See section 2 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (c.17) 

 
*As set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
  

Page 102



Page 25 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

General consultation bodies* 
 
(a) voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the local 
planning authority’s area 
(b) bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups 
in the local planning authority’s area 
(c) bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the local 
planning authority’s area 
(d) bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local planning 
authority’s area 
(e) bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business in the local 
planning authority’s area 
 
*As set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
 
 

Page 103



Page 26 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 

9 Appendix 2 - Public Consultation by Type of Planning Application or Development 
Proposal 

 

Type of Application Site  
Notice 

Press 
Notice 

Neighbour 
notification 
letters or site 
notice 

Notes  

‘Major’ Planning      

‘Other’/ ’minor’ Planning      

‘Other’/ ’minor’ Planning 
within Conservation Area or 
Affecting listed building 

    

Listed Building Consent      

Certificates of Lawfulness of 
Existing Use or 
Development  

  See notes  Letter used if the evidence submitted by the applicant appears 
inconclusive and we feel that local people may be able to provide 
evidence. We always notify the town or parish. 

Certificates of Lawfulness of 
Proposed Use or 
Development  

    

Approval of reserved 
matters  

See 
notes  

See 
notes  

  The application is subject to the publicity appropriate to the original 
outline application 

Applications required by a 
condition attached to a grant 
of planning permission 

  See notes   

Change of use to a ‘flexible 
use’ 

    

Advertisement consent      

P
age 104



Page 27 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 
Further useful information is available on the following website: 
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters/ 

Hazardous Substance 
Consent 

   We only consult the Health and Safety Executive as the statutory 
body for matters related to hazardous substances.  

Development affecting a 
Public Right of Way  

    

Prior Approval 
Applications 

Site  
Notice 

Press 
Notice 

Neighbour 
notification 
letters 

Notes  

Telecommunications   See 
notes  

 In some very specific circumstances, a press notice is required.  

Demolition    Publicity is for information purposes only and the applicant 
undertakes it.  The applicant displays a site notice for not less than 
21 days in the period of 28 days beginning with the date on which 
the application was submitted to us. Notify the town or parish 

New Agricultural Buildings     Parish notified  

Domestic Extensions      

Change of use of Office to 
Residential  

    

Change of use to a State 
Funded School  

    

Change of use of 
agricultural buildings under 
500m2 

    

Use of a building and any 
land for a State Funded 
School for one year  

    

P
age 105

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters/


Page 28 | 28 
South Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement 

April 2017 
 

 

 
 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available 
on request. 

 
These include large print, Braille, audio, email, easy 

read and alternative languages. 
 

Please contact Planning Policy on 01235 422600 
(Text phone users add 18001 before you dial) or 

email planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

Planning Policy Team 
South Oxfordshire District Council 

135 Eastern Avenue  
Milton Park 

Abingdon 
OX14 4SB 

 
www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 106

mailto:planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


 

 1 

              
 
 
 
 

Draft strategies/policies –  

Equality and human rights impact check 

 
 
 

Draft strategy/policy being checked:  
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 

 

Is this draft strategy/policy:   South only 
 Vale only 
 Joint across both councils 

 

Service team: Planning      

 

Officer completing this: Gary Palmer 

 
 

Once completed: 

Date completed: 09 January 2017 
 

Signed (Officer 
 

Signed   (Head of Service) 
 

Signed   (Equalities Officer) 
 

Page 107



 

 2 

 

 
 
 
 

 
Why do you need to do this Equality and human rights impact check? 
 
Our strategies and policies set out the way we will deliver our services (including 
employment opportunities). When we are developing them, we need to check that they are 
not going to create any barriers which could prevent people from accessing our services.  
 

People in South Oxfordshire may face barriers because of things like 
disability, gender (including transgender, pregnancy and maternity), 
age, sexual orientation, rural isolation, income, religion/belief or 
ethnicity. 
 
As well as thinking about how our services will meet the needs of these groups of people, 
we also need to consider how our draft strategies and policies will help us to: 
 

 promote positive relations within communities 

 give everyone a voice 

 respect and value everyone 

 protect people’s human rights  
 
This equality and human rights impact check provides officers with a framework to help 
them work through these considerations in relation to their draft policy/strategy, ensuring 
that we are meeting our legal duties with regards to equality, diversity and human rights.  
 
We have a statutory duty to carry out these assessments and they contribute towards our 
corporate priority to ‘provide equality of access to our services’. 
 
If you have any queries about this Check or would like some advice/support in 
completing it, please contact the Shared equalities officer (see contact details 
below). 
 
 
 
Cheryl Reeves (equalities officer) 
Email: cheryl.reeves@southandvale.gov.uk  
Telephone:  x2108  
 

Page 108

mailto:cheryl.reeves@southandvale.gov.uk


 

 3 

OUTLINE OF THE DRAFT STRATEGY / POLICY YOU ARE CHECKING: 

1. What are the aims and objectives of this draft strategy/policy? 
 
The council is committed to working in a clear and transparent way, and is keen to assist anyone who may wish to become involved 
in the planning process.  The aim of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is to set out: 

 how we wish to engage with our communities in the preparation of new planning policy and; 

 the ways we publicise planning applications for development.  
 

2. Who is the proposed strategy or policy designed to support / help / serve? 
 
The SCI will be used by planning officers to assist in making decisions on planning applications.  The SCI will also help to support 
local residents, local community organisations, town and parishes, councillors and developers in how to get involved in the Local 
Plan and planning policy and how planning applications for development are publicised.  
 

3. If the draft strategy/policy relates to an existing council service/function, has an Equality & Human Rights Impact 
Assessment (EHRIA) already been completed on the service/function? 

 
 No  
 Yes – please list any issues/barriers identified within the assessment that your draft strategy needs to address: 

 

 
 

4. Does the draft strategy or policy have the potential to cause a negative impact or discriminate against certain 
groups in the community? 

 
 

P
age 109



 

 4 

Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain 
how the strategy/policy 
could cause a negative 
impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify 
this you will need to 
take mitigating action, 
complete the action 
plan at the end of this 
assessment. 

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or otherwise) do 
you have for this? e.g. Will the service changes advance 
equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due 
to their protected characteristics. 

 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected 
groups where these are different from the needs of other 
people 

 
People from ethnic 
minority groups 

 √  The SCI recognises that the Equality Act 2010 places a legal 
duty on the council to understand how our services impact on 
different groups of people. 
 
The SCI recognises the needs of different groups within our 
community, the value of equality and the diversity that our 
communities represent 
 
The SCI sets out the council’s overall approach to community 
engagement and involvement in the planning process.  It 
complements the council’s strategic objectives and priorities set 
out in its Corporate Plan and our Customer Engagement 
Charter.  It sets out the ways we will involve the community 
when carrying out our consultations in relation to plan making 
and planning decisions, for example methods we will use to 
engage people include targeted work with community and 
voluntary organisations.  We will aim to engage with groups in 
our community that can find us less accessible (e.g. disability 
groups and ethnic minority groups).  We will encourage 
involvement from groups that have traditionally not been 
involved in the planning process (for example, younger people 
– through targeted events with schools etc.) 
 
The SCI sets out where our planning documents are available 
to view, including making our information and documents 

 
People with disabilities 
(including carers) 

 √  

Men or women 
(including pregnant 
women, women on 
maternity and 
transgender people) 

 √  

 
Gay, lesbian or 
bisexual people 

 √  
 

 
People from different 
religions/beliefs 
(including people 
without a religion/belief) 

 √  

 
Older or younger 
people 

 √  

 
People living in rural 
areas  

 √  P
age 110



 

 5 

Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain 
how the strategy/policy 
could cause a negative 
impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify 
this you will need to 
take mitigating action, 
complete the action 
plan at the end of this 
assessment. 

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or otherwise) do 
you have for this? e.g. Will the service changes advance 
equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due 
to their protected characteristics. 

 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected 
groups where these are different from the needs of other 
people 

Local Voluntary, 
Community and Faith 
sector organisations 

   available in alternative formats upon request (e.g. large print, 
Braille, audio, easy read and alternative languages) 
We recognise that other forms of engagement are necessary 
for those who do not have access to internet. We make our 
planning documents, background studies and responses to our 
consultations available in hard copy at our local deposit points 
(e.g. local libraries and council offices) 
 
The SCI sets out how the community can get involved with and 
influence the council as it prepares its Local Plan and other 
planning policy documents. 
It sets out the methods we use to consult on our planning policy 
documents, including recognising the need to fully consider and 
take account of community views. This may include targeted 
events with our hard to reach groups or targeted work with 
community groups and voluntary organisations e.g. access 
groups.  It also refers to consulting geographical areas where 
appropriate. 
 
The SCI sets out how communities can become involved with 
planning applications, including who and how we will consult 
the community on planning applications depending on the 
scale, location and/or nature of the proposal.  
Copies of the plans are also sent to the town and parishes. 
People who do not have access to the internet can view these 
through contacting the town/parish clerk. 
 
 

P
age 111



 

 6 

 
5. Have reasonable adjustments been made for people with disabilities to ensure they can use the draft strategy or 
policy?  This might mean treating disabled people better than non-disabled people in order to meet their needs 

 
 No  
Yes  - please provide detail: 

 
We will aim to consult or engage with our disability access groups in preparing our planning policy documents and consulting upon 
planning applications for development. Particularly on policies or applications which relate to the public realm.  We will aim to find 
alternative arrangements for those who are unable to comment in writing because of a disability, cannot speak English well or 
cannot speak English. 
 

6. Have there been any equality related recommendations in the area that your draft policy/strategy is covering which 
have arisen from, for example, internal/external audits or scrutiny reports? 
 

Recommendation made Is this being addressed in your draft strategy or policy? If not, 
please explain why. 

 
No 
 
 

 

 
7. Will the draft strategy or policy help to foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and people who do not share it e.g will the changes help to tackle prejudice and promote understanding between the 
different groups 

 
 No (If you feel there is scope to improve how you foster good relations, amend you decision accordingly) 
 Yes – please explain how 
 
The methods we use to consult on our planning policy documents and upon planning applications through public meetings, 
exhibitions, events and our developer forums will encourage different groups to engage in the planning process where 
appropriate.  

 

HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

P
age 112



 

 7 

8. Will the draft strategy or policy have an impact on any relevant human rights [You may find it helpful to view the human rights 
guide for public authorities on the intranet to help you decide].  Please identify which human rights have been considered? 

 
Article 9 ‘Freedom of thought, conscience and religion 
Article 10 ‘Freedom of expression’ 
Article 14 ‘Prohibition of discrimination’ 
 

What impact was identified? 
 
Was the impact identified positive (fulfilling, protecting, promoting, respecting)  
 
Please indicate the positive effect: ….. 
 
The Statement of Community Involvement protects, promotes and respects people right to express their views on planning 
applications and planning policy documents through public consultation.  It does so without discrimination by recognising that 
people need to engage with the council using different engagement and communication methods.  
 
Was the impact negative (removing, unjustifiably interfering with any human rights)? 
If so, please indicate how the strategy / policy will be amended to reduce or eliminate any negative impact 
 
N/A 

 
 

9. Has there been consultation with relevant community groups to help inform this draft strategy or policy? 
 

If not, please explain why: 
The draft Statement of Community Involvement will be subject to public consultation for six weeks, at which point, those 
interested in the council’s approach to community engagement in the planning process, will have an opportunity to comment on 
the content of the document. 
 
The communications team will also issue a press release and an online news alert.  We will also place a statutory notice in the 
local newspapers circulating in the district.  The results of the consultation will be considered to assess any potential equality 
impact not currently considered by the council.  
 
If yes, please list who you have consulted: 
 

P
age 113



 

 8 

Do you feel there are any groups that the draft strategy or policy significantly affects who you have not currently consulted? If 
yes, please contact the shared equality officer for advice (see page 2 for contact details). 

 
10. Has the draft strategy or policy missed opportunities to advance equality of opportunity, positive attitudes and 

promote respect for human rights? 
 
 No  

     Yes – please outline the plans you have to address the missed opportunities (complete table below) 
 
 

Action plan for mitigating action or advancing equality of opportunity and promoting respect for human 
rights 

 

Action Person responsible Target completion date 

None   

 

P
age 114



 

1 
 

 
Consultation on the draft Statement of Community Involvement 
South Oxfordshire District Council 
 
Compiled by:  
Louise Rawlins, Community Engagement Officer 
10 April 2017 
  
Draft document  
 
For comment by:  Date comments to 

be made:  
 

Comments 
received/action:  

Gary Palmer and Holly Jones  
 

11 April 2017 Comments received  
6 April 2017 
 
Report updated  

Adrian Duffield, Head of Planning 13 April 2017 
 

13 April 2017 – no 
changes required 

Corporate Management Team 25 April 2017 
 

No changes required 

Cabinet Briefing  9 May 2017 
 

 

Cabinet  1 June 2017 
 

 

 
  
  

Page 115



 

2 
 

 Page 
Number 

1. Context  
 
1.1 Purpose of the consultation 
 
1.2 Methodology and target group 

 

3 

2. Respondents 
 

2.1 Responses 
 

2.2 Demographic of respondents 
 

4 

3. Consultation Responses 
 

3.1 Format and layout of the Statement of Community Involvement 
 
3.2 Consultation methods 

 
3.3 Communication methods 

 
3.4 General comments on the Statement of Community Involvement 

 
 

4-7 

4. Survey Method  
 

8 

5. Recommendations and Action Taken 
 

8-9 

Appendix 1 - List of organisations who responded 
 

10 

Appendix 2 – Demographics 
 

11-12 

Appendix 3 - Responses to SCI Consultation (Smart Survey) 
 

13-16 

 

  

Page 116



 

3 
 

 

1. Context  
 

1.1 Purpose of the consultation 
 
South Oxfordshire District Council is committed to working in a clear and transparent 
way, and is keen to assist anyone who may wish to be involved in the planning 
process. Our draft Statement of Community Involvement 2017 (SCI) sets out how we 
will engage with our communities and businesses so they can comment on new 
planning policy documents and planning applications.  
 
The consultation on the draft SCI ran for six weeks from 11 January to 22 February 
2017.  It aimed to gather views from residents, businesses and stakeholders on its 
content.   
 
The draft SCI described our consultation methods and our approach to 
communicating about planning matters and we asked for feedback on these 
methods. This is to help the planning service establish preferred consultation and 
communication methods, and identify any recommendations for changes to practice.  
 
1.2 Methodology and target group 
 
A questionnaire was designed by the Community Engagement Officer and the lead 
Planning Officer.  The online survey tool Smart Survey was used.  This was the first 
time the planning service used Smart Survey.  This new system was used as the 
planning service had previously received feedback from consultees that the existing 
online consultation system (Objective) is difficult to use. The draft SCI consultation 
provided a useful opportunity to undertake another approach to online consultations.  
 
A paper questionnaire relating to the draft SCI was also available and responses 
were welcomed by post and email.  
 
Information on the consultation was distributed via: 
 

• access groups by the council’s Equalities Officer 
• council’s website and twitter account  
• district councillors 
• libraries and council offices 
• parish and town councils 
• planning consultee database (email and post) 
• press notice in local papers 
• press release to local papers.   
• statutory bodies. 
 

 

Page 117



 

4 
 

2. Respondents 
 

2.1 Response rate 
 
We received 168 responses to the SCI consultation. Of this: 
 

• 142 (84.5%) completed the online questionnaire  
 

• 25 (15%) responded by post or email;  (3 responses were late, however their 
comments have still been considered) 
 

• there was a facilitated session with Didcot Access Group1 who were able to 
share views from access group members in South Oxfordshire.  

 
37 responses were from organisations, all other responses were from individuals 
(See Appendix 1).  
 
2.2 Demographics of respondents 
 
Respondents were requested to provide demographics at the end of the 
questionnaire (See Appendix 2).  This is to assist the council in analysing 
demographics of respondents and helps to identify any groups that may not be 
taking part in planning consultations.  The results have been compared with data 
from the Local Insight profile for ‘South Oxfordshire’ area2.  This has identified 
groups that did not take part in the consultation.  This is addressed in 
recommendations (Section 5).  
 
3. Consultation responses  

 
In this section an overview is given of the responses to the online questionnaire, 
comments received from groups, and those by post, and email.  As the latter did not 
follow the structure of the online questionnaire, their responses have been 
summarised in Section 3.4. 
 
3.1 Format and layout of the draft Statement of Community Involvement  
 
Respondents were asked to rate the format and layout of the SCI. The majority 
responded positively to this question with 92% of respondents rating it as a 
reasonable or good format and layout (See Figure 1, Appendix 3). 

                                                           
1 The input with Didcot Access Group was led by the council’s Equalities Officer with support from the Community 
Engagement Officer. 
 
2 Local Insight profile for ‘South Oxfordshire’ area, Oxford City Council and District Data Service, Report created 
17 January 2017. Downloaded on 24 March 2017 from http://local.communityinsight.org/   
 

Page 118

http://local.communityinsight.org/


 

5 
 

39 people added comments about the format and layout.  Of this 15 people said the 
document was too long or difficult to understand and 11 made positive comments 
about the document. 

 
3.2 Consultation methods 
 
Respondents were asked to rate consultation methods (See Figures 2-4, Appendix 
3).  The results showed:   
 

• 79% rated online questionnaires as good or average 
 

• public meetings and public exhibitions were rated as good or average with 
78% and 74% respective scores 

 
• social media received a lower rating with 36% rating it as poor.  

 
The age demographics of respondents may explain the low rating of social media 
(See Appendix 2). National research should be taken into consideration when 
reviewing communication methods. An Ofcom report, for example, found that around 
two-thirds of the over 75 age group and a third of the 65-74 age group said they did 
not use the internet.3  
 
53 people added comments about our consultation methods: of this number 28 
people raised concerns and 15 people suggested how we could improve 
consultation. 

                                                           
3 Adults’ media use and attitudes, Ofcom Research Document April 2016, pg. 7. Downloaded on 30  
March 2017 from www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0026/80828/2016-adults-media-use-and-
attitudes.pdf  

Comments on format and layout 

You should try to limit to no more than 10 pages to get across the messages. 
(Respondent Code: 51268285) 

I found it very clear and direct with plenty of hyperlinks and diagrams which make the 
information much easier to understand and absorb. (Respondent Code: 51148002) 

 

Comments on consultation methods 

Young people, non-local residents who work locally or would like to live in the area, and 
the working-age population generally are hard to reach because they are so busy 
working and raising families, but they are precisely the people your consultations need to 
hear from. (Respondent code: 51324799) 

Work with Parish Councils so that they promote planning issues…offer parishes practical 
training in Social Media and get parishes to help you build a database of parish 
magazines so that you can really reach all the citizens. (Respondent code: 52481842) 

 

Page 119

http://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0026/80828/2016-adults-media-use-and-attitudes.pdf
http://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0026/80828/2016-adults-media-use-and-attitudes.pdf


 

6 
 

3.3 Communication methods  
 
The draft SCI detailed how we keep people informed about planning developments.  
Respondents were asked to rate communication methods (See Figures 5-7, 
Appendix 3).  The survey findings showed: 
 

• 80% rated email communication as good  
 

• 68% rated contact with parish councils as good or average 
 
38 comments were received, this included 16 suggestions on how communication 
could be improved.   

 
3.4 General comments on the draft Statement of Community Involvement 
 
(i) In this section an overview is given on comments received via Smart Survey 

and those by post, email and as a group response.   
 

From 25 postal and email responses 5 made no comment on the content of 
the draft SCI.  

 
As part of Smart Survey, respondents were invited to make general comments 
on the draft SCI. 71 comments were made.  Of these 12 people gave positive 
feedback and 36 people made a negative comment.  22 people made 
suggestions for how the draft SCI could be improved.   Some people made 
comments which were not relevant to the SCI.  We have detailed below how 
we have responded to these comments.  

 
(ii) Feedback was received on: 
 

• the content of the SCI; changes were suggested to the document structure, 
language used and length. And practical issues were noted such as a need to 
change the names of some organisations.   These will be addressed in a 
revised version of the SCI. 

 

Comments on communication  

Good on Twitter... never any updates on Facebook? (Respondent Code: 50985115) 

Postal notification still necessary for those who can't or choose not to have web 
access. (Respondent Code: 50994681) 

On major plans, why can there not be further public meetings where people are 
informed on progress and given the opportunity to raise further questions / 
challenges.  (Respondent Code: 52844770) 

Page 120



 

7 
 

• neighbourhood planning and its impact on development; these comments 
will be shared with our neighbourhood planning officers.  
 

• housing developments in local areas; comments were made about specific 
sites including Chalgrove, Sonning Common and the development of Didcot 
Garden Town.  These comments will be passed to the relevant planning 
officers and teams. 

 
• the planning service’s approach to consultation was commented on; this 

will be addressed by the development of a new community engagement 
strategy.  
 

• the democratic process and its effectiveness. Some comments were made 
regarding individuals and will not be reproduced. 
 

• general planning issues such as how housing is built and environmental 
concerns.  These will be addressed as part of the Local Plan Second 
Preferred Options consultation (29 March to 17 May 2017). 

 
(iii) A group session was held with Didcot Access Group, who shared views of 

access group members in South Oxfordshire.  Their feedback included 
comments about the length of the document and the need for a summary in 
plain English. They noted issues about the complexity of viewing planning 
applications and the need for documents to be more accessible as the council 
offices at Milton Park are not easily accessible.  Recommendations on groups 
we should be involving and suggestions for how our work could be more 
inclusive were also made.  Their views will help to inform the work by our 
Community Engagement Officers and the planning service.   
 

(iv) Statutory bodies used the consultation as an opportunity to advise us on their 
consultation processes and how they can support our work on planning 
applications and development.   

General comments on the SCI 

Please use more plain wording. (Respondent code: 50958629) 

We would like to see greater communication around how community and parish council 
voices have been taken into consideration. (Respondent code: 51461458) 

Helpful and well set out. (Respondent code: 50993714) 

Felt that there was too much to read, most people won’t want to read 28 pages. 
(Respondent code: SCIEP179) 

Difficult for members of the general public to comment on planning applications as there 
is so much information to look at… might be an idea to have a folder with a summary of 
information such as the design and access statement. (Respondent code: SCIEP179)  

 

 
Page 121



 

8 
 

4. Survey method 
 
The planning service had received feedback from consultees that their online 
consultation system (Objective) was difficult to use. Smart Survey was used as the 
online consultation tool as this was viewed to be more user friendly.    
 
Respondents were asked to rate the online questionnaire. Ratings showed that 48% 
were satisfied or very satisfied with the method. 14% said they were dissatisfied or 
very dissatisfied (See Figure 8, Appendix 3). Seven comments were made which 
suggested improvements to the survey design. The findings from this survey will help 
the service to identify appropriate consultation methods, both online and paper 
based.  These are addressed in recommendations (Section 5).  
 

 
5. Recommendations  

 
Recommendation Action by planning service 
Appendix 1 shows some groups were over-
represented, while other groups were 
under-represented in the consultation.  
There is a need to ensure our consultations 
involve people from a range of 
backgrounds and are targeted at those 
most affected by the proposals. 
 

The planning service’s new 
community engagement strategy will 
address how we will engage with 
people from different age groups and 
backgrounds.  

A few comments were made about the 
length of the draft SCI and terms used. 
 

The council’s Planning Policy Team 
will review the document to see 
whether terms can be changed.  An 
executive summary will be 
considered.  
 

Several comments were received regarding 
our consultation methods.  Some people 
felt we could improve our consultation and 
give more feedback. 
 

All respondents will be sent 
information on how to access this 
consultation report. 
  
Feedback from the consultation will be 
reviewed by the Community 
Engagement Officers.  This will help 
to inform the planning service’s 
community engagement strategy. 
 

Comments on the online questionnaire  

There is nowhere to put our views on how things should be planned. (Respondent Code: 
52268003) 

A step in the right direction (Respondent Code: 51461458) 

 

Page 122



 

9 
 

Recommendation Action by planning service 
A range of suggestions were offered 
regarding how we communicate about 
planning matters. Some people suggested 
we use social media and local parish 
newsletters. 

Facebook advertising is now being 
used for the current Local Plan 
consultations (South and Vale). 
 
Articles have been sent to all parish 
newsletters to promote the current 
Local Plan consultations (South and 
Vale). 
 

Positive feedback was received on the 
online survey with a few recommendations 
such as the facility to upload files.  

Online questionnaires via Smart 
Survey are being used for 
neighbourhood planning and 
development planning consultations. 
 
The Community Engagement Officers 
are looking at other consultation 
approaches to meet all survey 
requirements.  
 

Recommendation to increase use of social 
media to promote public meetings and 
consultation events. 
 

Twitter and Facebook are being used 
to promote current Local Plan events 
(South and Vale). 

Feedback was received on issues that 
were beyond the scope of this consultation, 
such as planning development and local 
housing.  
 

These comments will be shared with 
relevant planning officers and teams; 
they will also help to inform the Local 
Plan consultation.  

 
This report will be publically available on our website, with full results available to 
those who request access.  
 

 
  

Page 123



 

10 
 

Appendix 1 – List of organisations who responded 
 
Barton Willmore on behalf of Gallagher Estates and Brasenose College  
Beckley and Stowood Parish Council 
Chiltern Society 
Chilterns Conservation Board 
Church of England 
Community Safety Team, South and Vale District Councils  
Didcot Access Group  
Didcot Town Council  
Environment Agency (Thames Area)  
Forest Hill with Shotover Parish Council  
Forestry Commission England  
Health and Safety Executive 
Henley-on-Thames Town Council 
Her Majesty’s Government – Marine Management Organisation  
Highways England 
Historic England 
Housing, South and Vale District Councils  
John Hampden Society  
JPPC  
Lance Adlam Architects  
Leisure Development, South Oxfordshire District Council 
Mobility Issues Group for Goring and Streatley 
Natural England 
Network Rail 
Oxford Brookes University 
Oxford Bus Company 
Oxfordshire County Council 
Oxfordshire Transport and Access Group (OXTRAG) 
Pishill with Stonor Parish Council 
Ramblers 
Rokeby Homes Limited 
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 
Shiplake Parish Council 
South Oxfordshire Sustainability Coalition representing: 

• Chalgrove Environmental Network 
• Goring and Streatley Sustainability Group 
• Green Living Plan for Thame 
• Greening Chinnor 
• Henley in Transition 
• Living Lightly in Dorchester 
• Oxfordshire Chilterns Community Action (OCCA)  
• Pangbourne and Whitchurch Sustainability Group 
• Sustainable Didcot  
• Sustainable Wallingford and Cholsey 

Thame Town Council  
Wallingford Town Council  
Watlington Parish Council 
 
  

Page 124



 

11 
 

Appendix 2 – Demographics of Respondents (Smart Survey)  
 
Smart Survey Result Comparison with 

South 
Oxfordshire 
data4  

 
 
 

Working age 
population is 60.6% 
in South 
Oxfordshire, and 
were under 
represented in the 
consultation. 
 
65+ age group is 
20.3% in South 
Oxfordshire, and 
were over 
represented in the 
consultation. 
 
 

 
 

50.8% of total 
population is 
female; so females 
were unrepresented 
in the consultation. 
 

 

 

                                                           
4  Local Insight profile for ‘South Oxfordshire’ area, Oxford City Council and District Data Service, 
Report created 17 January 2017, downloaded on 24 March 2017 from 
http://local.communityinsight.org/   

Page 125

http://local.communityinsight.org/


 

12 
 

Smart Survey Result Comparison with 
South 
Oxfordshire 
Data5  

 
 

Not comparable 
with data as figures 
are for disability 
living allowance of 
which there is 
prevalence of 2.4% 

 

90% of South 
Oxfordshire is white 
British, so slight 
over representation. 
 
Under 
representation  
from ethnic groups 
which have 
presence in South 
Oxfordshire (see 
table below)  
 
 
 

 
 

                                                           
5  Local Insight profile for ‘South Oxfordshire’ area, Oxford City Council and District Data Service, Report created 
17 January 2017, downloaded on 24 March 2017 from http://local.communityinsight.org/   

Page 126

http://local.communityinsight.org/


 

13 
 

 
Appendix 3 – Responses to SCI Consultation (Smart Survey)  

 
Figure 1: Format and layout of the draft SCI 

 
  

Figure 2: Consultation methods rated as good  
  

In the Statement of Community Involvement we list our methods for consulting on our planning policy 
documents.  We would like to hear your views on these methods and how suitable they are for you or 
the organisation you represent.  Please rate the following methods: 

 

Page 127



 

14 
 

 

Figure 3: Consultation methods rated as average 
 

 

  
   Figure 4: Consultation methods rated as poor  
 
 
  

In the Statement of Community Involvement we list our methods for consulting on our planning policy 
documents.  We would like to hear your views on these methods and how suitable they are for you or 
the organisation you represent.  Please rate the following methods: 

 

In the Statement of Community Involvement we list our methods for consulting on our planning policy 
documents.  We would like to hear your views on these methods and how suitable they are for you or 
the organisation you represent.  Please rate the following methods: 

 

Page 128



 

15 
 

 

 
  Figure 5: Communication methods rated as good  
 

 
Figure 6: Communication methods rated as average  

  
 

Page 129



 

16 
 

 
Figure 7: Communication methods rated as poor  

 
  

 
Figure 8: Survey rating  

 
 
  

Page 130



 

17 
 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on 
request. 

 

These include large print, Braille, audio, email, easy read 
and alternative languages. 

 

Please contact Planning Policy on 01235 422600 (Text 
phone users add 18001 before you dial) or email 

planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Planning Policy Team 

South Oxfordshire District Council 

135 Eastern Avenue  

Milton Park 

Abingdon 

OX14 4SB 

 

www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 

Page 131

mailto:planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council  
 
Statement of Community 
Involvement: Planning Service 
 
Post-Consultation Draft 
 
January April 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 133



Page 2 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

Contents 
 
1 Introduction ....................................................................................................... 44 

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement? ....................................... 44 

1.2 Our values and vision for community involvement in planning .................... 55 

2 Our Principles for Community Engagement and Involvement in Planning ........ 66 

3 Possible Methods of Community Involvement .................................................. 77 

4 Duty to Co-operate ............................................................................................ 88 

5 Community Involvement in Planning Policy ...................................................... 88 

5.1 Policy documents we consult on ................................................................. 88 

5.2 Who we consult on planning policy ......................................................... 1010 

5.3 Main stages of policy preparation ............................................................ 1212 

5.4 How we will respond to you on planning policy ....................................... 1919 

6 Community Involvement in Planning Applications ......................................... 1919 

6.1 Before an application is submitted .......................................................... 2020 

6.2 How we publicise and consult on planning applications .......................... 2222 

6.3 When we re-consult ................................................................................ 2424 

6.4 How decisions on planning applications are made .................................. 2525 

6.5 Planning appeals ..................................................................................... 2525 

6.6 How we will respond to you on planning applications ............................. 2626 

7 How to Comment .......................................................................................... 2626 

8 Appendix 1 - Consultation Bodies ................................................................. 2828 

9 Appendix 2 - Public Consultation by Type of Planning Application or 
Development Proposal ......................................................................................... 3030 

1 Introduction ......................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement? ......................................... 3 

1.2 Our values and vision for community involvement in planning ...................... 4 

2 Our Principles for Community Engagement and Involvement in Planning .......... 4 

3 Possible Methods of Community Involvement .................................................... 5 

4 Duty to Co-operate .............................................................................................. 6 

5 Community Involvement in Planning Policy ........................................................ 7 

5.1 Policy documents we consult on ................................................................... 7 

5.2 Who we consult on planning policy ............................................................... 9 

5.3 Main stages of policy preparation ................................................................ 10 

5.4 How we will respond to you on planning policy ........................................... 15 

6 Community Involvement in Planning Applications ............................................. 16 

6.1 Before an application is submitted .............................................................. 16 

Page 134



Page 3 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

6.2 How we publicise and consult on planning applications .............................. 18 

6.3 When we re-consult .................................................................................... 19 

6.4 How decisions on planning applications are made ...................................... 20 

6.5 Planning appeals ......................................................................................... 21 

6.6 How we will respond to you on planning applications ................................. 21 

7 How to Respond to Our Publicity and Consultations ......................................... 21 

8 Appendix 1 - Consultation Bodies ..................................................................... 23 

9 Appendix 2 - Public Consultation by Type of Planning Application or 
Development Proposal ............................................................................................. 25 

 
 

  

Page 135



Page 4 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

1 Introduction 
 
Most new buildings or major changes to existing buildings or to the local environment 
need consent, known as planning permission. Without a planning system everyone 
anyone could construct buildings or use land in any way they wanted, no matter what 
effect this would have on other people who live and work in their area. The local 
planning authority Council is usually responsible for deciding whether a 
development, anything from an extension on a house to a new shopping centre, 
should go ahead. There is a separate planning policy framework system and 
legislation for nationally significant infrastructure projects such as power stations and 
major transport schemes. The County Council also separately deals with some 
planning applications, for example regarding the extraction of minerals. 
 
Useful websites providing information on the planning system include: 
 

 www.planningportal.co.uk 
 

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/  
 

 www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-
system 

 
Some types of development may already be permitted nationally, and for these there 
is no need to apply for planning permission locally. These are known as Permitted 
Development Rights.  
 
In order to make decisions on planning applications the Council sets out policies in a 
Development Plan such as the Local Plan. If planning permission is required it will be 
decided in line with our adopted planning policy or Development Planthese policies, 
unless there is a very good reason not to do so. The Development Plan can 
comprise a Local Plan, a Neighbourhood Plan and other policy documents. Writing 
and approving a Development Plan normally takes a long time with many stages in 
the process. 
 

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement? 
 
South Oxfordshire District Council is committed to working in a clear and transparent 
way and is keen to assist anyone who may wish to be involved in the planning 
process. Our Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how we will 
engage with our communities and businesses so they can comment on planning 
applications and new Development Plans.  
 
This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how the community, 
businesses, developers, landowners and other organisations can engage with the 
planning system. This is with regard to making planning policy and deciding planning 
applications.  
 

Page 136



Page 5 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

The preparation of a SCI is a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (as amended).  
 
The legal requirement for public consultation on planning documents Development 
Plans is set out in The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 
 
The legal requirement for public consultation on planning applications is set out in 
Article 15 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. There are separate arrangements for listed buildings which 
are set out in Regulation 5 and Regulation 5A of the Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas Regulations 1990 (as amended). 
 
 
 

1.2 Our values and vision for community involvement in planning  
 
This SCI complements the council’sour strategic objectives and priorities set out in 
our Corporate Plan, Public Engagement Charter and our Customer Service 
Standards. These documents  
 
The above documents are available on line: 
 

 www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/corporate-plan  
 

 www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/our-commitments-public-
engagement 

 
 www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards 

 
This SCI recognises the needs of different groups within our community, the value of 
equality and the diversity that our communities represent.  
 
We strongly encourage and will support local communities who wish to prepare 
Neighbourhood Plans. 
 
We wish to ensure that people are involved at the early stage of Local Plan 
preparation and in the consideration of planning applications. We want people to feel 
that they can make a real difference to the future of the areas in which they live and 
work. 
 
Our aspiration is that: 
 
The community of South Oxfordshire should be enabled to participate meaningfully 
in the development of planning policies and proposals contained in the Local Plan 

and in the consideration of planning applications in the district. 
 

Page 137



Page 6 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

2 Our Principles for Community Engagement and 
Involvement in Planning 

 
Communicate clearly 

 We will keep the process simple by writing our documents in plain English and 
explaining any planning terms that we need to use. 

 We will explain clearly what we are consulting on and the reasons why we 
want to involve you. 

 
Early involvement 

 We will ensure early involvement with our local community in the preparation 
of our planning policy documents, so that you are involved from the start. 

 
Recognising the needs of different groups in the community 

 We will communicate in ways that are relevant and accessible to all sections 
of our community. 

 We will aim to engage with groups in our community that may find us less 
accessible, these are sometimes referred to as hard to reach groups. 

 We will encourage involvement from groups that have traditionally not been 
involved in the planning process.  For example, we will engage young people 
through targeted events in schools and other settings.  

 
Providing clear opportunities for involvement 

 We will provide clear and up-to-date information on the consultation 
processes we use in preparing our policy documents. 

 We will ensure information is provided at the earliest opportunity and give you 
time to respond.  

 We will involve you in all stages of plan making. 
 

Ease of access to information 
 We will maximise the use of internet in our consultations. 
 We will also recognise that other forms of engagement are necessary for 

those who do not have access to the internet. 
 We will be inclusive by providing our information in an accessible format. 
 We will make our information publicly available (for example, information on 

the progress of proposals and how your comments have been taken into 
account). 

 
Providing feedback and sharing information 

 We will make our planning documents and background studies readily 
available to the public on our website and in hard copy at our local deposit 
points (including local libraries and council offices). 

 We will keep you informed of progress and outcomes. 
 
We keep an up-to-date database of individuals, groups and stakeholders who we 
regularly contact on planning matters. This database is updated continuously.  If you 
would like to be added to the database or need to amend your details, please email 

Page 138



Page 7 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk or call our Customer Service Team on 01235 
422600.  
 

3 Possible Methods of Community Involvement 
 
We will seek to utilise the most appropriate ways in which to consult and engage the 
community. We will clearly identify a responsible officer or team for the policy or the 
planning application. 
 
Table 1 sets out a list of possible methods. The list is not exhaustive and there may 
be other ways we might engage. The type of methods used will be tailored to the 
needs of the community, the subject or nature of the information, and the resources 
available. We will aim to use methods that enable all sections of the community to be 
informed and to have the opportunity to contribute. These methods will vary 
according to the scope and nature of each individual consultation and to ensure the 
most effective consultation methods are used. 
 
In most instances, the information you will need in relation to plan-making and 
planning applications can be found on our council website.  If you still have questions 
after looking at that information, you may wish to contact our Customer Services 
Team on 01235 422600 (Text phone users add 18001 before you dial)*.. 
 
You may also wish to contact your local councillor to discuss your views, or to seek 
their help with a planning proposal in your area.  Contact details of local ward 
councillors are available at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/local-
democracy/councillors-committees-meetings-and-agendas 
 
Further information on the council’sour Cconstitution and the involvement of 
councillors can be accessed online at: 
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/documents/s11213/ConstitutionMarch2017.pdf  
www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/Constitution 
 
 
Table 1: Methods we use to consult on our planning policy documents: 
 

 email alerts to consultees registered on our database (for planning related 
matters) 

 formal notices in newspapers circulating across the district*  
 leaflets, posters and bulletins (paper and/or email) 
 letters and emails to groups and individuals e.g. South Oxfordshire 

community, email bulletins 
 press releases to local media including local radio and television 
 public exhibitions, staffed and un-staffed 
 public meetings and discussion groups 
 questionnaires and response forms (online and paper copies) 
 social media 
 targeted events with access groups, minority groups and young people  

Page 139



Page 8 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 targeted work with community groups and voluntary organisations (e.g. 
schools) 

 targeted work with residents’ panels  
 information on our website  
 workshops or focus groups (e.g. town and parish councils, stakeholders) 

 
* Statutory requirement 

 

4 Duty to Co-operate 
 
Section 110 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out a legal Dduty on local planning 
authorities, county councils and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and 
on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan preparation in the 
context of strategic cross boundary matters. The duty to cooperate is not a duty to 
agree, but we will make every effort to secure necessary cooperation. to Co-operate 
for local planning authorities, county councils and other bodies with statutory 
functions to cooperate with each other. Cooperation includes constructive and active 
engagement as part of an ongoing process to maximise effective working on the 
preparation of local planning documents. The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out the public bodies that we are 
required to co-operate with. 
 
In addition to these public bodies we will exercise our duty to cooperate with our South 
Oxfordshire’s neighbouring authorities councils which are currently: 
 

 Aylesbury Vale District Council 
 Cherwell District Council 
 Oxford City Council 
 Oxfordshire County Council 
 Reading Borough Council 
 Vale of White Horse District Council 
 Wokingham Borough Council 
 Wycombe District Council 

 

5 Community Involvement in Planning Policy 
 
Planning policy is concerned with preparing and implementing plans that help us 
decide where and when development takes place. We have a range of planning 
policies that are used to inform decisions to approve or reject planning applications. 
Our planning policies are contained in a variety of policy documents which make up 
our Development Plan. 
 

5.1 Policy documents we consult on 
 
Local Plans or Development Plan Documents (DPDs) 

Page 140



Page 9 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

These are plans which set out a vision and a framework for the future development 
of the area, addressing needs and opportunities in relation to housing, the economy, 
community facilities and infrastructure as well as a basis for safeguarding the 
environment, adapting to climate change and securing good design. They are also 
critical tools in guiding decisions about individual development proposals. The plans 
generally look forward 15-20 years. 
 
The statutory stages in the preparation of these documents is set out in the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
These documents add further detail to the policies established in the Local Plan.  
They can be used to provide further guidance for development but cannot be used to 
set out new policy. As with Local Plans the statutory requirements for preparing 
SPDs are set out in the above regulations. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans and Development Orders 
Neighbourhood planning is a way for local groups to take a lead on planning the 
future of their area. Neighbourhood planning can be led by a parish council or by a 
neighbourhood forum, which are specially set up for neighbourhood planning. 
Neighbourhood forums need to be open to anyone who lives or works in the area 
they cover. Consultation during the preparation stage of these plans is undertaken 
by the town or parish council and does not therefore need to meet the requirements 
of this SCI but it would be a useful starting point to help guide consultations. 
 
Neighbourhood forums can choose to prepare neighbourhood development orders 
or a neighbourhood plan. Local communities can grant planning permission through 
neighbourhood development orders and community right to build orders for specific 
development.  They can set out planning policies in neighbourhood plans to guide 
the future development of an area, including identifying sites for new housing or 
safeguarding parks and playing fields. 
 
Once a neighbourhood plan or order is approved it will be used to guide 
development and to help decide the outcome of planning applications in the area. 
The neighbourhood plan or order sits alongside other planning policy and needs to 
generally conform to local and national planning policy. 
 
The statutory stages in the preparation of these documents are set out in The 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 
 
What support do we offer to prepare your neighbourhood plan or to groups 
reviewing their neighbourhood plan? 
We strongly support neighbourhood planning throughout the process including: 

 advice and an introductory meeting to discuss your aims and outline the 
process for you; 

 contact with a lead officer for your plan, who attends your group meetings 
when appropriate and brings their own and other colleagues' professional 
experience to you; 

 advice on engaging with your community and the need to record engagement; 

Page 141



Page 10 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 advice on the types of evidence needed to write your plan and whom to 
consult; 

 review of your draft neighbourhood plan to ensure it meets the basic 
conditions; and 

 arranging and paying for the independent examination and the referendum. 
 
If you would like to find out more about getting started, please contact a 
neighbourhood planning officer by emailing planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk or 
calling our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600. 
 
Further details are available on our website: www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
The Sustainability Appraisal is an integral part of the plan preparation process and is 
required for each Local Plan document and for some SPDs. It looks at the 
environmental, social and economic effects of a plan to make sure that the plan 
promotes sustainable development and takes the most appropriate approach given 
reasonable alternatives. At each stage of the development plan preparation there is 
a corresponding stage of the Sustainability Appraisal and these documents are 
made available for comment during public consultation. The Sustainability Appraisal, 
where appropriate will incorporate the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), in 
accordance with European Directive EC/2001/42. The process is explained in 
government guidance. 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
The CIL is a charge that is levied on new development floor space which is intended 
to contribute towards the provision of infrastructure to support growth. The statutory 
process for preparing a CIL Charging Schedule is set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 

5.2 Who we consult on planning policy  
 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets 
out the legal requirements for consultation and public participation in respect of local 
planning documents. 
 
Local communities 
We will seek to engage with the local community through both our general 
consultation procedures and if appropriate, through targeted events, (e.g. public 
meetings, exhibitions and other forums). This is to ensure we capture representative 
views of the community. 
 
We will work with those promoting development sites through the planning process 
to ensure that any site assembly is undertaken on a comprehensive basis and that 
those affected are aware of new planning policyproposals. 
 
 

Page 142



Page 11 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

Specific and general consultation bodies 
Government regulations are clear how important it is that certain bodies are 
consulted at key stages when preparing local planning policy documents (these 
bodies are sometimes referred to as statutory consultees). They include, bodies 
such as the Environment Agency, Historic England, Natural England and Highways 
England and any other organisation with whom we have a duty to cooperate.  We 
will always consult on our planning policy documents with the relevant consultation 
bodies in accordance with the relevant and up to date regulations. Details are 
provided in Appendix 1. 
 
  

Page 143



Page 12 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

5.3 Main stages of policy preparation 
 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) including the Local Plan 
 
 

 

 
 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
Figure 1: Key stages in the preparation of Development Plan Documents (e.g. Local Plan; Area 
Action Plan) 

 
 
  

Pre - production stage - evidence                         
gathering 

Public participation in DPD 
content, scope and preferred 

options (min six weeks)

Representations received

Preparation of DPD

Publication of DPD 
(six week consultation)

Respond to representations received 
on the Published DPD

Submission of DPD to 
Secretary of State 

Examination by Independent 
Planning Inspector (appointed by     

Secretary of State)

Adoption of final DPD by 

Full Council

Monitoring and Review 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 i
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

R
e

p
re

s
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 
Reg 
18* 

Reg 
19* 

Reg 
22* 

Reg 
24* 

Reg 
26* 

Page 144



Page 13 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

Council prepares draft LDO 

Public consultation (copy of draft 
order and statement of reasons 

sent to consultees) 
(minimum 28 days)

Consider representations and 
make necessary changes to LDO

Adoption of LDO by Council and 
Statement of Reasons 

Send draft LDO and Statement of 
Reasons to Secretary of State 

within 28 days of adoption

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
 

      
 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
Figure 2: Key stages in the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

 
Local Development Order (LDO) 
Local development orders are made by local planning authorities. They are a tool 
simplify the planning process in a defined area by introducing new permitted 
development that does not need further planning permission. They  and give a grant 
of planning permission to specific types of development within a defined area. A LDO  
They streamlines the planning process by removing the need for developers to make 
a planning application to a local planning authorityproviding the development meets 
set parameters. They create certainty and save time and money for those involved in 
the planning process. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015  
Figure 5: Key stages required in the preparation of a Local Development Order (LDO)   

Pre - production stage - evidence                         
gathering and early engagement 

Prepare draft SPD

Consultation on draft SPD 
(minimum four weeks)

Respond to representations on 
Draft SPD and make any 

necessary changes

Adoption of final SPD by Cabinet or 
Cabinet member

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 i
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
Reg 
17* 

Reg 
14* 

Community 
Involvement 

Reg 
38(1); 
(3)* 

Reg 
38 

(10)* 

Reg 
38 

(11)* 

Page 145



Page 14 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
 

Page 146



Page 15 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

Neighbourhood Plan or Neighbourhood Development Order 
 

 

Neighbourhood Area Application submitted to the council.  

If outside parish boundary minimum four weeks publicity period.

Draft Neighbourhood Plan/Order is produced

Pre-submission consultation (min six weeks)

Submission of draft Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
to Council

Publication of Neighbourhood Plan/Order (min 
six weeks)

Submission of Neighbourhood Plan/Order and 
responses to Examiner

Independent Examination

Referendum on Neighbourhood Plan/Order

Neighbourhood Plan/Order mde final by Full 
Council**

Monitoring and review

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

Reg 
16* 

Reg 
14* 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

In
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 

In
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
Reg 
6* 

* Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

** If more than 50 per cent of people who voted in the referendum supported the 

plan/order, the council must adopt it 
Figure 6: Key stages in the preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan and/or 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

Page 147



Page 16 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 

 

Community Right to Build Order 
A community right to build order is a type of neighbourhood development order and 
forms one of the neighbourhood planning tools introduced in the Localism Act 2011. 
It is useful if your community wants to construct or rebuild community buildings such 
as a community centre or community-led housing. It can be used to grant planning 
permission for specific development which complies with the order. It is put together 
by local people who can decide on the type, quantity and design of buildings they 
want, and in the locations they want them. It can be used to grant outline or full 
planning permission for specific development which complies with the order. It can 
include for example, homes, shops, businesses, affordable housing for rent or sale, 
community facilities or playgrounds. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 7: Key stages in the preparation of a Community Right to Build Order 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Form a community group (e.g. 
town, parish or a neighbourhood 

forum)

Define the neighbourhood Area

Prepare the Community Right to Build 
Order and consult on pre - submission 

(minimum six weeks)

Submission and publication on draft 
Community Right to Build Order to Council

(minimum six weeks)

Independent Examination

Referendum on 
Community Right to 

Build Order

Order used to 
grant outline or 

full consent 

Is the site or area 
already in a designated 
neighbourhood area? 

YES NO 

Apply for 
neighbourhood 
area 
designation  

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

Page 148



Page 17 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 

 
 
* Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
Figure 4: SA/SEA and plan–making 
 
 
 

SEA Screening

Consult environmental assessment 
consultation bodies on scope of SEA 

(min five weeks)

Setting the context and objectives to 
develop the framework for SA/SEA

Consult on scope of SA/SEA 
(minimum of five weeks)

Develop and refine alternatives; 
appraise plan options

Prepare the SA environmental report

Publish and consult on SA report 
(minimum six weeks)

Appraise any significant changes to the 
plan following consultation

Community 
Involvement 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
 w

it
h

 
e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
b

o
d

ie
s
  

Reg 
13* 

Reg 
9* 

Reg 
12* 

Page 149



Page 18 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

      
                                                  
   
 
 
* The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
Figure 3: Key stages in the preparation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
  

Pre - production stage - evidence                         
gathering 

Consultation on Preliminary Draft 
Charging Schedule

(minimum four weeks) 

Respond to representations on 
Draft Charging Schedule and make 

any necessary changes

Publish final Draft Charging 
Schedule for consultation 

(minimum four weeks) 

Examination by Independent 
Planning Inspector  

(appointed by Secretary of State)

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 i
n

v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 

Reg 
15* 

Reg 
16* 

Reg 
25* 

Adoption of Final  
Charging Schedule by Full Council 

Page 150



Page 19 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

5.4 How we will respond to you on planning policy 
 
Our customer service standards set out how we will deal with correspondence by 
letter, email and telephone, as well as those that visit our office. 
 
Further information on our customer service standards can be accessed via our 
website at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-
standards 
 
We will acknowledge representations on planning policy submitted electronically and 
by e-mail. Representations submitted by post will only receive an acknowledgement 
if this has been requested and a reply email address has been supplied. 
 
We will not send acknowledgements to verbal comments or comments submitted on 
feedback forms at consultation events. Those hand delivering written comments will 
be issued with a receipt if requested. 
 
Comments submitted to us will generally be published on our website depending on 
the method of consultation. 
 
For consultations on matters related to plan-making, we receive a high volume of 
correspondence and it is difficult to respond individually to each comment. We 
therefore publish a summary of the responses we receive and we prepare reports 
after each consultation stage. These are called consultation statements. Each 
consultation statement sets out how the comments made during the consultation 
have been considered before moving to the next stage of plan-making. 
 
We make our consultation statements available at:  

 our council offices  
 local libraries  
 our website at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/planning-policy 

 

6 Community Involvement in Planning Applications 
 
The council We receives different types of planning applications for formal 
determination.  These include applications for planning permission, listed building 
consent, prior approvals and notifications, telecommunications developments and 
lawful development certificates. 
 
We publicise planning applications in accordance with statutory requirements. 
Planning legislation and Government guidance can be updated. If the guidance is 
updated or superseded we will update our practices accordingly. 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



Page 20 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

6.1 Before an application is submitted 
 
Pre-application advice and consultation 
The pre-application stage encourages applicants to carry out early engagement with 
the local community and the council us before submitting a planning application.  We 
encourage early discussion of schemes in the form of a pre-application as it can:  
 

 verify the information required to be submitted with the application 
 

 reduce the likelihood of submitting invalid applications  
 

 help the applicant to understand how planning policies and other 
requirements may affect their proposals. 

 
Once a formal planning application is submitted, we will disclose any pre-application 
advice between us and the applicant and the council.  This will be made available on 
our Planning Application Register, which can be accessed on the council our 
website.   
 
Further information on the pre-application process can be accessed on the council 
our website at: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-
building/application-advice/pre-application-advice 
  

Page 152



Page 21 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
 
Development forums 
Our development forums support agents, developers and applicants to engage with 
the local community in the pre-application process. 
 
We encourage applicants and developers to discuss their proposals with neighbours, 
and to consult with the wider community on their proposals that are likely to have an 
impact on their local area.  
 
We encourage developers to carry out public consultation for all major applications 
prior to submitting an application. 
 
The development forum ensures that key stakeholders are engaged at the earliest 
possible stage to help shape the development. It particularly refers to engagement 
with our ward councillors and the town and parishes during the pre-application and 
full application process for major development proposals. 
  
A development forum will: 

 provide an explanation of the proposed development by the developer 
 provide an explanation of national and local planning policies and guidance 
 identify procedures for the funding of infrastructure and facilities, including 

developer contributions (Section 106) and Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

 provide an opportunity for an open discussion by all parties to raise issues 
and to provide feedback  

 provide a mechanism for carrying out meaningful public engagement 
 record actions and update on progress with the application. 

 
The Development Forum, as a general rule, will involve the following: 
 

 the ward councillor   the planning committee 
 up to two parish councillors from 

each relevant parish  
 the planning officer and other 

council officers as appropriate  
 the town or parish clerk  Oxfordshire County Council and 

other statutory organisation 
representatives  

 up to three representatives from 
the developer (if appropriate 
specialist advisors) 

 up to two representatives of a 
recognised community 
organisation  

 
Development forums are encouraged at the pre-application stage and are likely to be 
triggered by large scale development of 2 hectares or 200 residential units. This will 
be on a case by case basis. Development forums will consist of a meeting with 
verbal advice and will be followed with written advice. Timescales for holding a 
developer forum will be agreed between South Oxfordshire District Council and the 
developer. The information would be publicly available once a planning application 
has been submitted. 
 

Page 153



Page 22 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

Wider forums, or a form of consultation, may be required at the planning application 
stage. 
  
It is important to note that this forum does not remove our requirement to carry out 
formal public consultation on applications. 
 

 

6.2 How we publicise and consult on planning applications 
 
Once registered, the council we publicises and seeks comments on planning 
applications submitted to the councilus. The period in which to make comments is 
normally 21 days. The method of publicity depends on the type of planning 
application, as required by government regulations. Further information on how we 
publicise types of planning application is listed in Appendix 2. 
 
The council We publicises planning applications by: 
 
Publishing details on our website 
As well as viewing the application details, these webpages allow the public to submit 
online comments. Consultees are entitled to view all details of a planning application 
in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004. 
 
Neighbour notification 
A notification (letter or email), as a minimum, will normally be sent to those 
properties adjacent to the boundary of the application site. If the neighbouring 
property cannot be identified we will display a site notice on or near the application 
property.  
 
In addition to the minimum neighbour notification, Tthe case officer may also notify 
any properties they consider to be directly affected by the proposal, for example the 
dwelling opposite the application site if the officer believes it will be affected.. 
 

Page 154



Page 23 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
Figure 8: Minimum neighbourhood notification for all applications  

 
 
 
Site notice 
In accordance with the relevant legislation, for all major applications and for prior 
approval we will display at least one site notice to which the applications relates for 
no less than 21 days. 
 
If the council is we are informed that a site notice has been removed, we will usually 
replace this with another site notice.  We will not re-erect a site notice more than 
once. 
 
Press notice 
In accordance with the relevant and most up to date legislation, we will publish a 
notice in the newspaper where the application site is located. 
 
This is undertaken for all major planning applications, applications located within 
cConservation aAreas or within the setting of a listed building that may affect its 
character or appearance. 
 
Weekly list 
The council We also compiles a weekly list of registered planning applications which 
is published on the council’s our website and emailed to councillors and other 
interested individuals, groups and organisations. 
 
Email alerts 
In addition to our statutory procedures for consulting on applications, the council we 
offers a service for those interested in planning applications to sign up for regular 

Page 155



Page 24 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

email alerts. This can be done via our website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/news-
and-events/keep-me-informed/email-alerts 
   
Once registered the consultee you will receive an automatic email notification 
informing them you of any new planning application or planning decision made in 
their your area (within 100m radius of your postcode area, larger area available on 
request).  with a link to the proposal via our website. 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/email-and-text-alerts 
 
Councillors 
We notify our councillors on a planning application once it has been registered. by 
the council. 
 
Statutory body consultation 
We will consult with statutory bodies on planning applications for certain types of 
development in accordance with the relevant and up to date regulations. 
Consultation with these bodies will vary depending on the type of development 
proposal and/or location. 
 
Town and parish consultation 
Town and parishes are not classified as a statutory body, but we will always notify 
them of an application within or immediately adjacent to the town or parish boundary. 
We will also notify any relevant neighbourhood forum. 
 
 
Residents’ association consultation  
A body formally designated as a residents’ association and who has advised the 
council us of its area of interest will be notified of a planning application in their 
defined area. 

 

6.3 When we re-consult 
 
National policy asks councils to consider whether further publicity and consultation is 
necessary if an amendment is made to an application once it has been submitted to 
the councilus. 
 
If an application is significantly amended we will send a further notification to 
adjacent properties and to people or organisations who have given comments and 
request any comments within 14 days. 
 
For major applications we will also issue a further site notice and advertise the 
consultation on the amended application. 
 
We will also send copies of the revised application by email to the relevant town or 
parish councils for further comment.  
 
In accordance with best practice and to manage expectations, the case officer will 
determine whether discretionary consultations may take place for applications with 
amended plans.   

Page 156



Page 25 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
 
 
 

6.4 How decisions on planning applications are made 
 
Decisions on how planning applications will be determined is set out in the council’s 
our Constitution. Further information on the council’s our Constitution and the 
involvement of councillors in planning applications can be accessed online at: 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/Constitution 
 
The Planning Committee, which comprises elected councillors has a duty to decide 
planning and other development related applications. However currently around 90% 
of applications are determined under the scheme of delegation to the Head of 
Planning. The criteria for deciding which applications should be considered by 
Planning Committee are available on the council our website: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
committees.  and pPrinted copies can be made available on request. 
 
Planning Committee 
The agenda for the Planning Committee is published five working days before the 
meeting and is available to view at the council our offices or online at: 
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=123 
  
If the application on which you have commented on is to be heard by the planning 
committee, we will write to you and invite you to come and speak at the meeting. If 
you prefer you can contact your local councillor and ask if they can put forward your 
views at the Planning Committee. Details of your local councillor can be found at:  
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1  
 
You are welcome to attend any Planning Committee and view the agenda papers. If 
you wish to speak at the meeting please email democratic services at 
democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422407.    
 
 
Speaking at a planning committee 
Planning Committee provides an opportunity, for those registered, to speak about a 
planning application and put forward any relevant issues to the Committee on a 
proposal.  It is also an opportunity for councillors on the Planning Committee to 
clarify any questions and answers arising. Each speaker, or group of speakers, can 
speak for up to five minutes on each application site (even if there are several 
applications for the site). Further conditions of speaking at Planning Committee is set 
out in the council’s our Constitution. This can be accessed online at: 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/Constitution 
 

6.5 Planning appeals 
 
If a planning application is refused or not determined in time, the applicant can 
appeal against the decision. Appeals are made to the Planning Inspectorate.  

Page 157



Page 26 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
Only the person who applied for planning permission, or was served with an 
enforcement notice, has a legal right to appeal (known as the appellant).  There is no 
right of appeal for interested people or organisations (known as third parties). 
If an appeal is made we will notify the interested parties of the appeal and provide 
information on how and when to respond to the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
Appeals can be viewed on our Planning Appeals Register available at: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
appeals/planning-appeals-register  
 
This register is live and includes current and recent appeals and sets out details of 
what stage the appeal is at and the decision, if it has been made. 
 
Alternatively, you can view current appeals on the Planning Inspectorate’s Appeals 
Casework Portal available online at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate  
 

6.6 How we will respond to you on planning applications 
 
Our customer service standards set out how we will deal with correspondence by 
letter, email and telephone, as well as those that visit our office. 
 
Further information on our customer service standards can be accessed via our 
website at: www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-
standards 
 
We will acknowledge representations received on planning applications by e-mail 
and post. If you have included an e-mail address with your letter we will respond by 
e-mail. We will not send acknowledgements to verbal comments or comments 
submitted to us on feedback forms at consultation events. 

7 How to CommentRespond to Our Publicity and 
Consultations 

 
Details of how to comment and respond to our publicity and consultations vary 
depending on whether the publicity relates to planning policy or a planning 
application and the method of consultation. Details on how to respond will be 
provided as part of the publicity or consultation.  
 
We provide details of current policy on how to comment consultations on our website 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building 
 
We provide guidance on how to comment on planning applications on our website. 
The following page provides details of what we can or cannot take into account: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-
application/comment-planning-application 
 

Page 158



Page 27 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

Comments made on a planning policy consultation or planning application are not 
transferred to a subsequent consultation or to a new planning application. If a new 
planning policy consultation takes place or a new planning application is submitted, 
for example on the same application site, you will need to resubmit your comments 
for consideration. 
 
For more advice on how to comment Yyou can call the Customer Service Team on 
01235 422600 (Text phone users add 18001 before you dial)*. 
 
You can submit your comments in writing to write to the council us at: 

Planning Department 
Planning Policy 
South Oxfordshire District Council 
135 Eastern Avenue 
Milton Park 
MiltonAbingdon 
OX14 4SB 

 
If you would like to comment on a planning application or policy document but are 
unable to do so in writing please contact us to discuss how we might help.  You can 
call our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600.   
 
Information on our translation and interpretation services is available on our website: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/community-advice-and-
support/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-and-diversity 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/community-advice-and-support    

Page 159



Page 28 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

8 Appendix 1 - Consultation Bodies 
 
Specific consultation bodies* 
 
(a) the Coal Authority 
(b) the Environment Agency 
(c) the Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as 
English HeritageHistoric England) 
(d) the Marine Management Organisation 
(e) Natural England  
(f) Network Rail Infrastructure Limited (company number 2904587), 
(g) Highways England (formerly the Highways Agency) 
(h) a relevant authority any part of whose area is in or adjoins the local planning 
authority’s area 
(i) any person— 

(i) to whom the electronic communications code applies by virtue of a 
direction given under section 106(3)(a) of the Communications Act 2003 and 
(ii) who owns or controls electronic communications apparatus situated in any 
part of the local planning authority’s area 

(j) if it exercises functions in any part of the local planning authority’s area— 
(i) aThe NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (formerly the Primary 
Care Trust established under section 18 of the National Health Service Act 
2006(g) or continued in existence by virtue of that section) 
(ii) a person to whom a licence has been granted under section 6(1)(b) or (c) 
of the Electricity Act 1989 
(iii) a person to whom a licence has been granted under section 7(2) of the 
Gas Act 1986( 
(iv) a sewerage undertaker; and 
(v) a water undertaker 

(k) the Homes and Communities Agency 
(a) 1996 c.16. 
(b) See section 1 of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (c.21). 
(c) See section 1 of the Environment Act 1995 (c.25). 
(d) See section 32 of the National Heritage Act 1983 (c.47). 
(e) See section 1 of the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 (c.23). 
(f) See section 1 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
(c.16). 
(g) 2006 c.41. 
(h) 1989 c.29. There are amendments to these provisions which are not 
relevant to these Regulations. 
(i) 1986 c.44. There are amendments to these provisions which are not 
relevant to these Regulations. 
(j) See section 2 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (c.17) 

 
*As set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
  

Page 160



Page 29 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

General consultation bodies* 
 
(a) voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the local 
planning authority’s area 
(b) bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups 
in the local planning authority’s area 
(c) bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the local 
planning authority’s area 
(d) bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local planning 
authority’s area 
(e) bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business in the local 
planning authority’s area 
 
*As set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
 
 

Page 161



Page 30 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 

9 Appendix 2 - Public Consultation by Type of Planning Application or Development 
Proposal 

 
Type of Application Site  

Notice 
Press 
Notice 

Neighbour 
notification 
letters or site 
notice 

Notes  

‘Major’ Planning      
‘Other’/ ’minor’ Planning      
‘Other’/ ’minor’ Planning 
within Conservation Area or 
Affecting listed building 

    

Listed Building Consent      
Certificates of Lawfulness of 
Existing Use or 
Development  

  See notes  Letter used if the evidence submitted by the applicant appears 
inconclusive and we feel that local people may be able to provide 
evidence. We always notify the town or parish. 

Certificates of Lawfulness of 
Proposed Use or 
Development  

    

Approval of reserved 
matters  

See 
notes  

See 
notes  

  The application is subject to the publicity appropriate to the original 
outline application 

Applications required by a 
condition attached to a grant 
of planning permission 

  See notes   

Change of use to a ‘flexible 
use’ 

    

Advertisement consent      

P
age 162



Page 31 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 
Further useful information is available on the following website: 
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters/ 

Hazardous Substance 
Consent 

   We only consult the Health and Safety Executive as the statutory 
body for matters related to hazardous substances.  

Development affecting a 
Public Right of Way  

    

Prior Approval 
Applications 

Site  
Notice 

Press 
Notice 

Neighbour 
notification 
letters 

Notes  

Telecommunications   See 
notes  

 In some very specific circumstances, a press notice is required.  

Demolition    Publicity is for information purposes only and the applicant 
undertakes it.  The applicant displays a site notice for not less than 
21 days in the period of 28 days beginning with the date on which 
the application was submitted to the councilus. Notify the town or 
parish 

New Agricultural Buildings     Parish notified  
Domestic Extensions      
Change of use of Office to 
Residential  

    

Change of use to a State 
Funded School  

    

Change of use of 
agricultural buildings under 
500m2 

    

Use of a building and any 
land for a State Funded 
School for one year  

    

P
age 163



Page 32 | 32 
Consultation Draft - South Oxfordshire Statement of Community InvolvementCI 

January April 2017 
 

 

 
 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available 
on request. 

 
These include large print, Braille, audio, email, easy 

read and alternative languages. 
 

Please contact Planning Policy on 01235 422600 
(Text phone users add 18001 before you dial) or 

email planning.policy@southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

Planning Policy Team 
South Oxfordshire District Council 

135 Eastern Avenue  
Milton Park 

Abingdon 
OX14 4SB 

 
www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 164



Cabinet Report

Report of Head of Housing and Development
Author: Gerry Brough
Telephone: 01235 422470
E-mail: Gerry.brough@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: n/a

South Cabinet member responsible: Robert Simister
Tel: 01491 576352
E-mail: Robert.Simister@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Dates: 15.06.17

Science Vale and Enterprise Zone 
Marketing Plan

Recommendations

(a) That Cabinet agree to spend £183,000 for the Science Vale UK and Enterprise Zone 
2017/18 marketing campaign production and advertising placement, from the previously 
approved DCLG grant funds budget, to implement the attached marketing plan.

(b) That Cabinet agree to submit the attached Enterprise Zone Marketing Plan to OxLEP 
and DCLG, in accordance with the Enterprise Zone Implementation Plan previously 
agreed by all EZ partners (including SODC).

Purpose of Report

1. This report makes the case for spending £183,000 on a social media and advertising 
campaign targeted at specific audiences, for the purpose of driving traffic to the new 
www.sciencevale.com website, generating relocation enquiries and securing inward 
investment projects.

2. As part of the condition of the Didcot Growth Accelerator Enterprise Zone award, a 
marketing plan needs to be submitted to the Secretary for State within six months of 
entering into the Didcot Growth Accelerator Enterprise Zone Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU). 

Corporate Objectives 
3. Accepting the recommendations in this paper will contribute to the following corporate 

priorities:

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 165

mailto:Gerry.brough@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.Simister@southoxon.gov.uk
http://www.sciencevale.com/


Corporate Priority Contributes to 
(Yes/No)

 Invest in the District’s future Yes
 Unlock the potential of Didcot Yes
 Homes and jobs for everyone Yes
 Build thriving communities Yes
 Services that reflect residents needs No
 Be tough on enforcement No

Background

4. The attached marketing plan and budget, brings together the lifestyle website 
(www.sciencevale.com) and the campaign activity.  These activities will be used to 
drive our target audiences to visit the website and ultimately turn website page visits 
into enterprise zone business landings.

5. The plan will increase awareness of the Science Vale UK brand and the two enterprise 
zone sub brands (Science Vale Oxford and Didcot Growth Accelerator) after a four 
year gap in awareness raising, promotional activity.

6. The plan will help strengthen the delivery of 20,000 new jobs and 15,000 new homes 
by 2031, showcasing the areas opportunities for businesses and families to live and 
work in Science Vale UK and Didcot Garden Town.

7. The 2017/18 plan will drive awareness and traffic to the website through the use of 
digital media advertising (on-line and off-line), alongside a social media campaign to 
keep costs down and enable monitoring of each marketing activity.

8. The campaign will use a series of messages to our target audience with the BE 
campaign branding.  These messages will be delivered via film, advertising, email 
newsletters, events, the website, a digital brochure and PR.

9. The BE campaign messages tested early this year were successfully received with 
84.21% of respondents feeling positive about the campaign after looking at the 
creative.  In addition the BE campaign positively changed perceptions with a 43% 
baseline increase.  87.84% agreed that Science Vale UK was an innovative and 
exciting place to do business after seeing the creative.

10.The advertising campaign is planned to coincide with MIPIM UK, the largest property 
event in the UK.  It attracts UK and international relocation professionals.  OxLEP has a 
stand at this event.

11.Due to the costs of advertising and the focus on MIPIM UK, advertising will be primarily 
digital at high passenger volume travel points.  The costs of Heathrow and Gatwick 
advertising (starting at approximately £20,000 per digital site per two week slot) were 
felt to be outside the scope of the current budget.

12.All inward investment enquiries will be passed to the Enterprise Zone Manager and 
business site developers for them to contact and discuss the requirements in detail. 

Page 166



13.The metrics to assess the impact of the campaign work will be Google website 
analytics, social media accounts analytics and Evolutive metrics which is the 
Oxfordshire wide councils CRM business database.

14.The metrics that result from monitoring will be used to improve the effectiveness of the 
next campaign, ensuring as far as possible, best value for the council.

Options

15.Do Nothing: Failing to actively promote Science Vale and its business and lifestyle 
opportunities could lead to a situation where future new businesses and job 
opportunities are dominated by low value logistics. This would have a potentially 
adverse impact on the value of new investment into the area, income levels and both 
domestic and non-domestic rates generation.  Science Vale would not be visible as a 
high quality living and working environment where highly skilled jobs and high value-
added commercial activities are prevalent, leading to a possible erosion in the areas’ 
competitive positioning within the UK (in relation to both labour and investment). This 
will make it more difficult to grow business rates income that can help deliver new, 
planned infrastructure.

16. Initiate a promotional campaign different from the one proposed: The proposed 
campaign delivers strong messages to targeted audiences in an extremely cost 
effective manner. The messages have been tested on the target audiences and scored 
very high in terms of their impact. No other equally cost effective campaign is apparent.

17. Initiate the proposed campaign but at a lower or higher cost (i.e. by undertaking more 
or less advertising or using different media channels i.e. a different promotional mix): 
The proposed campaign has been developed based on advice from external marketing 
consultants. The promotional mix has been chosen to target our key audiences and fit 
with available media delivery channels, i.e. mainly digital, in as cost effective manner 
as possible. Feedback metrics will be used to evaluate the impact of this mix and can 
be used to change the mix for subsequent campaigns if necessary. However, the 
proposed mix is regarded as the best possible initial mix. 

18. Initiate the proposed campaign as proposed: For the reasons touched on above, the 
proposed campaign represents a professional, well balanced and cost effective 
campaign. Its’ digital focus reduces production costs and means that the material can 
be equally well distributed through a variety of digital platforms, from digital posters to 
social media channels. 

Financial Implications

19.Funding for the campaign will come from DCLG grant funds that have previously been 
allocated for this purpose i.e. Science Vale marketing, including Enterprise Zones and 
Garden Town marketing as part of a previous cabinet decision.

Page 167



Legal Implications

20.There are no legal implications other than those pertaining to the use of copyright 
images and compliance with advertising code of practice standards. These issues have 
been taken into account when producing the proposed promotional material

Risks

21.That the marketing plan and associated promotional campaign does not have the 
desired impact and fails to generate a significant amount of additional website traffic.

22.That the marketing plan and associated promotional campaign generates significant 
additional website traffic that is not converted into real investment enquiries/projects. 

23.That the marketing plan and associated promotional campaign creates a substantial 
increase in website traffic and in new investment enquiries/projects, to the point where 
we do not have the capacity to respond to enquiries in a timely and constructive 
manner.

24.That new investment projects are not of a high quality in terms of the number and type 
of jobs being created or the amount of business rates generated – in which case the 
ability to deliver new “planned for” infrastructure, based on growing business rates, 
could be jeopardised.

Other implications

25.  None apparent.

Conclusion

26.The proposed marketing plan represents a balanced, logical and pragmatic approach 
to marketing Science Vale and our Enterprise Zones, which aims to achieve maximum 
impact at minimal cost.

27.Cabinet are therefore asked to support the proposed marketing plan and approve the 
associated expenditure required to implement it.

Background Papers

None

Appendices

Appendix 1: Science Vale UK and Enterprise Zones Marketing Plan 2017/18.  

Page 168



Appendix 1                                                                   

1 | P a g e

          Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Science Vale UK and the enterprise zones marketing plan 
2017/18

Background

Science Vale UK is home to two enterprise zones amounting to a total of 216 hectares (ha).  This was 
achieved through two successful Oxfordshire bids to the Government’s first round (2012) and second 
round (2016) enterprise zone programmes. 

Science Vale Oxford (EZ1) comprises a single site of 93 ha on the Harwell Campus and nine 
separate development sites at Milton Park amounting to 21 ha (originally 28 ha1).  The Didcot Growth 
Accelerator (EZ2) consists of seven brown & green field sites around Didcot and a green field site at 
the A34 Milton Interchange.  The Didcot Growth Accelerator totals 102 ha of developable land 
including the extensions.

Following the successful submission of the Didcot Growth Accelerator MOU to government we are 
now tasked with growing the net retained business rates by 2031 to £119 million.  This is in addition to 
the £136 million for EZ1, Science Vale Oxford. This will be achieved through attracting new 
companies to the region, growing jobs and increasing housing supply.

The Councils do not own the designated sites within either the Science Vale Oxford Enterprise Zone, 
or the Didcot Growth Accelerator Enterprise Zone.  Success will be achieved by the Council officers 
working with the owners, developers and representatives to influence & encourage the development, 
marketing and occupancy strategies which are supportive of the aims and objectives of both 
enterprise zone programmes. 

The hub for Science Vale UK is Didcot2. Its Garden Town status, awarded in December 2015, is set to 
deliver 15,000 new homes and 20,000 new jobs across the region. The retained business rate from 
the enterprise zone is required to help fund the key infrastructure to support this growth.

The marketing plan has been designed to project Science Vale’s strengths and build on these in the 
future, indicating what is being done to make Science Vale an even better location (i.e. address any 
weaknesses, take advantage of opportunities and overcome possible threats).

By analysing current strengths, weaknesses, threats and opportunities, a number of key marketing 
objectives can be identified for the marketing plan. These marketing objectives provide clear guidance 
for the resulting marketing strategy, the tactics that subsequently need to be employed to implement 

1 From April 2016 a further six sites within Milton Park became designated as enterprise zone extensions.  
These sites replaced seven hectares removed from Science Vale Oxford deemed to be undevelopable due 
to the presence of a scheduled ancient monument. 

2   Identifies in Oxfordshire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)

Page 169



Appendix 1                                                                   

2 | P a g e

          Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

the strategy, the resources that need to be allocated and the means by which performance will be 
evaluated to indicate whether the desired objectives are achieved.

S.W.O.T Analysis

Strengths Weaknesses

 Corporate PR team press experience, 
contacts and influence.

 Local SME business marketing training and 
advice through economic development 
team.

 Inward investment and existing company 
investment partner knowledge and 
assistance with enquiries2.

 Links and business relationships with 
partners in the Science Vale UK region 
have created the most innovative LEP in the 
UK making Science Vale UK very attractive. 
to inward investment and start-ups3

 Part of the successful science innovation 
arc. It’s very attractive to new businesses 
looking for easy access to the local 
knowledge base4.

 Second enterprise zone focusing on supply 
chain development and downstream 
commercialisation of the R&D in Science 
Vale.

 In-house experience of social media for 
towns and tourism business being built.

 High speed broadband available, offering 
quick connections worldwide.

 Historically ambiguous attitude to growth 
has led to some external perceptions of 
Oxfordshire being less positive than it 
should be4.

 Private ownership of all development sites 
doesn’t facilitate a joined up marketing and 
promotional approach for the Science Vale 
UK region as a whole.

 Science Vale UK advertising/visibility is 
limited to government department websites.

 Very little marketing to potential inward 
investment businesses outside of the 
Oxfordshire area.

 Historically there has been a lack of sharing 
of inward investment leads between 
enterprise zone partners.

 A CRM database deployment strategy has 
not been effectively designed or 
implemented for inward investment 
marketing purposes.

 Confusion between the brands of Science 
Vale Oxford and Science Vale UK

 Low awareness and brand identity for 
Science Vale UK and Didcot has resulted in 
minimal national coverage.

 No effective delivery of an integrated 
marketing and promotions plan.

 Nationally developed business support 
scheme offers are overcomplicated for 

2 Partners for inward and existing investment are: Invest in Oxfordshire, DiT, ISIS Innovation, Innovate UK, 
Satellite Application Catapult, Growth Accelerator, Oxford Innovation, Science & Technology Facilities 
Council, Science Vale EZ, Oxfordshire Skills Board and Network Navigators

3 Enterprise Research Centre report: Benchmarking Local Innovations 2013, the innovation geography of the 
UK

4 The Oxfordshire Innovation Engine – Realising the Growth Potential  - October 2013

Page 170



Appendix 1                                                                   

3 | P a g e

          Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

effective communication5.

Opportunities Threats

5 Invest in Oxfordshire Sector Profiles – January 2016

Page 171



Appendix 1                                                                   

4 | P a g e

          Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

 Integrate new science and technology from 
the area within the Didcot Garden Town 
delivery strategy once DCLG have 
approved the delivery plan.

 Change external people’s perceptions of 
Didcot area.

 Promote the lifestyle benefits gained by 
moving businesses and staff to live in the 
area.

 Encourage and support employment growth 
from small/start-up businesses that 
complement current high tech sectors (Life 
Science, Space Technology, Electronic & 
Sensors, Motorsports)5 in the Didcot Growth 
Accelerator Enterprise Zone.

 Exploit Science Vale UK business links with 
the UTC and STEM KS4 providers.

 Develop the marketing CRM system to 
capture and report on inward investment 
enquiries from all partner sources.

 Refresh and simplify the brand by creating 
an umbrella brand approach.

 Raise awareness through collaborative 
marketing to rebuild the brand across the 
region. 

 Create impactful digitally driven marketing 
campaigns to businesses and consumers 
through the new website.

 Generate innovative, branded joint 
marketing initiatives with partners and 
cluster groups. 

 Drive awareness, creating interest and 
ultimately generate investment to the 
region.

 No action plan is agreed specifically for the 
Science Vale UK region.

 No effective delivery of an integrated 
communications and marketing strategy is 
achieved.

 The quality of new businesses and job 
opportunities remains as low value logistics.

 No vibrant new investment is attracted to 
the area helping to deliver jobs and homes 
growth.

 The mix between the higher job value/lower 
business rate generation and the lower-
medium value job value/higher business 
rate generation activities is not achieved.

 New “planned for” infrastructure based on 
growing business rates will be delayed 
further or cancelled.

Key Issues

1. Rebuild the brand of Science Vale UK nationally and internationally due to the lack of support 
over the last four years.

Page 172



Appendix 1                                                                   

5 | P a g e

          Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

2. Generate inward investment enquiries from companies and their agents to relocate here.
3. Build relationships with the private developers of the enterprise zones to enable a cohesive 

vision of the region.
4. Attract the right quality of inward investment company to deliver the required business rate 

growth.
5. Encourage more families to live and work in Science Vale to help deliver housing and job 

growth targets.

Marketing objectives
1. To support the new implementation plan for the Science Vale UK enterprise zones – Science 

Vale Oxford (EZ1) and Didcot Growth Accelerator (EZ2) - to grow net retained business rates 
to £119 million by 2031 in addition to the £136 million from EZ1. 

2. Achieve this growth through attracting new businesses, their staff and families and helping to 
grow companies and industries already based in the region by:

a. generating a pipeline of business relocation enquiries through raised awareness of the 
Science Vale UK region’s benefits and enterprise zones to target business sector 
prospects 

b. grow current enterprise zone business and industry investment in the area though 
successful marketing communications to all 161* current enterprise zone companies to 
generate ongoing business and statistical information

3. Monitor the metrics as shown below, to assess the success of the marketing and 
communications activity.

4. Refine the marketing campaign awareness activity based on the metrics below on a quarterly 
basis. 

The number of visitors to the website and number of business relocation enquiries will be 
monitored during the first phase of the website (June to September 2017) to establish the base 
line. Once this is known, meaningful targets can be applied and monitored.

Awareness Interest Enquiry Prospect Lead Proposal Win

social media 
engagement 
rates, campaign 
generated click 
through to home 
page/landing 
pages

which 
pages 
visited, 
frequency 
of visit

proactive 
contact with 
us seeking 
information via 
email, phone 
and website 
forms

qualified 
needs 
establish

passed to 
developers or 
responded to 
by the EZ 
team

written by 
the EZ team 

or

written by 
developer(s)

proven 
landing of a 
company

* As identified within the Science Vale UK implementation plan February 2017

Marketing Strategy

Page 173



Appendix 1                                                                   

6 | P a g e

          Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

1. Build brand awareness of Science Vale UK as an umbrella brand within which the sub brands 
Science Vale Oxford Enterprise Zone and the Didcot Growth Accelerator Enterprise Zone sit. 
Achieve this through creating and delivering a series of creative marketing campaigns.

2. Using the key growth sectors as detailed in the Enterprise Zone Implementation Plan deploy 
digital media and social media in an effective low cost manner to;

a. relaunch the Science Vale UK website www.sciencevale.com as a hub for all campaign 
activity. Use it to promote the region’s business and lifestyle opportunities for 
companies and people

b. use the “BE in Science Vale” campaigns to raise brand awareness of Science Vale UK 
to a national and international investor audience highlighting the region’s sectors in 
Space Technologies, Life Sciences, Electronic Sensors and Instruments and the 
Automotive sectors 

c. highlight where and when appropriate the region’s specialisms in Autonomous 
Vehicles, Space-led Data Applications, Digital Health and the Technologies 
underpinning Quantum Computing (Big Data) to drive the marketing and 
communications collateral to encourage relocation to Science Vale UK

3. Develop partnership marketing initiatives with site owners/developers and cluster groups (e.g. 
ESA, OBN, Cryogenics cluster) to drive brand awareness, lead generation and prospect 
conversion. 

4. Consistently communicate clear messages that promote the Didcot Growth Accelerator 
Enterprise Zone as the testing, prototyping, production & commercial hub for eco/green 
technologies and applications (prior to trial market deployment into Didcot Garden Town or 
elsewhere).

5. Monitor performance on a regular basis using as much objectively verifiable data as possible.

The detailed actions associated with implementing this strategy are set out in the following Strategic 
Action Plan (see Table 1).

Page 174

http://www.sciencevale.com/


                                                                                          

7 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Table 1: Strategic Action Plan

Strategic 
Activities

Actions Who by Key Performance Indicators

1. Raising 
awareness

BE in Science Vale campaigns
- use the branding across the region to raise 

awareness locally
- promote the benefits of living and working in the 

region to UK and international businesses and their 
staff

- support activity with branded, printed and digital/on-
line posters and leaflets

- use augmented reality video to authenticate the 
region’s innovative business and lifestyle offerings

- use testimonials (written and film) to authenticate 
and humanise campaigns

Marketing officer - track all activity with unique codes
- use results to adapt and build on future 

activity
- create individual web landing pages for 

specific sectorial activity to drive enquiries to 
the main website

Events – off-line
- have a presence at MIPIM via partners stand
- have a presence at all major Didcot Garden Town 

events focused on science and technology
- support partners attending relevant inward 

investment events with branded literature (digital 
and printed) and videos

Science Vale 
team

- produce a place-making “Hero” film of the 
Science Vale area showcasing the lifestyle 
and business benefits with science 
innovations 

- produce digital information collateral for all 
inward investment enquiries

2. Media/
Social media

Website development   
- design and launch a new website
- after launch, maintain and manage data on the site 

to keep it relevant to users
- produce micro- site pages for specific campaign 

work 
- integrate the website/marketing/enquiry /business 

rate application process for greater customer 
service efficiency 

Marketing officer - download principal application forms into the 
county-wide inward investment system for 
action, analysis and storage

- improve accuracy of quarterly government 
reporting

- promote all events and activities on the 
website

- create three individual web pages for sector 
specific and lifestyle promotional activity 

P
age 175



                                                                                          

8 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

- create walled (private) content for inward 
investment and media specialist users

- regular testing of site and review of Google 
Analytics to maximise website traffic

E-marketing  
- launch a branded e-newsletter showcasing place-

making developments, news, successes
- create, maintain and develop e-lists 
- use e-mail direct mail campaigns primarily and 

review their success 
- run welcome to the enterprise zone campaigns to 

new businesses to encourage application for rate 
discount

Marketing officer 
and Enterprise 
Zone officer

- use MailChimp for all e-flyers 
- achieve an opening rate of a minimum 18% 

and click through rate of 2% from email 
newsletters

- integrate email lists with the Oxfordshire 
wide inward investment CRM system

- run promotions at start of each quarter to 
sign up people and businesses to the email 
newsletter service

- increase applications for business rate 
discount

- use metrics to review individual campaigns 
and refine for the future

Twitter, Facebook and LinkedIn
- set up and develop a Science Vale UK Twitter 

account, with emphasis on business achievements 
and the region’s lifestyle 

- set up and develop a Science Vale UK LinkedIn 
account 

- set up and develop a Science Vale UK Facebook 
page

- run marketing campaigns primarily via social 
networking, to keep costs down 

- increase traffic to the Science Vale website through 
widening the reach

Marketing officer 
and 
Communications 
officer

- regular updates of Twitter, LinkedIn and 
Facebook

- promote planned Science Vale UK 
announcements, campaigns, events, news 
stories 

- respond to any social media query or 
comment within 24 hours 

- use analytics to refine postings and develop 
new content

Advertising
- use the BE in Science Vale campaign to promote 

the region to target audiences
- create a series of posters for use on-line and off-line
- use film to authenticate the place-making element of 

Marketing officer - use campaign specific codes to enable 
monitoring 

- adapt and develop activity based on 
response rates

- achieve 10,000 website visitors over a 12 

P
age 176



                                                                                          

9 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

BE campaign advertising
- develop joint advertising initiatives with partners 

through sciencevale.com and other media

month period
- generate up to 50 prospect business 

enquiries by the end of 2018
PR
- feature all PR on the website news pages and 

within the media hub (walled section)
- Provide more in-depth background information for 

the media hub
- support all releases with social media postings and 

links to the website
- work with developer and enterprise zone 

businesses to produce place-making press releases

Marketing officer 
and 
Communications 
officer

- use google analytics and other on-line 
programmes to monitor activity success

- monitor media accounts volumes and activity 
levels

- use the themes from successful campaign 
and advertising to refine future activity

3. Partnership 
marketing

Developers and sector cluster groups
- create a joint marketing promotions plan with 

individual partners
- encourage all partners to use the Science Vale UK 

branding on all of their marketing collateral 
- get all partners to reference Science Vale UK in 

outward facing activity e.g. press releases, 
websites, literature

Enterprise zone 
team

- deliver a joint promotion with a partner
- get each partner to buy into promoting 

Science Vale initiatives through their 
networks

- Science Vale UK branding on partners’ 
marketing collateral

- monitor click through rates from partner sites 
to sciencevale.com

Enterprise zone businesses
- identify all businesses within the zone and gain their 

full contact details
- create a communications plan to help promote 

relevant businesses and their stories

Marketing officer 
and 
Communications 
officer

- welcome letter to all new EZ landings
- e-newsletter containing business news, new 

landings, events, hot topics etc.
- mentions of  Science Vale UK within 

partners’ marketing
Government bodies
- raise awareness of all enterprise zone activity with 

DCLG and DiT
- raise awareness of all enterprise zone activity with 

UK and local Chamber of Commerce 

Marketing officer 
and enterprise 
zone team

- circulate all PR to them in advance of activity 
for their own promotional use

- regular meeting with government bodies
- quarterly update of enquiries and landings 

reports

4. Consistent - promote the Didcot Growth Accelerator Enterprise Marketing officer - websiteP
age 177



                                                                                          

10 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Communication Zone
- reflect the lifestyle and business benefits of the area 

and its ability to change and enrich people’s lives 
and businesses

- this message to be at the heart of all the 
communications - with our audiences, partners and 
government funders 

- reflect it in printed material, the on-line presence 
and all written correspondence

and 
Communications 
officer

- brochures / printed material
- press releases
- posters
- e-flyers
- letters
- emails
- in-house displays
- external projects
- conference/meeting presence
- correspondence with customers, companies, 

funders, schools, universities
5.Monitoring, 
evaluation and 
review

- performance targets set for each campaign, and 
reviewed as the campaign progresses 

- events and exhibition stand visitor numbers and 
prospect enquiry targets to be set 

- develop on-line surveys for website and campaign 
audience feedback 

- marketing planning and review meeting for 
individual campaign projects and ongoing activity 

- “contact us” form on the website for feedback 
- enquiry form on the website to collect more detailed 

needs from interested relocating  businesses

Marketing officer 
and enterprise 
zone team

- performance targets set for each initiative
- review meetings after each major 

promotional initiative with statistical analysis 
of activity

- feedback forms on-line 
- monthly meetings with enterprise zone team 

and corporate communications
- main marketing review annually
- quarterly report on success rates to South & 

Vale cabinets

P
age 178



                                                                                                      

11 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Audience

The marketing and communications plan will inform different groups with distinct messaging 
using the “BE in Science Vale UK” campaign. The first 2 groups are the core targets. 

1. Current businesses already located within the enterprise zone areas
o Developers & site owners for EZ1 and separately EZ2 to encourage them to 

provide us with ongoing business contact information and knowledge
o Current EZ1 and EZ2 tenants in receipt of business rate rebate
o New EZ tenants for EZ1 and EZ2 eligible for BRD
o New EZ tenants who are not eligible for BRD

2. Relocation companies servicing large UK and international businesses looking to 
relocate within the UK

o Accountants, Auditors, Solicitors (top 5 UK and international firms)
o International trade bodies (DIT)
o Chambers of Commerce (British, Thames Valley)
o Overseas Investment advisers. Core target countries are in order:

 USA
 China
 India
 Singapore
 Australasia

o Funding sources (Private Equity, Sovereign Wealth Funds, Pension Funds)
3. Internal stakeholders e.g. communications, planning, economic development, cabinet
4. Oxfordshire County Council organisations e.g. OxLep, Invest in Oxfordshire
5. Science Vale board members e.g. STFC, Diamond Light Source, OxLEP
6. Science Vale workers and residents

Page 179



                                                                                                      

12 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Target audience Tactics Outcomes
Current EZ 
companies

- incentive to encourage non 
EZ qualifying business to 
do quarterly reporting e.g. 
media help

- increase applications to the BRD 
scheme

- Improve accuracy of job and 
investment reporting to government

- opt in agreement to receive 
and participate in the 
newsletter updates

- sharing news from the EZ area (e.g. 
events, networking, training, 
speakers, awards received by 
businesses)

- offer an extension to 
businesses marketing 
departments for relevant 
stories

- generate copy for Science Vale 
communications and promotions

- provide success news 
authentication to government

- advertising campaign on-
line and off-line

- drive visitors to the website and 
social media accounts 

- raise awareness of the importance 
of the area in the UK

- email campaigns - increase knowledge of the Science 
Vale UK region

- encourage information sharing with 
their audiences

Relocation 
specialist

- Hero and testimonial 
stories (printed and film) 
with enterprise zone 
people and businesses

- increase awareness of the zones 
and reasons to be here

- authenticate Science Vale UK 
communications 

- encourage dissemination to their 
audiences

- sign up to the walled 
website database of 
relocation information 

- ease of access to key information to 
get the enterprise zone on the client 
shortlist

- continually adjust information to 
increase relevance

- opportunity to communicate new 
information and drive website visits

- email and social media 
Augmented Reality 
campaign

- raise awareness of the region as an 
innovative region

- drive visitors to the new website and 
social media accounts

- encourage further dissemination to 
their audiences

- advertising campaign on-
line and off-line

- raise awareness of Science Vale 
UK region

- raise awareness of the lifestyle and 
sector specialism found in the 
region

- drive visitors to the new website and 
social media accounts

Internal - position posters/banners in - raise awareness of the Science 

Page 180



                                                                                                      

13 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

stakeholders the council offices
- social media and website 

article and events regularly 
to staff via corporate 
communications 

Vale UK region with all staff
- raise awareness of the sector 

specialism found in the region
- drive visitors to the new website and 

social media accounts

Oxford County 
Council 
organisations

- social media, website 
article 

- events literature
- Hero film and testimonial 

stories
- email campaigns

- highlight success of the enterprise 
zone

- encourage information sharing with 
their audiences

- drive visitors to the new website and 
social media accounts
 

Science Vale UK 
board members

- social media, website 
article and events

- Hero film and testimonial 
stories

- email campaigns

- highlight successes of the 
enterprise zone

- drive visitors to the new website and 
social media accounts

- encourage further dissemination of 
information to their audience

Science Vale UK 
workers and 
residents

- social media, website 
articles and events

- Hero film and testimonial 
stories

- raise awareness of the Science 
Vale UK region

- raise awareness of the job and 
housing opportunities in the region

- drive visitors to the new website and 
social media accounts

- encourage further dissemination of 
information to their audience

Implementation

1. Use the “BE in Science Vale UK” themes to promote the benefits of living and 
working in the region.  Develop further themes following campaign analysis and 
feedback. 

 Be home in time for bedtime
 Be closer to nature
 Be closer to the cutting edge
 Be prepared for Lift Off
 Be well connected

2. Create and distribute relevant and targeted, themed social media content adapted to 
suit different media needs (see budget section below and appendix 2 for costs and 
timings). 

 Up to 20 pieces of themed social media content marketing up to March 2018
 8 pieces through to September 2017
 6 pieces October to December 2017
 6 pieces January to March 2018

Page 181



                                                                                                      

14 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

 branded Science Vale UK newsletters sent to a subscribers database using 
the social media content plus showcase developments, business news, 
events, awards, success stories

 follow on social media the organisations and influencers in each sector

3. Support activity with the following marketing collateral (see budget section below and 
appendix 2 for timings):

 a promotional Augmented Reality (AR) film of the region connecting the 
science parks to Didcot and the surrounding countryside, housing areas and 
communities

 branded Google glasses to view the AR film to support event and promotional 
campaigns

 one Hero film (2 – 3 minutes long) showcasing the natural landscape, 
housing, science, innovation and people in Science Vale

 a series of filmed testimonial stories (and edited into shorter variations) from 
Science Vale to authenticate what it’s like living and working in Science Vale 
UK

 3 themed responsive micro-sites that connect with our target audiences and 
encourage click through to the main website to drive relocation enquiries

 printed and digital posters using the Be in Science Vale campaign artwork
 branded “Be in Science Vale UK” digital brochure highlighting the lifestyle and 

business reasons to relocate. The digital brochures will contain embedded 
rich media content within it

 display posters and banners to use at small events, exhibitions, talks and 
within the council offices (reception, meeting rooms etc.)

 digital and document templates to ensure branding consistency (e.g. email 
signatures, desktop wallpaper, letterheads, PowerPoint presentation) 

 branded, responsive MailChimp email template optimised for mobile viewing

4. Support activity with the following advertising from July 2017 to March 2018 (see 
appendix 2 for costs and timings):

 Up to 10 social media advertising campaigns using Twitter, Facebook and 
LinkedIn to specific targeted groups (e.g. CEO’s, of life, physical and social 
science business, living in or recently visiting an area within 80km of Didcot, 
aged 35 to 65)

 use relevant adverts and the themed social media content for each specific 
audience identified

 travel points digital advertising in the London region in and around MIPIM in 
October (underground escalators, mainline termini)

 On-board train advertising in and around MIPIM in October
 train station printed and digital advertising at key “home” commuter stations at 

select South East stations e.g. Reading, Swindon, Bristol Parkway and 
Temple Meads

 rich on-line digital magazine advertising in New Scientist potentially using 
some of the filmed content

Page 182



                                                                                                      

15 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

5. All enquiries generated through the marketing activity will be passed onto the 
Enterprise Zone Manager and private development companies to action.

Budget

Marketing collateral and media 
production costs

   

Activity Type Summer 
activity costs

Autumn/Winter 
costs

Total 
costs

Grow Science Vale marketing database £1,334 £2,666 £4,000
Newsletter content creation - Summer x 8 £7,840 £0 £7,840
Newsletter content creation - Autumn x 6 £0 £5,880 £5,880
Newsletter content creation - Winter x 6 £0 £5,880 £5,880
Email newsletter creation x 10 £1,920 £2,880 £4,800
Email newsletter broadcast £152 £303 £455
Social media advertising - create / manage / 
report x 10

£1,440 £3,360 £4,800

Campaign set up x 3 social media platforms £180 £0 £180
Media, presentation and promotional 
material

£1,800 £1,800 £3,600

Digital brochure £4,800 £0 £4,800
Be In Science Vale UK Hero film £12,000 £0 £12,000
Stories from Science Vale UK £4,000 £8,000 £12,000
Themed micro websites x 3 £4,800 £9,600 £14,400
Virtual Reality photography / film - FREE £0 £0 £0
Marketing support / campaign development 
(15 days)

£2,400 £4,800 £7,200

Production costs £42,666 £45,169 £87,835

The proposed media campaign is designed to maximise value for money, minimise different 
types of collateral and focus on digital media. This limits the channels that can be used as 
not all locations have digital display capabilities. This also means we had to rule out 
expensive channels such as Heathrow and Gatwick Airport at this stage. 

Media Placement and external costs    
Placement Type Summer 

activity costs
Autumn/Winter 

costs
Total 
costs

Social media advertising budget £2,667 £5,333 £8,000
Media, presentation and promotional 
material print production

£596 £597 £1,193

High profile presenter fees for Be in 
Science Vale UK Hero film, e.g. Kevin 
McCloud

£0 £10,000 £10,000

Train stations advertising - (Home stations) 
/ 48 - sheet billboards x 5 (2 weeks) - Bristol 
Temple Meads, Bristol Parkway, Swindon, 
Reading and Oxford*

£0 £7,500 £7,500

Page 183



                                                                                                      

16 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Home station smaller panel displays 
advertising*

£0 £4,500 £4,500

Train stations advertising in London 
Paddington and Euston - billboards x 2 (2 
weeks) *

£0 £5,000 £5,000

Digital Escalator Panel advertising (London 
Euston train station) *

£0 £10,000 £10,000

Digital Escalator Panel advertising (King’s 
Cross train station) *

£0 £10,000 £10,000

Underground 6 seat panel advertising - 4 
Locations - one direction (Victoria, 
Paddington, Euston, King’s Cross) *

£0 £6,000 £6,000

Digital magazine advertising-  New Scientist 
- 100k impressions*

£0 £6,900 £6,900

On board train advertising (4 weeks) to 
coincide with October London MIPIM*

£0 £8,000 £8,000

Promotions, giveaways (Google AR 
glasses), ambient staff at London train 
stations around MIPIM

£0. £8,000 £8,000

Ad hoc media opportunities (e.g. Insight 
Digital magazine)*

£0.00 £10,000.00 £10,000.00

Media placement costs £3,263 £91,830 £95,093

* Please note advertising costs are list price (un-negotiated). Thus assuming a minimum of 10% 
discount following a tender for the advertising placement, costs would fall to £61,110 from £67,900 
enabling additional space or time to be booked as appropriate.

Timings

Please refer to appendix 2 for proposed activity time frames 

Evaluation

Use metrics at the end of each campaign cycle to analyse success of the promotional 
activity and use to amend future plans.

 Twitter engagement metrics
 LinkedIn metrics
 Facebook metrics
 Website metrics

Ensure all activity is measurable to enable success to be benchmarked.

Use the summer activity to establish a base figure for the activity to enable meaningful 
targets to be set for campaign activity from October 2017 going forward.

Use the results where appropriate to enhance communications.

Page 184



                                                                                                      

17 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Appendix 1 – Past traffic on previous website

The first chart below shows the annualised visitor and session numbers from the launch of 
the previous website. No monthly figures were collected for the site until 2015.

The second chart shows the user numbers over the past 2 years by month. Page views 
decreased in 2016 due to the old website being taken down and all visitors landing on a 
single page hosted on the council website.

Chart 1

2010* 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

Users Page views

Annual www.sciencevale.com number of users and page views 
2010 to 2016

Axis Title

An
nu

al
 u

se
r n

um
be

rs

* The previous website was launched in April 2010

Page 185



                                                                                                      

18 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Chart 2

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2015 2016

Unique visitors to sciencevale.com 2015 and 2016

M
on

th
ly

 v
is

ito
r n

um
be

rs

Table 1

The number of Science Vale Oxford Enterprise Zone companies successfully claiming 
business rate relief by financial year.

Year (AR approved date)
Actual Investors 
claiming rebate

2012-13 12
2013-14   31*
2014-15 14
2015-16 10
2016-17 10

* Assumption: the website user and page view uplift shown in Chart 1 in 2011 helped to 
achieve an uplift in relocations during 2013/14. Business relocations can take 2 to 3 years to 
come to fruition.

Page 186



                                                                                                      

19 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Appendix 2 - Planned activity schedule

Overview of the marketing campaign plans. Summer is focused on production of the collateral (leaflets, posters, film etc.) and some 
testing of adverts prior to the autumn campaign work.

Summer 2017 – Marketing Collateral and Content Production Schedule

Activity Type 05/06/17 12/06/17 19/06/17 26/06/17 03/07/17 10/07/17 17/07/17 24/07/17 31/07/17 07/08/17 14/08/17 21/08/17 28/08/17 04/09/17 11/09/17 18/09/17 25/09/17
Create Themed Content

Media, presentation and promotional 
material (production of it)
Digital / printed brochure (production of it)

Be In Science Vale Hero film

Google VR photography / film

Stories from Science Vale film studio

Themed micro websites x 3

Work schedule

Summer 2017 – Marketing Activity Schedule

Activity Type 05/06/17 12/06/17 19/06/17 26/06/17 03/07/17 10/07/17 17/07/17 24/07/17 31/07/17 07/08/17 14/08/17 21/08/17 28/08/17 04/09/17 11/09/17 18/09/17 25/09/17
Create Email Newsletter 

Broadcast Email Newsletter

Stories from Science Vale film

Themed micro websites

Be In Science Vale Hero film

Events

Social media Advertising

Work schedule
June July August September

P
age 187



                                                                                                      

20 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Autumn 2017 - Marketing Collateral and Content Production Schedule

Activity Type 02/10/17 09/10/17 16/10/17 23/10/17 30/10/17 06/11/17 13/11/17 20/11/17 27/11/17 04/12/17 11/12/17 18/12/17 25/12/17
Create Themed Content

Media, presentation and promotional 
material (production of it)
Digital / printed brochure (production of it)

Be In Science Vale Hero film

Google VR photography / film

Stories from Science Vale film studio

Themed micro websites x 3

Work schedule
October November December

Autumn 2017 - Marketing Activity Schedule

P
age 188



                                                                                                      

21 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Activity Type 02/10/17 09/10/17 16/10/17 23/10/17 30/10/17 06/11/17 13/11/17 20/11/17 27/11/17 04/12/17 11/12/17 18/12/17 25/12/17
Create Email Newsletter 

Broadcast Email Newsletter

Stories from Science Vale film

Themed micro websites

Be In Science Vale Hero film

Events

Social media Advertising

Train stations - (Home stations) / 48 - 
sheet billboards x 5 (2 weeks) - Bristol 
Temple Meads, Bristol Parkway, Swindon, 
Reading and Oxford
Home station smaller panel displays

Train stations in London Paddington and 
Euston / billboards x 2 (2 weeks)
Digital Escalator Panels (London Euston 
train station)
Digital Escalator Panels (King’s Cross 
train station)
Underground 6 seat panels - 4 Locations/ 
one direction (Victoria, Paddington, 
Euston, King’s Cross)Digital -  New Scientist - 100k 
impressions
On board Train advertising (4 weeks) to 
coincide with London MIPIM
Media opportunities (ie. Insight Digital 
magazine) - ad hoc
Promotions, giveaways, ambient staff at 
London train stations

Work schedule
October November December

P
age 189



                                                                                                      

22 | P a g e

Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone. 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon. OX14 4SB      

Winter 2017/18 – Marketing Collateral and Content Production Schedule

Activity Type 01/01/18 08/01/18 15/01/18 22/01/18 29/01/18 05/02/18 12/02/18 19/02/18 26/02/18 05/03/18 12/03/18 19/03/18 26/03/18 02/04/2018

Create Themed Content

Media, presentation and promotional 
material (production of it)
Digital / printed brochure (production of it)

Be In Science Vale Hero film

Google VR photography / film

Stories from Science Vale film studio

Themed micro websites x 3

Workschedule

Winter 2017/18 - Marketing Activity Schedule

Activity Type 01/01/18 08/01/18 15/01/18 22/01/18 29/01/18 05/02/18 12/02/18 19/02/18 26/02/18 05/03/18 12/03/18 19/03/18 26/03/18 02/04/2018

Create Email Newsletter 

Broadcast Email Newsletter

Stories from Science Vale film

Themed micro websites

Be In Science Vale Hero film

Events

Social media Advertising

Mar-18
Workschedule

Jan-18 Feb-18

P
age 190



Document is Restricted

Page 191

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes 6 April 2017

	6 Waste collection policy
	Appendix - policy

	7 Flexible homelessness support grant
	8 Sewage treatment works in Moulsford
	Appendix one - existing works - indicative location plan
	Appendix two and three - new works location and design plans

	9 Article 4 direction, East Hagbourne
	10 Statement of community involvement
	Appendix 1 - Statement of Community Involvement
	Appendix 2 - Equality and human rights impact check
	Appendix 3 - Consultation report
	Appendix 4 - Statement of Community Involvemnet tracked changes version from consultation draft

	11 Science Vale and Enterprise Zone marketing plan
	Marketing plan

	13 Engineering services



